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2 Welcome 

About us 
 
Hinckley and Rugby Building Society has been 

serving its members for over 150 years. The 

Society has an extensive range of competitive 

mortgage and savings products, and remains 

committed to providing the highest standards 

of customer service. 
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2023 was another year of rising 
interest rates and during our financial 
year, we saw the Bank of England base 
rate rise from 3% to 5.25%.  This is the 
first time that the base rate had risen 
to this level since February 2008. We 
have worked hard to ensure that we 
continue to support both our 
borrowers, who are being impacted 
with higher monthly repayments, and 
savers, who seek good returns on their 
savings, particularly in times of high 
inflation. This balance of being fair to 
borrowers, whilst enhancing saving 
rates whenever we can, has remained 
our key objective. We are supportive 
of the FCA’s Cash Savings Review, 
which was published in July 2023. 
 

This theme of putting the needs of our 
members first was further emphasised by 
the introduction of the Consumer Duty by 
the FCA. Your Board saw this as an 
opportunity to re-iterate the customer 
focus of your Society and ensure that good 
outcomes for our members are always 
sought. 
 

Linked to our member focus, we decided to 
review the Society’s purpose, ambition and 
values during the year.  At your Society, 
these are not words spoken once a year or 
left to gather dust in a drawer, they are 
embedded in everything the Society does 
and underpin our goals. Each member of 
staff’s annual objectives include measures 
linked to our values. 
 

Against the challenging economic 
environment and new regulation, I am 
pleased to report that your Society had a 
strong financial year. Profits increased and 
exceeded our original budget, so we were 
able to continue to strengthen our staff 
base and continue our investment in 
services for our members. During the year 
we launched a new website with increased 
functionality which helped us to 
communicate more clearly to our members.  
We also launched a workplace savings 
initiative, encouraging employers and 
employees to get into the habit of making 
regular savings.  In difficult times putting a 
little aside each month is important. 
 

Our biggest investment for the future 
continues to be our digital programme.  In 
September 2023, we moved our core 
operating system into a fully managed 
service in the cloud. This change was 
delivered on time and within budget and 
provided your Board with confidence in the 
Society’s ability to manage this level of 
change. This positions your Society well to 
implement new online mortgage and 
savings enhancements in 2024 and to 
introduce a mobile app for the first time. 
 

The year´s financial performance also 
helped to maintain your Society’s capital 
base, which supports sustainable ongoing 
growth in the years ahead. We also took the 
opportunity to replace some of our funding 
from the Bank of England with members 
savings, which reinforces our membership 
funded model. 
 

Support for our local communities 
continued to be a key priority and, through 
our Charitable Foundation, we welcomed 
six local charitable organisations to our 
2023 AGM, and not only supported them 
financially but celebrated the great work 
that they do. We take great pride in the 
work we do to support our communities 
and we will continue to share our 
knowledge, skills and resources throughout 
Leicestershire and Warwickshire. 
 

I was very saddened to learn of the recent 
sudden death of Geneane Bell who retired 
as a director of the Society in 2023. 
Geneane served the members of the 
Hinckley and Rugby for nine years with 
dedication and expertise. She was very 
popular with all at the Society and will be 
sadly missed. We send our sincerest 
condolences to Geneane’s family and 
friends. David Woodward retired during the 
year and I would like to thank him for his 
important contribution to the Board and his 
excellent leadership of our Audit and 
Compliance Committee. Gary Wilkinson will 
also step down at the AGM in 2024. Gary 
has brought his invaluable experience to the 
Board and, in particular, his excellent 
stewardship of the Risk Committee during 
his term.  
 

Retirements are part of our governance and 
succession planning, so we welcomed four 
new faces to our Board. John Lowe replaced 
David as Chair of Audit & Compliance 

Committee at the start of the year and was 
joined by Lynda Blackwell at our 2023 AGM. 
Lynda has taken the role of Consumer Duty 
champion on the Board and is supporting 
management with future plans. We 
recruited Gary’s replacement at the start of 
December 2023 and Tony Alexander will 
take over as our Chair of Risk Committee in 
March 2024. In addition, and thinking 
ahead, we recruited Manuela Pifani as our 
final Non-Executive Director, and she will 
join our Board in March 2024 with a very 
impressive customer focused pedigree. 
 

Colin Fyfe also stepped down from his role 
on 2 January 2024. Colin took over as Chief 
Executive in November 2018 and has guided 
the Society through a challenging but 
successful five years. He has played a very 
important role at a key period of the 
Society’s development and I wish Colin well 
for the next stage of his career. I was 
delighted that we were able to find a worthy 
successor from within the Society.  Barry 
Carter joined the Society in July 2022 from 
HSBC and has worked closely with Colin 
from day one. In the Autumn of 2023, we 
undertook a full market search for Colin’s 
replacement, and I am pleased to say that 
our internal candidate had the skills we 
were looking for to take the Society to the 
next level. I wish Barry every success 
following his appointment as Chief 
Executive, which is subject to regulatory 
approval. 
 

Another change will be upon us at the 2024 
AGM when I will retire as your Chair.  It has 
been an honour and a privilege to lead your 
Society and I will look back on my nine years 
as Chair very fondly. Again, we are lucky to 
have excellent talent on our Board and the 
Society will be in good hands when Nemone 
Wynn-Evans takes over as Chair in March 
2024. Nemone has been on our Board since 
2017 and knows the business well. 
 

Finally, I would like to extend my sincere 
thanks to all staff and fellow directors, not 
only for their support, but also for their hard 
work and commitment on behalf of the 
Society’s members. 
 
 

Colin Franklin 
Chair  
9 February 2024

       Chair’s statement 

“Our biggest investment for the future continues to be our 
digital programme. This positions your Society well to 
implement new online mortgage and savings enhancements 
in 2024 and to introduce a mobile app for the first time.” 
 
Colin Franklin 
Chair 
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Balanced performance 
The headlines in Financial Services 
organisations reports are 
frequently about their financial 
performance. However, at your 
Society our measures are always 
about a balanced performance, 
using what we call our Balanced 
Scorecard. This Scorecard is tailored 
for every member of staff and 
allows us to focus on “what counts” 
and not simply “what is counted”. 
 
This year we have a lot of highlights to 
report, and I will deliberately start with our 
most important asset – our people. 
 

Best Companies 
At the start of 2023 we decided to test 
ourselves, and specifically our staff 
engagement with your Society, by 
measuring ourselves against the Best 
Companies framework. This involves all 
staff providing feedback on all aspects of 
life at the Society that affect their 
engagement. We had two sets of staff 
feedback during the year, and worked 
through the ideas, challenges and 
concerns raised. I was very proud when 
Best Companies awarded us a rating that 
reflected a very good level of staff 
engagement. This will continue to be an 
area that Society will focus on, enhancing 
this engagement as a key strategy to 
support our future growth. 
 

A values-led organisation 

Your Society and other mutual 
organisations hold a unique position in the 
Financial Services sector. With no 
shareholders, and no market analysts 
pressing for profits and dividends to be 
maximised, we are able to follow our 
values in everything we do. In 2023 we 
decided it was time to revisit these 
important principles, and working from the 
Board through to our staff base, we 
restated our values by using the definitions 
of five ‘E’s. We believe that the following 
words, and the context in which we use 

them, will help to guide your Society 
though the years ahead: 

• Excellence 

• Expertise 

• Ethical 

• Engage 

• Efficiency 
 
Linked to this, we reviewed the Society’s 
purpose to ensure if it was fitting for our 
current stage and future direction.  To 
ensure we emphasised the importance of 
supporting our local communities and 
focused on a better financial future, we 
restated our purpose as follows: 

 
We are here to support our members and 
communities to create a better financial 
future for themselves. 
 
Working with our staff, we will ensure that 
our values and purpose are brought to life 
throughout the Society. 
 

Community focus 
The staff at the Society embraced their 
support for our local communities with 
their usual strong enthusiasm.  We focused 
our support through our Community 
Foundation and also through our hospices 
savings account, which continues to 
provide healthy income for three local 
hospices.  Our Community Foundation 
concentrated on supporting local causes 
which are focused on mental health and 
wellbeing, poverty and disadvantage, and 
the environment.  We also supported two 
other worthy causes.  The Friends of St 
Cross Hospital, based in Rugby, do a 
fantastic job to raise funds and support for 
an important part of the local community.  
We were delighted to contribute a 
donation which will help purchase an 
ultrasound machine at the hospital. In line 
with our environmental responsibilities, 
we again sponsored the planting of almost 
29,000 trees with Hinckley & Bosworth 
Borough Council.  This scheme was a great 
success and was well received by 
residents, local businesses, community 
groups and councillors. 

 
 

Awards 

We were determined to honour our 
member of staff, Evan Crosskey, who 
tragically died on the 26 December 2022. 
He was much loved in the Society, but also 
by the other organisations he touched.   
 
The Building Society Association was keen 
to remember Evan through the launch of 
the Evan Crosskey Award for Academic 
Achievement.  This award was created for 
master’s degree students who are part of 
the Building Society Association 
programme at Loughborough University. 
Our local partner, Leicestershire Cares, 
also launched the Evan Crosskey Education 
Volunteer of the Year Award to recognise 
the work Evan did with local schools and 
colleges. 
 
Your Society was keen to provide a fitting 
memory using Evan’s story and something 
that he was very passionate about.  We 
therefore announced in December the 
Evan Crosskey scholarship which will help 
individuals to join the Society and through 
an apprenticeship be able to develop their 
career in the way Evan did. 
 
An award that Evan may have lifted himself 
was the Best Self Build Mortgage Lender at 
the Build It Awards, and I am delighted to 
say that your Society received this 
recognition towards the end of the year. 

 

The climate challenge 
As a responsible mortgage lender, we have 
a role to play in helping borrowers make 
their properties as energy efficient as they 
possibly can be. This typically sees us 
looking at the energy performance ratings 
of mortgaged properties and informing 
homeowners and landlords of possible 
improvement actions. During 2023 we 
took this one step further and worked with 
a business whose speciality is to support 
the homeowner and landlord through the 
whole retrofit process. Together we 
created the “with you all the way” 
proposition which will help potential 
retrofitters to understand what needs to 
be done, in what order, who they can trust 
to carry out the work, and to verify that the 

“We have been very aware that the economic and financial 
climate has been challenging for everyone in 2023.  We have 
worked hard with our members and looked to identify those 
who have been most impacted.  We stand ready to support 
our members through any challenges in 2024.” 
 
Barry Carter 
Chief Executive (subject to regulatory approval) 

     Chief Executive’s report 
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work has delivered the anticipated results. 
I was delighted when a gentleman from 
our members panel agreed to be one of 
our test cases, which demonstrates our 
ability to liaise with our member base.  We 
will market this proposition through 2024, 
both to existing borrowers and potential 
new members. The climate challenge is not 
going away, and we are keen to play our 
part. 
 

Efficiency focus 
Perhaps the Society value that is easiest to 
say but hardest to deliver is Efficiency.  We 
are a multi-channel business in a heavily 
regulated sector and therefore, in what 
appears to be a straightforward business 
model, there are a number of complexities. 
 
One of the UK’s processes in most need of 
an efficiency review is the end-to-end 
home buying journey.  I am very aware of 
the frustrations of buyers and sellers, 
particularly when their buying chain is 
delayed or collapses. Our completion of 
the first UK digital remortgage transaction 
in 2022 was a start, and we hope to be 
involved in the first digital sale and 
purchase transaction in 2024. I was 
particularly pleased that, through 2023, we 
were able to reduce the number of days to 
offer a mortgage, following a review of our 
lending processes. We still have quite a 
way to go, but we are focused and talking 
to both our mortgage system provider and 
industry professionals on how we can 
improve further. 
 
The best observations on how we can 
improve our processes usually come from 
our staff who seek the best outcomes for 
our members.  As 2023 came to an end, we 
launched our IDEAS (Improve, Develop, 
Enhance and Share) suggestion scheme 
with our staff and this will drive our 
efficiency focus in 2024. 
 
An opportunity to improve our internal 
processes is also very welcome, and in 
2023 our Human Resources team 
introduced a new payroll system in 
addition to a new information platform for 
our staff. 

 
Transforming the business 
2023 was a big year for the Society with 
multiple changes being managed across 
different areas of the business.  We had 
built our Transformation team for the start 
of the year, but we had still to prove that 
this investment would be successful.  
Twelve months on, and I can say without 
hesitation that the team has added a lot of 
value to the Society and improved our 
approach and methods of delivering 

change. My feelings were replicated by the 
staff who voted the Transformation team 
as Team of the Year at the staff conference 
in December 2023.  In all, eight major 
projects were worked on successfully 
during the year. 
 
The biggest investment in our 
transformation workload is our digital 
programme. 2023 was the start of our 
delivery, and in September we successfully 
moved our core operating system into a 
managed service in the cloud.  Close 
collaboration across the Society meant 
that it was a very successful 
implementation and our Information 
Security team ensured there was no 
impact on our staff or customers.  We have 
now moved on to the planning of the next 
stages and this is where we will see 
benefits for our members come to life with 
new online mortgage and savings 
enhancements and the Society’s first 
mobile app. Whilst we are not the first 
organisation to launch an app, it is a clear 
statement of our intention to complement 
face to face services through our branches 
with digital services. 
 

Consumer Duty 
Consumer Duty was one of our eight 
projects which started last year and has 
become an embedded part of the way we 
operate as a Society. A strong customer 
focus is something we pride ourselves on 
and we have looked on the FCA’s 
Consumer Duty regulation in order to 
strengthen further. No practice or process 
within the Society will be ignored and our 
focus on good customer outcomes will see 
additional testing and feedback loops to 
ensure we take the improvement 
opportunity. 

 
Headwinds and challenges 
We have been very aware that the 
economic and financial climate has been 
challenging for everyone in 2023. The 
combination of increasing inflation, where 
we saw significant increases in the prices of 
essentials such as food and energy, along 
with the steady rise of the Bank of England 
Base rate, meant that mortgage and day to 
day living affordability was under pressure.  
 
We remain cautious in our outlook for the 
year ahead with these economic 
headwinds likely to impact our members in 
some way. As you may be aware, we have 
worked hard with our members and 
considered those who have been, or may 
be, impacted during these times. To 
support our members, we were an early 
supporter of the Mortgage Charter, which 
was launched over the summer by the 

Government as a means of assisting 
mortgage borrowers.  
 
Throughout this economic backdrop, we 
have closely monitored the credit quality 
of our mortgage book. Due to your 
Society’s prudent approach to lending, I 
am pleased to say that our mortgage 
arrears stand at a low level, with 1.12% of 
the book one month of more in arrears. 
This is an area we will monitor closely 
throughout 2024. 
 
Demand for our Self Build, Joint Borrower 
Sole Proprietor and Flex products have 
proved popular during 2023 and we 
believe they will continue to do so over 
2024. However, uncertainty around the 
housing market will persist and we will 
need to navigate this uncertainty with 
caution and capability. The savings market 
is also predicted to be very competitive as 
savers look to lock in rates for longer whilst 
also looking to maintain sufficient liquidity.  
 
To assist with this, we aim to make further 
improvements to our risk management 
and controls, including enhanced 
monitoring of external market conditions. 
We will also continue to improve the 
quality of our people and technology, 
increasing our capabilities throughout 
2024, and beyond. Additionally, we will 
make adjustments to our product and 
criteria offering, as the market demands, 
ensuring your Society balances risk and 
reward opportunities appropriately. 

 
The financial bottom line 
Whilst 2023 was fast paced, I am delighted 
that the Society produced one of its 
strongest performances for many years.  
Profit before tax saw a year-on-year 
increase of 23% and allowed us to maintain 
our total capital ratio at 16.0%, despite 
asset growth.  The key underlying strength 
was the increase in our net interest margin 
from 1.45% to 1.65% after careful 
management during 2023 and prior years. 
 
We set ourselves a solid growth challenge 
and the Society’s staff delivered. This 
resulted in mortgage growth of 4.8%, retail 
savings growth of 6.5%, and we grew our 
number of savings accounts by 3.6%.  
 
We highly value our loyal savings members 
and continue to develop new attractive 
products to meet a wider range of needs, 
including additions to our notice and fixed 
rate savings ranges. We expect this 
innovation to continue in 2024. 
 
Overall, it has been a very pleasing year 
with a balanced focus and strong results.

 

 

     Chief Executive’s report continued  
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The Executive Team 
2023 proved to be a stable year for the 
Executive team. We only had one 
departure when Maggie Long, our 
Company Secretary, secured another 
opportunity to continue growing her 
career. We wished Maggie well in her next 
role and welcomed Grace Tavener as our 
new Company Secretary. 
 
In 2024, two of our Executives who have 
led the customer facing sides of our 
business have decided to step down.  
Andrea Belle and Carolyn Thornley-Yates 
have been fantastic members of my team 
and will be missed by staff, customers and 
mortgage intermediaries.  I am grateful for 
their support and wish them well with their 
next roles. 
 

With thanks 
In January 2024, we said goodbye to Colin 
Fyfe as Chief Executive, following my 
announcement as his replacement in late 
2023. Colin leaves the Society after five 
transformative years and will be sorely 
missed by the staff, the Board and our local 
communities. 
 
As you will be aware, I joined in July 2022 
from HSBC, and have had the pleasure of 
being the Society’s Chief Operating Officer 
since that date. From day one Colin and I 
worked closely together on strategy, 
structure and the future direction of the 
Society. This has enabled your Board to 
plan a smooth transition and to ensure the 
impact of the change is minimised. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Barry Carter 
Chief Executive  
(subject to regulatory approval) 
9 February 2024



 

Hinckley & Rugby Building Society Annual Report and Accounts 2023 

8 Strategic Report 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
This section of the annual report 
reviews the current financial 
position and performance of the 
Society, and details the key 
financial indicators monitored by 
the Board. 
 
Details of the progress made by 
the Society in the implementation 
of the Board’s strategy are set out 
in the Chief Executive’s report on 
pages 5 to 7. 

 
Summary financial position 
The Society maintained a strong overall 
financial performance during 2023, 
despite the continuing cost-of-living crisis 
and rising interest rates impacting 
financial markets and our members, 
which have kept UK economic growth at 
minimal levels. To control inflation, the 
Bank of England continued to increase its 
bank base rate from 3.00% at the 
beginning of the financial year to 5.25% in 
August 2023, where it remained at the 
year-end. In response to the rising 
interest rates, the Society’s management 
carefully considered and managed the 
interests of borrowing and saving 
members, with a balance of mortgage 
growth, savings growth and profit growth 
achieved in the year.  
 

 
Profit before tax was ahead of the Board’s 
plan set at the beginning of the financial 
year, and higher than the prior year, at 
£1.62m (2022: £1.32m), with 
improvements in net interest receivable 
more than offsetting increased 
operational costs. This resulted in an 
improvement in the cost / income ratio 
which reduced to 86.3% (2022: 90.3%). 
Prudent levels of liquidity and capital 
were maintained throughout the year. 
The positive financial performance 
allowed the Society to continue to invest 
in new technology and staff resources 
during the year, and this is planned to 
continue during 2024 and future years to 
enhance products and services to the 
benefit of members. 

 
The Society achieved mortgage lending 
growth during the year by pursuing its 
niche lending strategy, including the 
launch of a new ‘income flex’ mortgage 
range available to those with complex or 
irregular incomes, and continued lending 
to self-build borrowers. These new 
lending initiatives were carefully 
balanced with the management of 
mortgage pricing in the rising interest 
rate environment, and a continued focus 
on retention of existing borrowers at the 
end of their initial product term. Loans 
and advances to customers, including the 

 
impact of impairment provisions and 
other accounting adjustments, increased 
to £679m (2022: £648m), representing 
growth of 4.8%. 
 

Savings grew during the year to £718m 

(2022: £674m), and this was used to fund 

the mortgage growth and to repay 

funding received from the Bank of 

England. The growth in savings was 

achieved through a focus on longer-term 

notice and fixed rate savings products. 

 
Impairment provisions held against loans 

and advances to customers increased 

during the year as the cost-of-living crisis 

and increasing interest rates impacted 

the ability of some borrowers to pay their 

mortgages. Such cases are expected to 

increase in the coming months, as 

borrowers with maturing fixed rate 

mortgages see their mortgage payments 

increase as they move to new products 

that reflect higher interest rates. The 

number of individual mortgage cases in 

arrears or in receipt of forbearance 

increased during the year but remain at 

relatively low levels at the year-end. 

Key financial measures for the year are shown below. 

      Chief Financial Officer’s report 

“The positive financial performance allowed the Society to continue 
to invest in new technology and staff resources during the year, and 
this is planned to continue during 2024 and future years to enhance 
products and services to the benefit of members.” 
 
 

John Mulvey 
Chief Financial Officer   

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

Profit before tax (£m) 1.62 1.32 1.44 0.56 0.60

Loans and advances to customers (£m) 679.4 648.2 619.0 657.9 696.0

Retail savings (£m) 717.8 674.2 693.0 690.2 677.3

Liquid assets (£m) 126.1 143.3 172.3 145.2 129.7

Wholesale funding (£m) 46.7 78.6 60.0 74.0 111.7

Gross capital (£m) 46.5 46.2 47.3 45.4 43.2

Total assets (£m) 823.4 812.4 803.6 814.0 834.6

Net interest margin as a percentage of mean total assets 1.65% 1.45% 1.34% 1.13% 1.11%

Management expenses as a percentage of mean total assets 1.43% 1.34% 1.22% 1.06% 1.05%

Cost / income ratio 86.3% 90.3% 88.4% 93.3% 93.0%

Liquid assets as a percentage of shares and borrowings 16.5% 19.0% 22.9% 19.0% 16.4%

Gross capital as a percentage of shares and borrowings 6.1% 6.1% 6.3% 5.9% 5.5%

Total capital ratio 16.0% 16.3% 17.3% 15.9% 14.2%

Balances in arrears as a percentage of gross loans and advances 1.12% 0.55% 0.71% 0.88% 0.38%
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Profit before tax  
As a mutually owned business, the Society 
is not aiming to maximise profit for 
shareholder gain, but it does need to make 
sufficient profit to support the capital it 
maintains for the protection of 
shareholding members and other 
depositors, to support asset growth and 
invest for the future.  Profit before tax in 
2023 increased by £0.30m to £1.62m. The 
key components in the improved profit 
performance were: 
 

• Net interest receivable increasing by 
£1.78m to £13.49m (2022: £11.71m), 
with the net interest margin earned 
reaching 1.65% (2022: 1.45%) and 
growth in loans and advances to 
customers of 4.8%. The growth in 
margin was largely due to higher 
returns earned on liquid assets, as 
interest rates increased during the 
year, and growth in higher margin 
mortgage products. These factors, 
which lead to higher interest 
receivable were partly offset by the 
increased rates we paid to savers, 
demonstrating the action taken to 
balance profitability against value 
given to members. 

 

The improvement in net interest 
receivable was partly offset by: 
 

• Administrative expenses, including 
depreciation and amortisation, 
increasing by £0.84m to £11.68m 
(2022: £10.84m) due to increased 
staff costs, part of which represents 
the full year impact of staff recruited 
part way through the prior year, and 
IT expenditure, reflecting the costs of 
improving customer services and new 
regulation, such as operational 
resilience requirements and 
implementing Consumer Duty. 

• An impairment charge recognised on 

loans and advances to customers of 

£0.22m during the year (2022: 

£0.15m credit). This impairment 

charge reflects an increase in the 

number and severity of arrears and 

forbearance cases during the year, 

and an expectation of further cases in 

the coming months due to the 

continued impact of high costs of 

living and elevated interest rates paid 

by the Society’s borrowers. 

• Net losses on derivative financial 

instruments held for hedging 

purposes of £0.14m recognised in the 

year (2022: £0.01m gain). In common 

with many financial institutions, the 

Society uses derivatives (in the form 

of interest rate swaps) to hedge the 

risk of interest rate movements 

impacting adversely the net interest 

receivable earned on its portfolios of 

fixed rate mortgage and savings 

products. Movements in the fair value 

of these derivatives result in a charge 

or credit to income and largely 

represent timing differences 

recognised over the duration of each 

derivative contract. 

• A loss on the revaluation of 

investment properties of £0.01m. In 

the prior year, a gain on disposal of an 

investment property of £0.06m was 

recognised, with a third-party tenant 

exercising an option within the lease 

to purchase the property at the 

prevailing market value. 

 

Net interest margin 
The difference between interest rates 
earned from mortgages and liquid assets, 
compared with those paid on savings and 
wholesale funding, is referred to as the net 
interest margin (NIM) and is a key measure 
of the underlying performance of the 
Society. It is expressed as a percentage of 
the Society’s average total assets. 
 
Factors affecting the Society’s NIM include 
the level of competition within the 
mortgage and savings markets, the returns 
achievable on liquid assets, the costs of 
wholesale funding, and the level of SONIA, 
a variable rate that governs the interest 
received and paid on the Society’s interest 

rate swaps that are used to hedge fixed 
rate mortgages and savings. A higher level 
of SONIA increases the overall level of 
interest earned since the Society has a 
higher notional value of interest rate 
swaps hedging fixed rate mortgages than 
those hedging fixed rate savings. 
 
The Bank of England raised its bank base 
rate from 3.00% at 30 November 2022 to 
5.25% in August 2023. As a result of these 
rate increases, the Society earned higher 
returns on its liquid assets, a significant 
proportion of which were, and continue to 
be, invested at the Bank of England earning 
base rate. These higher returns were 
partially offset by an increase in wholesale 
funding interest costs and an increase in 
interest paid to savers that exceeded the 
increase in interest received from 
borrowers. As interest rates rose, 
management carefully considered the 
interests of borrowing members, savings 
members, and the Society’s capacity to 
invest for the future, with the result that 
the benefit of the rises in base rate were 
not always passed on in full to all savers. 
 
Overall, the Society’s net interest margin 
increased to 1.65% (2022: 1.45%) and this 
was used to cover the increased 
operational costs, impairment charges and 
losses on derivatives incurred in the year. 
The Board plans to continue the margin 
improvement, through growth in higher 
margin mortgage products. 
 

Administrative expenses 
including depreciation and 
amortisation 
The Board is always conscious that higher 
costs of running the Society restrict the 
benefits it is able to pass on to its members 
in the form of better savings and mortgage 
rates. The Society’s level of management 
expenses expressed as a percentage of 
average total assets of 1.43% (2022: 
1.34%), despite increasing, was below the 
average in 2022 for a building society with 
total assets less than £1 billion.
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Overall administrative expenses, including 
depreciation and amortisation, increased 
by £0.84m to £11.68m (2022: £10.84m). 
 
Costs throughout the building society 
sector have increased significantly in 
recent years as firms have invested in 
people and systems to deliver improved 
customer service commensurate with 
member expectations and to respond to 
increasing regulatory requirements, such 
as improvements to operational resilience 
and ensuring good customer outcomes 
through the implementation of Consumer 
Duty. During the year, the Society incurred 
increased staff costs and IT expenditure on 
such projects, including a significant 
investment to improve the resilience of the 
core banking system by migrating the 
hosting from on-premise servers to a cloud 
based arrangement. This investment will 
continue in the next financial year as the 
Society embarks on substantial 
improvements to the core banking system 
functionality, including enhanced online 
savings functionality for members, the 
introduction of a mobile phone 
application, and enhanced mortgage 
application capability for brokers. 
 

Capital 
Capital is held to provide protection for 
members’ deposits against credit losses 
arising from lending and other risks to 
which the Society is exposed. A feature of 
the Society’s risk management framework 
is the Internal Capital Adequacy 
Assessment Process (ICAAP). The ICAAP 

  

assesses the level of capital that the Board 
considers adequate to mitigate the 
principal risks and uncertainties to which 
the Society is exposed, as set out in the 
Directors’ report on page 29. The Society 
runs regular stress tests to ensure it is 
adequately capitalised, including a severe 
economic downturn based on that used by 
the Bank of England to test the capital 
adequacy of systemic firms within the UK 
banking system. 
 
The Society generates capital from profit 
made by normal business activities. The 
Society’s profit after tax for the financial 
year of £1.24m (2022: £1.07m) was 
transferred to general reserves. In addition 
to the increase due to retained profits, the 
Society’s reserves reduced by £0.98m 
(2022: £2.14m decrease) due to actuarial 
losses recognised in the pension scheme. 
As a result of this, gross capital at the year-
end increased to £46.50m (2022: 
£46.24m). The Society’s gross capital ratio 
(gross capital expressed as a percentage of 
total shares and deposits) was 6.08% 
(2022: 6.14%). The Society’s free capital 
ratio (gross capital and collective provision 
less tangible fixed assets, intangible fixed 
assets and investment properties, 
expressed as a percentage of total shares 
and deposits) was 5.32% (2022: 5.42%). 
 
At 30 November 2023 the Society’s Total 
Capital Requirement set by the Prudential 
Regulation Authority was £26.8m (2022: 
£26.0m), with £22.7m (2022: £21.9m) 
relating to the Pillar 1 capital requirement 
and £4.1m (2022: £4.1m) relating to the 
Pillar 2A capital requirement. Regulatory 
capital held by the Society at 30 November 
2023 was £45.3m (2022: £44.7m), 
representing 16.0% (2022: 16.3%) of total 
risk weighted exposures and well in excess 
of the minimum Total Capital Requirement 
and capital buffer requirements. 
 
The audited disclosures required by Article 
89 of the Capital Requirements Directive 
(Country-by-Country Reporting) are shown 
in note 32 of the accounts. 
 
 

Funding 
In accordance with its role as a mutual 
building society, the Society draws most of 
its funding from its members in the form of 
retail savings. Total retail savings balances 
(which include member share balances, as  
well as other retail accounts such as 
accounts for corporates, charities and local 
clubs and associations) increased by 
£42.6m during 2023 and represented 94% 
(2022: 90%) of the Society’s total funding. 
 
The Society also takes some funding from 
the wholesale money markets, and for 
several years has participated in the Bank 
of England schemes that provide medium 
to long-term funds secured against 
mortgages and other assets at cost-
effective rates of interest. At the year-end, 
the Society held £46.4m (2022: £60.2m) of 
funding from the Bank’s Term Funding 
Scheme with special incentives for SMEs 
(TFSME), which provides four-year term 
funding to banks and building societies and 
is repayable by the end of 2025. In 
addition, the Society had no outstanding 
funding (2022: £17.1m) from the Bank’s 
Indexed Long Term Repo (ILTR) facility at 
the year-end, which provides six month 
funding. 
 
The Society had unsecured wholesale 
funding of £0.3m (2022: £1.3m) 
outstanding at the year-end. 

 
Liquidity management 
The Society undertakes a full review of 
liquidity adequacy each year, referred to as 
the Internal Liquidity Adequacy 
Assessment Process (ILAAP), including an 
assessment as to the quantity and quality 
of liquid assets that the Society should hold 
to mitigate the liquidity risks to which it is 
exposed under both normal and stressed 
conditions. The Board approves the ILAAP 
on an annual basis and this forms a further 
component of the Society’s risk 
management framework. 
 
The Society’s liquid assets of £126.1m 
(2022: £143.3m) at the year-end 
represented 16.5% (2022: 19.0%) of shares 
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and borrowings. The reduction in the level 
of liquidity held, relative to total shares 
and borrowings, reverses the increase that 
occurred during 2020 and 2021 as 
mortgage balances fell during the Covid 
pandemic. The level of liquid assets held 
remains significantly above the Board’s 
internal assessment of its minimum 
requirement and its regulatory minimum 
requirement. Of the liquid assets held, 
£119.6m (2022: £121.1m) was on deposit 
at the Bank of England. 
 
The Society, in common with its peers, has 
access to various Bank of England liquidity 
facilities. These range from the provision of 
funding to assist with the management of 
short-term cashflow imbalances that may 
arise through day-to-day operations, to 
rapid access to liquidity in the event of a 
severe and unexpected cash flow stress. 

 
Loans and advances to customers 
Loans and advances to customers at 30 
November 2023 were £679m (2022: 
£648m), representing growth of 4.8% 
(2022: 4.7%). Gross mortgage assets 
(before the deduction of impairment 
provisions and other accounting 
adjustments) grew by 4.5%.  
 
New mortgages advanced during 2023 
amounted to £144m (2022: £183m) and 
were spread across a range of lending 
categories, including standard owner 
occupied, buy to let and self-build lending. 
The Board’s objective is to achieve a 
balanced portfolio of mortgage products 
across a range of borrower segments that 
generate an interest margin 
commensurate with the credit risk 
involved, while maintaining exposures 
within agreed limits. After standard owner 
occupied mortgages, which represented 
69% (2022: 71%) of the Society’s total 
mortgage book at the year-end, buy to let 
mortgages were the next largest segment 
within the Society’s portfolio, representing 
26% (2022: 27%). 
 

Credit risk performance 
The safety and security of our members’ 
savings has always been of paramount 
importance. This is embodied in the 
Society’s prudent approach to mortgage 
lending, resulting in a high-quality 
mortgage book. 
 
At 30 November 2023, 28 (2022: 16) 
borrowers were in arrears with their 
monthly mortgage payments by one 
month or more, with balances outstanding 
representing 1.12% (2022: 0.55%) of total 
gross mortgage balances. Of the borrowers 
in arrears, one borrower was in arrears by 
12 months or more (2022: one), with a 
balance outstanding of £0.27m (2022: 
£0.25m), arrears of £0.05m (2022: £0.03m) 

and an individual impairment provision 
held of £0.07m (2022: £0.05m). There 
were no properties in possession at 30 
November 2023 (2022: none). 
 
In June 2023, the Society signed up to the 
Mortgage Charter, an agreement to 
provide support to owner occupied 
borrowers during the higher interest rate 
environment, including a temporary 
switch to interest-only payments and a 
term extension to reduce monthly 
payments. As a result of these measures, 
the Society has seen a small increase in the 
number of customers receiving 
forbearance, and details of these are set 
out in note 28(c)(ii) of the accounts. 
 
The impairment provision held against 
loans and advances to customers was 
increased during the year to £0.62m (2022: 
£0.40m). In arriving at the year-end 
impairment provision, the Board has 
considered the impact of the economic 
environment on cases where an 
impairment event has occurred at the 
year-end date, whether or not observable 
within arrears and other data. This 
includes the impact of the cost-of-living 
crisis and rising interest rates, on the ability 
of borrowers to pay their mortgage, and on 
the housing market, with a number of 
economic forecasts predicting a further 
decline in house prices during 2024. 
Further details of the judgements and 
estimations used in the impairment 
provision calculation are set out in note 
2(b) of the accounts. The Board will 
continue to monitor this situation closely 
and will adjust the impairment provision as 
necessary. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

John Mulvey 
Chief Financial Officer 
9 February 2024
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Over the last 12 months we have 
developed a new Environmental, 
Social and Governance (‘ESG’) 
Framework and Policy and have 
continued to strengthen our ESG 
strategy. As a responsible mutual 
organisation, ESG is a key part of 
the Society’s business plan. This 
ensures that all practices leading 
to the success of the Society 
consider a broad and rounded 
contribution to the local and 
wider environment within which 
the Society operates. 
 

Environmental  
The Society recognises and embraces its 
responsibility to minimise the energy, 
carbon, water and waste impacts of its 
business.  The Society seeks to positively 
influence the awareness of Green Finance 
and the environmental improvements 
available to property owners throughout 
the UK.  The Society considers not only the 
depletion of natural resources and 
polluting factors as a result of its activity, 
but also the whole value chain and 
identifies areas where a positive change 
and impact can be had on a local and global 
scale.   
 

Green Finance 
The Society’s Green Finance goal aims to 
improve energy efficiency in homes across 
England and Wales.  The Society provides

 retrofit finance, designed to support 
homeowners from the start of their 
journey through to the installation of the 
retrofitting measures with its “With You all 
the Way” approach.  The Society aims to 
provide leadership and innovation in the 
Green Finance space of the financial 
services sector. 
 

Society Carbon Footprint 
Whilst recognising that climate change is a 
systemic issue affecting all sectors and 
geographies, the Society aims to lead by 
example and ensure that in-house 
practices reduce the impact the business 
has on the environment. One year after 
the effective installation of our solar 
panels, we are pleased to announce the 
achievement of our goal to cut our Head 
Office grid consumption by approximately 
20%. Moreover, in July, we committed to 
100% green utility tariffs with our energy 
provider. Additionally, by building 
frameworks to measure our emissions, we 
are able to identify areas of focus to reduce 
our own carbon footprint.  
 
We also believe in supporting the greening 
of the local community and as such, the 
Society has taken great pride in partnering 
with Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council 
for the second year running to sponsor the 
Free Tree Scheme, an initiative geared 
towards nurturing a greener and more 
sustainable local environment. As a 
community-focused financial institution, 
we recognise the importance of investing 
in initiatives that directly benefit our local

 area. By supporting the Free Tree Scheme, 
we are actively contributing to the well-
being of Hinckley and Bosworth residents, 
fostering a sense of pride and 
responsibility among our community. 
 

Existing Mortgage Portfolio 
Working with existing customers, the 
Society provides support to homeowners 
to understand the potential areas for 
improving their properties.  In addition to 
leveraging Green Finance products and 
services, we aim to encourage customers 
to begin their journey towards more 
energy efficient homes. The Society’s 
existing mortgage portfolio is being 
assessed on an on-going basis for physical 
as well as transitional opportunities. The 
Society recognises the importance of 
understanding the climate risks that its 
members are facing, such as flooding, 
subsidence and energy efficiency, in order 
to address these issues and work with our 
members to improve the environmental 
aspects of our existing mortgage portfolio.   
 

Reporting 
In September 2021, the Society conducted 
an exercise to identify our scope one and 
two emissions, relating to those arising 
from owned vehicles and electricity and 
gas usage, for our head office and branch 
network. These emissions totalled 152 
carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) tonnes. 
Since this time, the Society has been 
working hard to reduce these and 
subsequently we have seen a year-on-year 
reduction, with our emissions calculated at 
105 CO2e tonnes in 2022, and a further 
reduction to 97 CO2e tonnes in 2023.  
 
In addition to this, the Society is in the 
process of reviewing which of the scope 3 
emissions categories can be measured and 
reported. 
 
The carbon footprint measurements have 
been calculated in accordance with best 
practice guidance issued by the 
Greenhouse Gas Protocol using 2019 
conversion factors for CO2e published by 
the Department for Business, Energy & 
Industrial Strategy (BEIS). 
 
 
 
 
 

 

   Environmental, Social and Governance report 
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Social 
Under our ESG framework, we believe in 
the key areas of Community Impact: 
Colleague Engagement, Health, Wellbeing 
& Welfare and Equality, Diversity & 
Inclusion to support a strong Social Impact. 
 

Community Engagement and 
Charitable Activities 
The Society aims to proactively engage 
with local communities through a 
combination of sharing time, experience, 
knowledge and resources.  We believe in 
creating partnerships that make a 
sustainable impact on the communities we 
serve. The Society recognises the 
importance of ensuring that branches 
remain available and accessible to its 
members, and that advice and support is 
readily available on the high street.  The 
Society believes in providing valuable 
financial education in schools to support 
children and young adults to better 
understand financial best practice and to 
develop skills which will help them achieve 
a sustainable financial future.  
 
We actively engage with local charities and 
communities, encouraging our employees 
to get involved through our volunteering 
programme. Through our partnership with 
Leicestershire and Rutland Community 
Foundation we also aim to support 
charities and good causes through our 
financial grant application process and are 
proud of our savings affinity products that 
support a number of local hospices in the 
region.    
 

Colleague Engagement 
The Society believes that the first step in 
hiring and retaining the best talent is to 
create a culture of openness and honesty.  
We are proud that we are able to give our 
employees an important voice to shape 
the organisation. We have achieved this 
through regular employee engagement 
surveys, workshops and all staff 
communications.  All employees are 
offered an attractive benefits package, 
including benchmarked remuneration, 
Society pension scheme, private health 
cash plans and a day off on their birthday. 
Starting our partnership in 2023 with an 
employee engagement firm, Best 
Companies, has captured our employees’ 
views and opinions, and through their 
direct feedback we have been able to 
shape our future people strategy. We were 
delighted to be awarded a 1 Star 
Accreditation in 2023, recognising a very 
good level of employee engagement.    
 

Health, Wellbeing & Welfare 
Through a culture of ‘togetherness’ the 
Society provides a safe and supportive 
environment, with a focus on mental 
health and wellbeing practices. We have a 

team of dedicated mental health first 
aiders to support our employees on a day-
to-day basis and in 2023 the Society 
launched a wellbeing portal for all 
employees to access and benefit from. In 
October 2023 we launched a dedicated 
Wellbeing focus month, covering topics 
such as mental health and resilience, 
women’s and men’s health, nutrition and 
physical wellbeing. Furthermore, our 
employee wellbeing working group meet 
monthly to ensure we continue to raise 
awareness on these topics and engage 
with our employees.  
 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 
(ED&I) 
The Society believes that the workplace 
should be a great place to work for 
everyone and as such values diversity in all 
its forms, irrespective of gender, age, 
ethnicity and cultural background. The 
Society recognises that a diverse talent 
pool is essential to its success. This is 
reflected in all recruitment practices, for 
employees as well as the Board of 
directors. All workplace practices protect 
and maintain a culture of equality and 
fairness, ensuring that the workplace is 
free from discrimination and harassment. 
 

Governance 
The Board’s Corporate Governance report 
is set out on page 15. 
 
The Society recognises that good 
governance is essential to delivering long-
term sustainable success for all 
stakeholders. This includes a sound 
approach to corporate governance that 
adheres with all applicable laws, rules and 
regulations, as well as upholding the 
Society’s values. The Society’s practices 
aim to deliver the strategy in a risk-aware 
and well-governed manner, providing 
assurance and confidence to its 
stakeholders and regulators. 

 
The Society operates a tiered governance 
structure ensuring strategic oversight and 
monitoring throughout all areas.  

Each committee has established and 
agreed terms of reference detailing its 
duties and responsibilities. To ensure 
continued improvement, each committee 
undertakes a self-assessed effectiveness 
review against its terms of reference. In 
line with the UK Corporate Governance 
Code recommendations, the Board 
considers an external evaluation every 
three years. The Society recognises the 
importance of sound corporate 
governance practices to ensure its success, 
and as such aligns its policies with 
recognised standards and codes, including 
the UK Corporate Governance Code and 
the FRC Guidance on Board Effectiveness. 
 

Board Diversity 
The Society seeks to ensure that a diverse 
board leads and directs the delivery of the 
strategy. Board diversity is assessed and 
sought out through the analysis of the 
board skills matrix and by evaluating 
strategic requirements.  Examples of board 
diversity considerations are skills, 
experience, behaviours, gender, ethnicity, 
age and sector knowledge. Recruitment 
practices for new Board members consider 
a wide pool of talent to ensure the Board 
remains diverse and independent. The 
Board’s new Chair, starting in March 2024, 
was appointed from existing Board 
members. 
 
We will see two non-executive Board 
members retiring in 2024, as well as a 
change in Chief Executive Officer. These 
changes have been planned throughout 
2023 and have been supported by Miles 
Advisory in the non-executive recruitment 
and Warren & Partners in the Chief 
Executive recruitment. In both searches 
we have received a diverse group of 
candidates, and look forward to 
integrating the skills and experience of our 
new directors into the Society. 

 
Following the Board changes noted in the 
Chair’s report, the gender composition of 
the Board from 27 March 2024 will have a 
female majority, led by the Society’s first 
female Chair.  
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Member Engagement 
The Board actively seeks member 
feedback and opinion to ensure the 
successful delivery of member needs and 
requirements. A member panel has been 
established to meet with our members and 
discuss key challenges and opportunities 
for the future. The Board of directors 
attend the Annual General Meeting and 
are on hand to answer questions and to 
outline how the Society has delivered the 
best possible service for its members. 
 
The conduct of our Board and staff 
members is of primary importance to the 
Society as we aim to demonstrate our 
values in everything that we do. The 
Financial Conduct Authority’s regulation 
on Consumer Duty was introduced in 2023, 
and Lynda Blackwell has been the Board 
Consumer Duty champion, providing 
challenges to how the Society has adopted 
the Consumer Duty principles.  
 

Executive Remuneration 
The Remuneration Committee provides 
oversight and challenge for all Society 
remuneration practices. The Society 
endeavours to ensure that a fair and 
transparent framework is in place for all 
remuneration decisions. The Society’s 
Remuneration Policy clearly outlines 
Society practices, thresholds and controls.   
 

Corporate Behaviours and Business 
Ethics 
All directors and employees uphold the 
Society values and conduct themselves 
with integrity and honesty. The Board 
operates under its Code of Conduct and 
ensures that all working practices are fair 
and transparent. The Board provides 
oversight and approval of key strategic 
policies and documentation and ensures 
that all working practices protect against 
discrimination and harassment. 
 

Conduct Policies and Practices 
All Society conduct policies and practices 
aim to ensure that all our employees 
uphold the highest moral standards and 
conduct principles. The Board provides 
oversight and approval for key strategic 
policies, including the Conduct Risk, 
Conflicts of Interest, Remuneration and 
People policies. The Board Chair is the 
Whistleblowing Champion and ensures 
that there is always a confidential, trusted 
channel for whistleblowing 
communications. The Board receives an 
annual report from the Company Secretary 
on all whistleblowing, conflict of interest 
and health and safety matters. 

   Environmental, Social and Governance continued 
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The Society is committed to 
effective corporate governance and 
this Corporate Governance report 
sets out the Society’s approach to 
governance in practice and how 
decisions are made to promote the 
long-term sustainable success of 
the Society for the benefit of its 
members and other stakeholders. 
The Society is not required to 
comply with the UK Corporate 
Governance Code (“the Code”), but 
the Board pays due regard to it 
when establishing and reviewing 
the Society’s own corporate 
governance arrangements. This 
report sets out how the Society 
applies the principles and 
provisions in the Code so far as they 
are relevant to building societies. 
 

Report  
The Chief Executive’s report and Chief 
Financial Officer’s report on pages 5 to 11 
provide a detailed review of the Society’s 
business activities and prospects. The 
Directors’ report on page 29 includes a 
statement that the directors consider that 
the business is a going concern. The Audit 
and Compliance Committee’s report on 
page 23 sets out the main areas of 
accounting judgement considered by the 
committee. 
 
The responsibilities of the directors in 
relation to the preparation of the Society’s 
Annual Report and Accounts are set out in 
the Responsibilities of the Directors report 
on page 33. The Board confirms that the 
Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a 
whole, is fair, balanced and 
understandable and provides the 
information necessary for members to 
assess the Society’s performance, business 
model and strategy. 
 
 

Corporate Governance 
The Society is committed to effective 
corporate governance and this Corporate 
Governance report sets out the Society’s 
governance framework and how decisions 
are made to promote the long-term 
sustainable success of the Society for the 
benefit of its members and other 
stakeholders.  
 
Effective governance is pivotal to the 
achievement of the Society’s goals and 
objectives, and during 2022 and 2023 the 
Society enhanced and developed those 
governance structures and systems.  The 
Board underwent an external evaluation at 
the end of 2021, and this provided valuable 
insight into possible areas of improvement 
within governance processes and 
procedures. During the current year, the 
Board agreed that all 2021 effectiveness 
actions had been implemented to a 
satisfactory level.   
 
The Board operates on an annual cycle and 
ensures that all matters reserved for the 
Board are considered, and oversees the 
responsibilities delegated to its 
committees. This cycle ensures a 
comprehensive approach to monitoring 
the delivery of the Society strategy, careful 
oversight of the Society operations, 
alignment to Society values and culture, 
care and consideration to all stakeholder 
needs, and maintaining adequate capital 
and liquidity. 
 
This Corporate Governance report and 
other committee reports explain how the 
Society upholds the principles within the 
Code and endeavours to continually 
improve and adopt best practice. 

 
The Governance Framework 
The Board of directors is responsible for 
setting strategic direction and providing 
oversight and control of the business. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Board delegates certain matters to 
committees for monitoring and oversight 
and these are formally documented.  A full 
report on how these committees have 
discharged their duties is on pages 20 to 
22. 
 

Board Leadership and Company 
Purpose  

Code Principles 
 
A. A successful company is led by an 

effective and entrepreneurial board, 
whose role is to promote the long-term 
sustainable success of the company, 
generating value for shareholders and 
contributing to wider society. 

 

B. The board should establish the 
company’s purpose, values and 
strategy, and satisfy itself that these 
and its culture are aligned. All directors 
must act with integrity lead by example 
and promote the desired culture. 

 

C. The board should ensure that necessary 
resources are in place for the company 
to meet its objectives and measure 
performance against them. The board 
should also establish a framework of 
prudent and effective controls, which 
enable risk to be assessed and 
managed. 

 

D. In order for the company to meet its 
responsibilities to shareholders and 
stakeholders, the board should ensure 
effective management with, and 
encourage participation from, these 
parties. 

 

E. The board should ensure that 
workforce policies and practices are 
consistent with the company’s values 
and support its long-term sustainable 
success. The workforce should be able 
to raise any matters of concern. 

 

   Corporate Governance  
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The Society’s Board is collectively 
responsible for the long-term success of 
the organisation and ensures that the 
approved strategy aligns with the Society’s 
purpose, ambition and values, as well as its 
culture. The Board, executives and senior 
leaders develop a strategy that 
incorporates knowledge from all areas of 
the Society, recognising that an aligned 
corporate governance structure, utilising 
all Society resources, increases the 
chances of success.  
 
To do this, before the financial year begins 
the Board, executives and senior leaders 
participate in strategy setting sessions. 
These sessions explore the risks faced by 
the Society, the external environment, 
member and key stakeholder 
requirements, staff engagement, products 
and customer services, operational plans 
and financial forecasts. The resulting 
strategy is then detailed within a business 
plan, which is reviewed by the Board to 
ensure that the financial and operational 
plans align with the Society’s purpose and 
values. 
 
The key to achieving the strategy is the 
successful delivery of the operational 
objectives. During the year, the Board and 
management worked towards achieving 
the Society’s goals, ensuring risks were 
identified and challenged and key controls 
remained in place to protect the core 
business model. The Board provided 
oversight over three important projects 
covering the Society’s implementation of 
the Consumer Duty requirements and 
associated enhancements to the member 
experience, migration of core banking 
systems to a fully managed service hosted 
in the cloud, and product simplification. 
 
The Board promotes a culture of placing 
the member at the heart of the Society and 
ensures delivery of strategic objectives to 
drive member value.  The Board seeks and 
encourages member feedback and opinion 
through engagement at the Annual 
General Meeting (AGM), informal 
engagements and branch visits. To 
enhance member engagement in the 
AGM, the Board offers multiple channels 
for voting, including online voting, postal 
voting and in-branch voting. 
 
The Board values member feedback 
through post-sale surveys, social media, 
the Society’s website and the reviews 
completed through Smart Money People, 
which undertakes consumer reviews on 
behalf of the Society and other financial 
services providers. The Board monitors 
and oversees customer satisfaction survey 
results and information as a standing item 
at Board meetings. 

The Board monitors and oversees 
workplace policy and practices and reviews 
staff engagement metrics at every Board 
meeting. In addition to this, the Board 
actively engages with staff members 
through face-to-face meetings, branch 
visits, online forums, staff mentoring 
programmes and departmental sessions.  
All-staff calls are held throughout the year 
and the Chief Executive leads these 
sessions to ensure key messages are 
communicated and all staff members are 
kept informed and up to date on progress 
against the Society’s business plan. These 
sessions are informal, and staff are 
encouraged to speak up and ask questions. 
Non-executive directors attend certain 
sessions throughout the year and provide 
an update on the work of the Board, and 
staff are invited to ask questions on key 
strategic objectives and areas of focus for 
the Board. Engagement and attendance at 
these sessions are consistently good. 
 
Barbara Taeed (non-executive director) led 
the Staff Engagement Forum throughout 
the year. Staff were invited to attend the 
forum, where senior management would 
not be in attendance. This allowed 
members of staff the opportunity to speak 
freely and openly without management 
being present and provide feedback on key 
challenges, concerns and feelings about 
the direction of the Society, as well as ask 
questions for clarity and reassurance 
about the Society’s strategy and 
objectives. Engagement at the forum was 
good, with staff representing all branches 
and departments. Staff feedback is 
assessed and reviewed by the Board, and 
monitored to ensure actions and queries 
are followed up. 
 
The non-executive directors (NEDs) 
participate in Society visits.  Throughout 
the year each NED visits branches and 
teams to engage with staff and gather 
views, opinions, concerns and challenges. 
Feedback is then given to the Board to 
discuss and implement any actions and 
changes required. 

The Society launched its ‘Speak Up’ 
framework in 2023 and dedicated one 
month to focusing on strengthening voices 
and opinions across the Society. Included 
in this framework is the Society’s 
Whistleblowing Policy and process. The 
policy provides a means for staff to raise 
concerns in confidence. The Society’s Chair 
of the Board is the whistleblowing 
champion. The Board reviews these 
arrangements annually, to ensure they are 
proportionate, that any reports arising 
from its operation are independently 
investigated, and that any required actions 
are taken whilst maintaining 
confidentiality. 
 

Division of Responsibilities 

Code Principles 
 
F. The chair leads the board and is 

responsible for its overall effectiveness 
in directing the company. They should 
demonstrate objective judgement 
throughout their tenure and promote a 
culture of openness and debate. In 
addition, the chair facilitates 
constructive board relations and the 
effective contribution of all non-
executive directors, and ensures that 
directors receive accurate, timely and 
clear information. 

 
G. The board should include an 

appropriate combination of executive 
and non-executive (and, in particular 
independent non-executive) directors, 
such that no one individual or small 
group of individuals dominates the 
board’s decision making. There should 
be a clear division of responsibilities 
between the leadership of the board 
and the executive leadership of the 
company’s business. 

 
H. Non-executive directors should have 

sufficient time to meet their board 
responsibilities. They should provide 
constructive challenge, strategic 
guidance, offer specialist advice and 
hold management to account. 

 
I. The board, supported by the company 

secretary, should ensure that it has the 
policies, processes, information, time 
and resources it needs in order to 
function effectively and efficiently. 

 
The Society’s Chair, Colin Franklin, was 
appointed as an independent non-
executive director in June 2015, following 
a rigorous selection exercise, and was 
elected by the other members of the Board 
to become the Society Chair the following 
year. 
 
As at 30 November 2023, the Board 
comprised of an independent non-

   Corporate Governance continued 



 

Hinckley & Rugby Building Society Annual Report and Accounts 2023 

17 Governance  

executive chair, five other independent 
non-executive directors and four executive 
directors. The Board lays out its overall 
approach to governance, including the 
division of responsibilities, in its 
governance manual.  This provides clarity 
around the role of both non-executive and 
executive directors. All directors 
constructively challenge and help shape 
and develop the Society’s strategy and 
purpose. The Board met 12 times in the 
year, including three offsite strategy 
sessions to focus on the Society’s strategic 
direction and business model. All non-
executive directors are considered by the 
Board to be independent in character and 
judgement and free of any relationship or 
circumstance that could interfere with the 
exercise of their judgement or impede the 
provision of constructive challenge to 
management. 
 
Prior to appointment, an assessment is 
made of a non-executive director’s time 
commitments, other than those to the 
Society, to ensure that they can devote 
sufficient time to Society business. The 
Chair annually evaluates the ability of 
directors to commit the time required to 
fulfil their role, and that their performance 
continues to be effective. The Senior 
Independent Director assesses the Chair’s 
ability in this regard as part of the annual 
appraisal of the Chair. The attendance 
record during the year of directors at 
Board and committee meetings is set out 
on page 22. The commitments of the 
directors are set out in the Annual Business 
Statement on page 76. 
 

The Board has appointed a Senior 
Independent Director, Barbara Taeed, to 
provide a sounding board for the Society 
Chair and to serve as an intermediary for 
the other directors when necessary. The 
Senior Independent Director is also 
available to members if they have any 
concerns, which contact through the 
normal channels of Society Chair, Chief 
Executive or other executive director, has 
failed to resolve, or for which such contact 
is inappropriate. 
 
The offices of the Society Chair and Chief 
Executive are held by different individuals 
with their roles set out in their terms of 
appointment or contract respectively, and 
reflected in job descriptions. The Society 
Chair is responsible for leading the Board, 
ensuring its effectiveness on all aspects of 
its role. The Chief Executive is responsible 
for managing the Society’s business within 
the parameters set by the Board. 
 
The Society Chair sets the direction and 
culture of the Board, facilitating effective 
contribution from directors, maintaining 
constructive relations between executive 
and non-executive directors, and ensuring 

that directors receive accurate, timely and 
clear advice and information.   
 
The Board Code of Conduct details Board 
practices and procedures that are 
conducive to ensuring effective and 
efficient processes and behaviours. This 
document is reviewed, approved and 
adopted by the Board on an annual basis.  
All directors have access to the advice and 
services of the Society’s Company 
Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring 
compliance with all Board procedures. 
 
To ensure policy best practice, the Society 
has a policy framework that lays out the 
Society’s classification of policies and the 
delegated bodies to provide oversight and 
monitor implementation. 
 
The Board ensures that all policies reflect 
the values, standards and expected 
behaviours of the Society to drive best 
practice in a well governed environment.   
 

Composition, Succession and 
Evaluation 
Code Principles 
 
J. Appointments to the board should be 

subject to a formal, rigorous and 
transparent procedure, and an effective 
succession plan should be maintained 
for board and senior management. 
Both appointments and succession 
plans should be based on merit and 
objective criteria and, within this 
context, should promote diversity of 
gender, social and ethnic backgrounds, 
cognitive and personal strengths. 

 

K. The board and its committees should 
have a combination of skills, 
experience, and knowledge. 
Consideration should be given to the 
length of service of the board as a whole 
and membership regularly refreshed. 

 

L. Annual evaluation of the board should 
consider its composition, diversity and 
how effectively members work 
together to achieve objectives. 
Individual evaluation should 
demonstrate whether each director 
continues to contribute effectively.  

 
During 2021, an externally facilitated 
Board effectiveness evaluation was 
conducted. The members of the Board 
were interviewed and assessed to review 
how they work together to achieve the 
Board’s objectives. The report concluded 
that the Board was a strong, professional 
and experienced board that provides 
sound strategic guidance and oversight for 
the Society.   
 
The 2021 report identified some key areas 
for developing governance structures and 

strengthening the underlying processes to 
improve efficiencies and areas of focus for 
the Board. During the current year, the 
Board agreed that all 2021 effectiveness 
actions had been implemented to a 
satisfactory level. 
 
The Nominations and Governance 
Committee has developed a formalised 
evaluation process for each of the Board 
committees. This self-assessment process 
means that each committee evaluates 
their own overall performance annually, 
and the Board reviews and acts on the 
results of the performance evaluation by 
recognising the strengths and addressing 
the weaknesses of its committees.  The 
Nominations and Governance Committee 
reviews and assesses committee 
membership on an annual basis, reflecting 
upon the performance evaluation of each 
body.   
 

The performance and effectiveness of each 
non-executive director and the Chief 
Executive is evaluated by the Society’s 
Chair, while the Senior Independent 
Director evaluates the performance of the 
Society Chair, taking into account the 
views of other directors. The Chief 
Executive evaluates the performance of 
the other executive directors, taking into 
account the performance objectives set at 
the beginning of the year or on 
appointment. The evaluations include 
consideration of training and development 
requirements to ensure directors 
continually update their skills, knowledge 
and understanding of the Society’s 
business. Annual evaluations for 2023 took 
place on this basis and it was concluded 
that each director continues to make an 
effective and valuable contribution to the 
Board, and continues to demonstrate 
commitment to the role. 
 
The Nominations and Governance 
Committee is responsible for Board 
appointments and succession planning, 
ensuring that the Board comprises 
sufficient directors who are independent, 
fit and proper, and who can meet their 
collective and individual responsibilities 
effectively. 
 

There is a formal, rigorous and transparent 
procedure for the appointment of new 
directors to the Board. As with all 
recruitment, all candidates, irrespective of 
background, are treated respectfully and 
inclusively. The Nominations and 
Governance Committee considers the 
balance of skills and experience on the 
Board, as required by the Society’s 
business strategy, using a skills matrix and 
having regard to the Board’s succession 
plans. A description of the role and 
capabilities required for a particular 
appointment is prepared in the light of that 
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evaluation. All appointments are made on 
merit, against objective criteria and with 
due regard for the benefits of diversity on 
the Board. 
 
The committee considered succession 
plans for the Board and senior 
management during the year. As with 
appointments, succession plans are based 
on merit and objective criteria and, within 
this context, promote diversity of gender, 
social and ethnic backgrounds, cognitive 
and personal strengths. 
 
All directors take part in an ongoing 
programme of training and professional 
development designed to keep their 
knowledge and skills up to date and ensure 
they have appropriate knowledge of the 
Society and access to its operations and 
colleagues.  
 
This is done primarily through internal and 
external presentations and e-learning 
training modules. During the year, training 
included Consumer Duty, the green 
mortgage market and retrofit finance, and 
various sessions provided through the BSA. 
All directors also undertook e-learning 
training modules on the senior managers 
and certification regime and information 
security. Directors also participate in 
external courses and conferences where 
relevant. 
 
During 2023 the Board bid farewell to non-
executive directors Geneane Bell and 
David Woodward and welcomed two new 
non-executive directors John Lowe and 
Lynda Blackwell to the Board.  In the next 
financial year, the Board will say farewell 
to two further non-executive directors 
Colin Frankin and Gary Wilkinson and will 
welcome two new non-executive 
directors, Tony Alexander, who joined the 
Board on 1 December 2023, and Manuela 
Pifani, who joins the Board on 27 March 
2024. Both Tony and Manuela will stand 
for election at the March 2024 AGM. The 
Society’s new, and first female, Chair will 
be Nemone Wynn-Evans, after serving as 
Vice Chair in 2023. The Society also saw the 
departure of Colin Fyfe in January 2024, 
with Barry Carter becoming the new Chief 
Executive on 2 January 2024. All the above 
appointments are subject to regulatory 
approval. 
 
The biographies of the directors are shown 
on page 26, demonstrating that the Board 
has a strong mix of skills and experience 
relevant to the Society and its strategy. 
 
All new Board members receive a formal 
and tailored induction when they join the 
Board. This includes directors’ 
responsibilities and duties, the 
management information they will be 

provided with and how to interpret this, 
information on the Society and the local 
market, an overview of the regulatory 
requirements and details of significant 
current issues for the industry, the senior 
managers and certification regime, 
meetings with members of the Executive 
Committee, and details of key financial, 
operational, people and risk related 
matters specific to the Society. During the 
year, Board members have continued to 
meet with head office departments and 
branches to engage with members and 
staff. Furthermore, all new senior 
managers go through a comprehensive 
handover process to ensure they are fully 
aware of the specific responsibilities 
relating to their individual role. 
 
Diversity and inclusion matter at the 
Society and we are proud to be a signatory 
of the Women in Finance Charter, a 
government initiative designed to improve 
gender diversity in senior positions within 
the financial services sector. The Society 
has, for several years, maintained an 
appropriate gender balance across all 
levels of leadership within the 
organisation, including at Board and 
Executive Committee level. This has been 
achieved whilst pursuing a strategy of 
appointing the right individuals for roles, 
regardless of gender. As part of our 
commitment to the Women in Finance 
Charter, and, in the context of our strong 
position in terms of gender balance, we 
have set a floor for gender diversity at 40% 
of female or male representation at Board 
and Executive Committee level. At 30 
November 2023, nine women held 
positions at Board and Executive 
Committee level out of a total of 16 (56%). 
 
The Society is also proud to have signed up 
to the Disability Confident scheme, which 
supports employers to challenge thinking 
and the attitudes toward disability and 
improve the recruitment and retention of 
disabled workers. In addition, the Society 
has pledged to remove barriers to 
employment for disabled people, as well as 
those with long-term health conditions, 
and to ensure they are offered the chance 
to fulfil their potential. The Society’s 
commitment to positively change 
attitudes, behaviours and cultures under 
the scheme is the same, whether we are 
looking to recruit new staff or to make 
adjustments for an employee who has 
become disabled during their career. 
 

Audit, Risk and Internal Control 
Code Principles 
 
M. The board should establish formal 

and transparent policies and 
procedures to ensure the 
independence and effectiveness of 

internal and external audit functions 
and satisfy itself on the integrity of 
financial and narrative statements. 

 

N. The board should present a fair, 
balanced and understandable 
assessment of the company’s position 
and prospects. 

 

O. The board should establish 
procedures to manage risk, oversee 
the internal control framework, and 
determine the nature and extent of 
the principal risks the company is 
willing to take in order to achieve its 
long-term strategic objectives. 

 
The Society operates a three lines of 
defence model for internal control as 
follows: 
 

• The first line of defence is 
management within each business 
area, who are responsible for the 
identification, measurement and 
management of the risks within the 
Society’s risk appetite, and ensuring 
appropriate controls are in place and 
operating effectively. Management 
information relating to each risk 
category is monitored by the 
Executive Committee, ALCO, CORC or 
Credit Committee.  

 

• The second line of defence is the 
Society’s Governance, Risk and 
Compliance function, which provides 
risk management expertise, challenge 
and support to the Board, 
management and staff. Independent 
views are reported to the Board, 
Audit and Compliance Committee and 
Risk Committee, based on 
management information from 
across the business, external 
intelligence and bespoke assurance 
activity, in accordance with a risk-
based plan approved by the Audit and 
Compliance Committee.  

 

• The third line of defence is the 
internal audit function, which 
independently reviews the 
effectiveness of the internal control 
environment. The Audit and 
Compliance Committee approves a 
risk-based internal audit plan for 
Internal Audit and receives reports of 
the results of the work performed. 

 
In addition to the three lines of defence 
model, the Audit and Compliance 
Committee receives reports from the 
external auditor detailing their 
observations on the effectiveness of 
internal controls, particularly those 
relating to the preparation of the accounts, 
during the external audit process. 

Corporate Governance continued 
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The Board’s principal functions include 
determining the risk appetite, strategy and 
policies of the Society, establishing an 
effective risk management and internal 
control framework that enables risk to be 
assessed and managed, and reviewing 
business and management performance. 
In addition, the Board has a duty to ensure 
that the Society operates within its rules 
and relevant legislation and regulation.  
This includes considering the financial and 
human resources required, and details of 
development projects and expenditure to 
enhance the Society’s operations and 
services to its members, both in the short 
and longer term. 
 

The Board has approved and monitored 
the implementation of an enhanced risk 
management framework to mitigate the 
significant risks to which it is exposed. The 
framework comprises a risk focused 
governance structure, risk appetite 
statements, risk management policies, and 
procedures for the identification, 
measurement and reporting of risks within 
defined risk limits. 
 
In addition to the reports received 
throughout the year from internal audit, 
external audit and the Governance, Risk 
and Compliance function, the Audit and 
Compliance Committee receives an annual 
review of internal controls from 
management and an annual conclusion on 
the Society’s control environment from 
internal audit. Based on the reports 
received during the year, the committee 
concluded that the Society operates an 
effective system of control. As a result, the 
Board is satisfied that the Society has 
sound risk management and internal 
control systems and that these systems 
have been in place during the year. 
 

The key Board and committee 
responsibilities in respect of risk 
management and the internal control 
framework are: 
 

• The Board approves the overall risk 
management framework and 
determines the Society’s risk appetite. 

 

• The Risk Committee oversees the risk 
management framework, including the 
identification of risk positions against 
appetite. The committee receives an 
independent view of each risk category 
from the Chief Risk Officer at each 
meeting. 

 

• The Audit and Compliance Committee 
monitors the effectiveness of systems 
and controls for all risk categories 
through independent reports from the 
Society’s Internal Audit and 
Compliance functions, in accordance 

with agreed risk-based assurance 
plans.  

 

• The Executive Committee is 
responsible for the management of 
strategic risks to the Society. 

 

• ALCO is responsible for the 
management of financial risks, 
including liquidity risk, funding risk, 
treasury counterparty credit risk and 
interest rate risk.  

 

• CORC is responsible for the 
management of conduct risk and 
operational risk.  

 

• The Credit Committee is responsible 
for management of retail credit risk. 

 
As described in the Audit and Compliance 
Committee’s report on page 23, the 
committee’s review of the accounts 
includes consideration that financial and 
narrative disclosures are fair, balanced and 
understandable. As a result of this review, 
the Board considers that the Annual 
Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, is 
fair, balanced and understandable and 
contains the information necessary for 
members to assess the Society’s 
performance, business model and 
strategy. 
 

Remuneration 
Code Principles 
 
P. Remuneration policies and practices 

should be designed to support strategy 
and promote long-term sustainable 
success. Executive remuneration 
should be aligned to company purpose 
and values, and be clearly linked to the 
successful delivery of the company’s 
long-term strategy. 

 

Q. A formal and transparent procedure 
for developing policy on executive 
remuneration and determining 
director and senior management 
remuneration should be established. 
No director should be involved in 
deciding their own remuneration 
outcome. 

 

R. Directors should exercise independent 
judgement and discretion when 
authorising remuneration outcomes, 
taking account of company and 
individual performance, and wider 
circumstances. 

 

The Society has regard to the principles 
and provisions relating to remuneration in 
the Code and ensures that the Society’s 
Remuneration Policy is compliant with the 
Financial Conduct Authority’s 
Remuneration Code and the 
Remuneration Part of the Prudential 
Regulation Authority’s Rulebook. 
 

During 2023, the Society’s Remuneration 
Policy and related practices set out within 
a Remuneration Policy Statement were 
reviewed by the Remuneration 
Committee.  In setting remuneration, the 
committee takes into consideration 
salaries payable and other benefits 
provided to executive directors and other 
senior management of building societies 
that are similar in size and complexity, and 
other relevant organisations. The 
committee used external consultants to 
assist in the benchmarking process during 
the year. 
 
The committee exercises independent 
judgement and discretion when 
authorising remuneration outcomes, 
taking account of Society and individual 
performance and wider circumstances, 
and underpinned by the objective to 
promote the Society’s long-term 
sustainable success. All remuneration 
schemes and policies are flexible enough 
to enable the committee to use discretion 
to override formulaic outcomes. 
 
The Society continues to embed its 
performance management framework and 
assessment of performance against the 
Society’s balanced scorecard.  The 
balanced scorecard is used to assess the 
performance of the Society, in the areas of 
customer and community, people, 
operational excellence, financial, and 
governance, risk and compliance. The 
objectives in the scorecard reflect the 
Society’s strategic priorities, and 
performance measures are set each year 
for the Society, its departments, and 
individual employees. The Remuneration 
Committee has absolute discretion to 
reduce any bonus allocation available if it 
decides that acceptable standards or 
performance levels have not been met. 
This is consistent with the Society’s risk 
appetite and is designed to support the 
overall financial stability of the Society and 
its strategic priorities. 
 
The Chief Executive attends the 
Remuneration Committee by invitation, 
but takes no part in the discussion of his 
own remuneration. The committee 
reviews remuneration for the Chair of the 
Board, executive directors and senior 
managers annually, using data from 
comparable organisations, and takes 
advice from external consultants when 
appropriate.  
 
The remuneration of the non-executive 
directors, other than the Chair of the 
Board, is determined annually by the Chair 
of the Board and Chief Executive.  No 
director or individual is involved in setting 
their own remuneration. It is the 
responsibility of the Nominations and 
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Governance Committee to identify 
Remuneration Code staff and Material Risk 
Takers (MRTs). The Remuneration 
Committee is responsible for setting the 
remuneration of the Remuneration Code 
staff and MRTs to ensure that their 
remuneration does not encourage 
inappropriate risk taking, and also to 
ensure they are rewarded appropriately 
and fairly to encourage enhanced 
performance and promote the long-term 
success of the Society. 
 
The terms of reference for the committee 
are available on the Society’s website, and 
each committee meeting is formally 
minuted, and the minutes are distributed 
to all committee members. The Chair of 
the committee reports on the key matters 
covered at the following Board meeting.  
 

Committees 

As noted above, the Board has established 
committees to oversee the 
implementation and monitoring of key 
business areas, including the Audit and 
Compliance Committee, Risk Committee, 
Nominations and Governance Committee 
and Remuneration Committee.  In 
addition, the Society operates executive 
and management committees, including 
the Executive Committee, the Assets and 
Liabilities Committee, the Conduct and 
Operational Risk Committee and the Credit 
Committee. 
 
The Board approves the terms of reference 
of each Board committee and the 
Executive Committee, whilst the Risk 
Committee reviews and approves the 
terms of reference for its reporting 
committees. Through effectiveness 
reviews and succession planning, the 
Board ensures its committees have the 
appropriate balance of skills, experience 
and knowledge to discharge their 
respective duties effectively. All Board 
members have the benefit of appropriate 
liability insurance at the Society’s expense 
and all have access to independent 
professional advice if required. 
 

Audit and Compliance Committee 
The Audit and Compliance Committee 
comprised three non-executive directors 
(excluding the Chair of the Board) and, 
since April 2023, was chaired by John 
Lowe. The biographies shown on page 26 
set out the committee members’ skills and 
experience. All members have recent and 
relevant financial experience, and 
competence relevant to the sector in 
which the Society operates. The 
committee met six times during the year 
and the meetings were held remotely. For 
attendance details see the table on page 
22. 
 

The committee is responsible for oversight 
on behalf of the Board of the Society’s 
internal financial controls and internal 
control systems, including those that 
ensure compliance with applicable laws 
and regulations. The committee fulfils its 
responsibilities by approving risk-based 
work programmes for the Society’s 
Governance, Risk and Compliance function 
and internal audit function, and approving 
the audit strategy of the external auditor. 
At each meeting, the committee reviews 
and challenges reports received from 
these functions and management, relating 
to the effectiveness of internal controls 
and control systems. 
 
The committee considerations include the 
following policies and documentation: 
 

• Integrated Assurance Plan 
 

• Internal Audit Plan 
 

• External Audit Strategy 
 

• Regulatory Reporting Policy 
 

• Pillar 3 Disclosure and Policy 
 

• Fire, Health and Safety Policy  
 

• Whistleblowing Policy  
 

• Non-Audit Services Policy 
 

• Key accounting policies and 
assumptions  

 

• Annual Report and Accounts 
 

• Summary Financial Statements  
 
The committee’s terms of reference and its 
work during the year can be found in the 
separate Audit and Compliance 
Committee’s report on page 23. 
 
To ensure best practice, the committee 
meets with representatives of external 
audit and internal audit without 
management at least once per year.  The 
committee undertakes an annual self-
assessment for effectiveness and reports 
the results to the Board. For 2023 the 
committee reported that it had operated 
effectively. 
 

Risk Committee 
The Risk Committee comprises three non-
executive directors and during the year 
was chaired by Gary Wilkinson. The 
committee met six times during the year 
and the meetings were held remotely.  For 
attendance details see the table on page 
22. The committee is responsible for 
oversight on behalf of the Board of the 
Society’s risk management framework, 
including the identification of risks, and the 
monitoring of risk positions against 
appetite. The committee ensured that 
adequate management resources were in 
place to assess, evaluate and control the 
key risks faced by the Society.  A strong risk 
culture continues to develop and the 

committee provided challenge, guidance 
and support to management. 
To ensure sound credit risk management 
practices, the committee reviewed during 
2023 the Society’s retail credit risk 
framework and challenged lending policy, 
limits and tolerances. The committee also 
focused on developing the Society’s credit 
risk management information to ensure 
the best outcomes for the Society and its 
members. 
 
The committee continued to review the 
Society’s capital and liquidity positions to 
ensure a sustainable future and the 
delivery of the Society’s strategy. The 
committee conducted this review through 
the assessment of the Internal Capital 
Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) and 
Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment 
Process (ILAAP), and intrinsic stress 
scenarios.   
 
The committee recommended these 
assessments to the Board and was satisfied 
that sufficient levels of capital and liquidity 
remained in place to support the Society 
and its future development goals. 
 
To provide oversight and monitoring of the 
risk culture and implementation of risk 
management, the Risk Committee and 
Remunerations Committee review risk 
culture oversight papers that are prepared 
annually by the Governance, Risk and 
Compliance function. The committee 
receives a report from the Chief Risk 
Officer at each meeting outlining the key 
risks and considerations for the 
committee, including horizon scanning and 
emerging risks that the Society may be 
exposed to. Also, the committee oversees 
operations and monitors how the Society 
operates within risk limits and is alerted to 
any key risk indicators for awareness. 
 

The committee’s considerations include 
the following risk management policies 
and documentation: 
 

• Risk Management Framework and 
Risk Appetite Statements 

 

• Risks identified in the Integrated 
Assurance Plan 

 

• Lending Policy 
 

• Conduct Risk Policy 
 

• Competition Policy 
 

• Financial Risk Management Policy 
 

• ILAAP 
 

• ICAAP 
 

• Reverse Stress Test Framework 
 

• Recovery Plan 
 

• Resolution Pack 
 

• Operational Risk Policy 
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• Third Party and Outsourcing Policy 
 

• Model Risk Management Policy 
 

• Financial Crime Policy 
 

• Information Security Policy 
 

• Change Management Policy 
 

• Operational Resilience Policy 
 

• Mortgage Support Policy 
 

• Data Protection Policy 
 
To ensure best practice the committee 
meets at least once per year with the Chief 
Risk Officer without management present 
to discuss risk matters and culture across 
the Society.  With regards to the Code, the 
committee undertakes an annual self-
assessment for effectiveness and reports 
to the Board.  For 2023 the committee 
reported that it had discharged its duties 
effectively. 

 
Nominations and Governance 
Committee 
The Nominations and Governance 
Committee comprised three non-
executive directors and during the year 
was chaired by Nemone Wynn-Evans. For 
attendance details, see the table on page 
22. The committee is responsible for 
leading the process for senior 
appointments, ensuring plans are in place 
for orderly succession to both the Board 
and senior management positions, and 
ensuring that the Board and senior 
management have the appropriate skills 
and experience to effectively manage the 
business and deliver the Society’s strategy. 
The committee meets at least twice a year.  
 
During 2023, the committee provided 
oversight, influence and guidance as the 
Board developed key policies and 
practices.  Considerations included the 
governance manual, committee self-
assessment effectiveness reviews and the 
succession plan.  The committee ensures 
adherence with the Code, and that the 
values and culture of the Society are 
reflected in its governance practices and 
policies. 
 
During 2023, the committee led the 
Society’s succession planning, involving 
the recruitment and appointment of two 
new non-executive directors, who join the 
Board in the next financial year, and the 
appointment of a new Chief Executive, as 
described above. The committee assessed 
the required skills, knowledge, experience 
and diversity for the Board against the 
future direction and objectives of the 
Society, including the planned significant 
change projects. 
 
The Society used the services of an 
independent specialist firm to conduct the 

search for potential candidates.  Following 
a thorough assessment process, candidate 
references and staged interviews, the 
committee made its final 
recommendations to the Board.   

 
Equality, diversity and inclusion strategy 
and targets are overseen by the 
committee.  Following Board approval of a 
revised strategy in 2022, the committee 
monitored implementation of inclusion 
practices across the Society. The 
committee will influence, support and 
challenge the furtherance of other areas of 
diversity to ensure a Society that is 
inclusive to all. 
 
The committee’s considerations include 
the following Board governance 
documentation and matters: 
 

• The Board Code of Conduct 
 

• Matters Reserved for the Board 
 

• Governance Manual 
 

• Governing practices for the Senior 
Managers and Certification Regime 

 

• Diversity and Inclusion Strategy and 
targets 

 

• ESG Policy and practices 
 

• Conflicts of Interest Policy and 
effectiveness of implementation of 
controls 

 

• Ensuring appropriate availability and 
commitment of time for directors 

 

• Assessing appropriateness of external 
appointments for directors 

 

Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee comprised 
three non-executive directors and was 
chaired by Barbara Taeed. For attendance 
details, see the table on page 22. The 
committee is responsible for determining, 
on behalf of the Board, the policy and the 
level of remuneration of the executive 
directors, senior management and the 
wider staff, and for ensuring that 
remuneration aligns with the long-term 
interests of the business and incentives 
towards excessive risk taking are 
eliminated. The committee meets at least 
three times a year. 
 
During the year the committee reviewed 
and approved a revised Remuneration 
Policy and Remuneration Policy 
Statement. This revised policy improves 
clarity and transparency of all Society 
remuneration practices.  The policy aims to 
align executive remuneration with the 
Society’s strategy and promote long-term 
sustainable success.  The committee 
considered the policy, remuneration 
practices and benefits package as a whole, 

and challenged the Society’s position given 
the difficult economic climate.   
 
Continuing the benchmarking work, the 
committee reviewed the positioning of 
salaries across the Society and considered 
how best to support those most in need. 
The Society further increased the salaries 
for specific job roles during the year and 
the committee expects to continue this 
work over the coming years. This will 
ensure that the Society is able to reward 
valued employees and attract and retain 
high calibre individuals. The Society carried 
out an external salary benchmarking 
exercise during the year, and expects to 
undertake this every three years. 
 
As part of the annual performance review, 
the committee agreed a bonus pool for all 
staff, including the executive directors, 
based on the performance of the Society 
against its objectives during the year. 
Bonuses will be distributed in March 2024 
and allocated to staff according to each 
individual’s performance against agreed 
balanced scorecard objectives and 
behaviours. The amount of the bonus to be 
distributed is solely at the discretion of the 
Remuneration Committee. The 
committee’s view is that the scale of the 
bonus payment is unlikely to lead to any 
behavioural risks that can arise from 
target-based incentive plans. 
 
The Society’s remuneration processes are 
aligned to the Society’s long-term business 
strategy, objectives, and risk appetite, and 
are consistent with the interests of the 
Society’s members, encouraging a good 
culture and appropriate behaviours, and 
contributing to the long-term success of 
the Society. The Society must attract and 
retain high calibre individuals to fulfil 
member requirements, who must be fairly 
rewarded for directing, managing, and 
working within its branches and 
departments. 
 
An internal effectiveness review, 
conducted in November 2023, concluded 
that the Remuneration Committee 
operated effectively and that committee 
members had a sufficient balance of skills 
and experience. 
 
The committee’s considerations include 
the following remuneration 
documentation and matters: 

• Review and approve the Society 
Remuneration Policy 

 

• Ensure remuneration practices align 
with the Society strategy, purpose 
and values 

 

• Receive updates on the Society 
people strategy 
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• Receive and review Society 
benchmarking and pay gap analysis 

 

• Review annual pay rewards 
 

• Review variable rewards and 
distributions of the Society bonus 
scheme 

 

• Receive and review the Remuneration 
Code staff and Material Risk Takers 
report prepared by the Governance, 
Risk and Compliance function. 

Further details of the Society’s 
remuneration practices can be found 
in the separate Remuneration 
Committee’s report on page 25.

 
 

 

 
 

 

Board and committee membership attendance record 
The number of scheduled Board and committee meetings attended by each director, as a member, during the year is shown below. 
The figures in brackets represent the number of meetings each director was eligible to attend.  

 

 
 
*Not a member of this committee. 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Board 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Colin Franklin 
Chair 
9 February 2024 
 
 

Board

Nominations 

and Governance Remuneration

Audit and 

Compliance Risk

Colin Franklin (Chair) 11(12) 4(4) 5(5) * *

Colin Fyfe (Chief Executive) 12(12) * * * *

Geneane Bell (resigned 28 March 2023) 4(4) * 3(3) * 1(1)

Barry Carter (Chief Operating Officer) 12(12) * * * *

Rebecca Griffin (Chief Risk Officer) 9(12) * * * *

John Mulvey (Chief Financial Officer) 11(12) * * * *

Barbara Taeed 12(12) * 5(5) * 6(6)

Gary Wilkinson 11(12) * * 6(6) 6(6)

Lynda Blackwell (appointed 29 March 2023) 8(8) 3(3) 2(2) * *

John Lowe (appointed 1 Dec 2022) 11(12) * * 6(6) 6(6)

David Woodward (resigned 28 March 2023) 4(4) 1(1) * 2(2) *

Nemone Wynn-Evans 12(12) 4(4) * 6(6) *
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This report supplements the 
information provided on the 
committee’s activities in the 
Corporate Governance report on 
page 15. The report provides 
further details of the committee’s 
terms of reference and its work 
undertaken during the year, 
particularly in relation to the 
external auditor, financial 
reporting, and the internal auditor. 
 
The committee’s terms of reference 
include the following responsibilities: 

• To make recommendations to the 
Board, for it to put to the members 
for their approval in a general 
meeting, in relation to the 
appointment of the external auditor; 

• To approve the remuneration and 
terms of engagement of the external 
auditor; 

• To review and monitor the external 
auditor’s independence and 
objectivity and the effectiveness of 
the audit process; 

• To implement policy on the 
engagement of the external auditor 
to supply non-audit services; 

• To monitor the integrity of the 
financial statements of the Society 
and any formal announcements 
relating to the Society’s financial 
performance, reviewing significant 
financial reporting judgements 
contained in them; 

• To review the Society’s internal 
financial controls and internal control 
systems; 

• To monitor and review the 
effectiveness of the Society’s internal 
audit function and to appoint and 
remove internal auditors, as 
appropriate; 

• To monitor and review the 
effectiveness of the Society’s 
compliance monitoring function; 

• To report to the Board on how it has 
discharged its responsibilities. 

 
The committee meets at least five time per 
year, with one meeting dedicated to the 
review and approval of the Annual Report 
& Accounts. The Society Chair, executive 
directors and representatives from 
external audit and internal audit and the 
Society’s compliance monitoring function 
attend by invitation. The committee meets 
with representatives of external audit and 
internal audit without management at 
least once per year. 
The committee undertakes a detailed 
annual self-assessment and evaluation 
process, which also evaluates specific 
aspects of the external audit and internal 
audit services received. The assessment is 

completed by the committee’s members, 
executive directors and representatives 
from external audit and internal audit. The 
assessment is used by the committee to 
inform its review of the effectiveness of 
the service provider and audit quality. 
 

External auditor 

The Society’s external auditor, Mazars LLP, 
was first appointed for the financial year 
ended 30 November 2022. 
 
The committee is responsible for 
overseeing the Society’s relationship with 
the external auditor including 
appointment and tendering, terms of 
engagement and remuneration, 
assessment of independence and the 
annual audit cycle. 
 
At the start of the annual audit cycle, the 
committee undertakes a review of the 
audit strategy put forward by the external 
auditor and receives a formal report on 
conclusion of the audit, including details of 
any significant control deficiencies brought 
to its attention. 
 
The committee is responsible for 
monitoring the performance, objectivity 
and independence of the external auditor, 
ensuring the policy on provision of non-
audit services by the external auditor is 
strictly applied. During the year, the 
external auditor was engaged to provide 
non-audit services in relation only to its 
work required by legislation to confirm 
that the Summary Financial Statement was 
consistent with the full annual account and 
conformed with the requirements of the 
Building Societies Act 1986 (the ‘Act’) and 
that the Society’s section 68 Statement 
contained the requisite particulars as 
required by the Act. 
 
As noted above, the committee uses a 
formal annual assessment that evaluates 
specific aspects of the external audit 
process. The formal report received from 
the external auditor on conclusion of the 
audit includes their confirmation of 
independence from the Society. 
 
Details of the fees paid to the external 
auditor for audit and non-audit services 
are set out in note 7 of the accounts. 

Financial reporting 
The significant issues that the Audit and 
Compliance Committee considered in 
relation to the Annual Report and 
Accounts were: 
 

• the appropriateness of the 
accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of the accounts; 

 

• the appropriateness of the adoption 
of the going concern basis in the 
preparation of the accounts; 

 

• the impairment provisioning 

methodology for loans and advances 

to customers. The committee 

reviewed the key assumptions and 

judgements contained within the 

Society’s impairment provision 

model, including probability of 

default and loss given default 

calculations for both individual and 

collective impairment assessments, 

the appropriateness of overlays 

applied to the model in respect of the 

impact of the high inflation and 

interest rate economic environment 

on the Society’s mortgage loans, and 

the related disclosures in the 

accounts. As part of the review, the 

committee considered the low level 

of impairment data available, the 

quality of the underlying mortgage 

loans and the overall level of the 

impairment provision; 
 

• the appropriateness of the estimates 

and accounting treatment of interest 

income. Interest income on mortgage 

loans and related fees received and 

paid are calculated using the effective 

interest method. The committee 

reviewed the approach taken, 

including the estimation of the 

expected mortgage product lives and 

expected early redemption charge 

receipts based on actual customer 

behaviour and management 

judgement; 

 

• the appropriateness of the use of 

hedge accounting in respect of 

interest rate swaps used to hedge 

fixed rate mortgage and savings 

products against changes in interest 

rates; and 
 

• the appropriateness of the carrying 
value of the defined benefit pension 
scheme obligation and surplus, based 
on assumptions and advice received 
from an independent actuary. 
 

 

   Audit and Compliance Committee’s report  
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The committee undertook a 
comprehensive review of the Annual 
Report and Accounts with a focus on 
ensuring that appropriate weight is given 
to bad news as well as good, the 
description of the business model, the 
strategy, risks and performance is 
appropriate, the disclosed risks are 
genuinely the principal risks the Board are 
concerned about, and that important 
policies, judgements, transactions and 
significant changes from prior periods are 
highlighted. The committee concluded 
that there were no material adjustments 
required to the accounts. 
 

Internal auditor 
Deloitte LLP provides the Society’s 
outsourced internal audit function. 
 
The committee approves internal audit’s 
proposed annual audit plan and reviews it 
at each meeting to ensure it remains 
focused on the significant risks to which 
the Society is exposed and covers the key 
areas of the business over a five year cycle. 
 
At each committee meeting, internal audit 
reports completed in the period are 
reviewed and management’s responses 
and timescales for remedial work 
challenged. 
 
In accordance with the Chartered Institute 
of Internal Audit’s (CIIA) recommendations 
on “Effective Internal Audit in the Financial 
Services sector” the internal auditors 
present an annual report to the 
committee, setting out their conclusion on 
the effectiveness of the control 
environment. This report, along with those 
from management and other evidence, is 
used to inform the committee’s 
assessment of the effectiveness of the 
control environment. 
 
The committee undertook an effectiveness 
review of internal audit during the year, 
which informed the committee’s view of 
the internal audit process, audit quality, 
and the independence and adequacy of 
resourcing of internal audit during the 
period covered by the annual audit plan.  
 
 
On behalf of the Audit and Compliance 
Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 

John Lowe 
Chair of the Committee 
9 February 2024 
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This report details the Society’s 
approach to remuneration for the 
period 1 December 2022 to 30 
November 2023. It sets out the 
Remuneration Policy and 
remuneration details for the 
executive and non-executive 
directors of the Society.  Further 
disclosure details under the 
Remuneration Code can be found in 
the Pillar 3 document on the Society 
website. 
 

Details of directors’ remuneration 
can be found in note 9 of the 
accounts and provides, for our 
members, details of the basic 
salary, variable pay and benefits 
earned by directors in the year to 30 
November 2023. Details of the 
Remuneration Policy applied to 
directors are set out below. 
 

Policy for non-executive directors 
Non-executive director fees are reviewed 
annually by the Chair of the Board and the 
Chief Executive. This review is based on 
comparable data from other building 
societies and similar financial service 
organisations, and performance reviews. 
No director or individual is involved in 
setting their own remuneration. 
Remuneration comprises a basic fee, with 
supplementary payments for committee 
Chairs. Non-executive director fees are not 
pensionable, and the individuals do not 
participate in any incentive schemes or 
receive any other benefits. The 
remuneration of the Chair of the Board is 
reviewed on an annual basis by the 
committee, without the Chair present, 
again using comparable external data. All 
non-executive directors have formal 
contracts of service. All new appointments 
are subject to a notice period of three 
months. 
 

Policy for executive directors  
The remuneration for executive directors 
reflects responsibilities and roles within 
the Society. The overall policy of the Board, 
as recommended by the committee, is set 
out below: 
 

• the remuneration of executive 
directors (consisting of basic salary, 
performance related bonus, pension 
arrangements and other benefits) 
should be competitive with those of 
other comparable organisations in the 
financial sector, in order to attract and 
retain high calibre individuals with the 

necessary skills and experience for the 
Society to succeed; 

 

• the Society operates a low bonus 
culture, with bonuses payable against 
the achievement of both Society and 
individual objectives. The Society 
operates a balanced scorecard 
approach regarding measuring 
performance under four key pillars of 
member and community, people, 
excellence and financial. These are all 
underpinned by the Society’s risk, 
culture and values, to encourage and 
reward against a broad range of key 
metrics that are in the long term 
interests of the Society’s members and 
other stakeholders; 

 

• performance reviews of the executive 
directors should be carried out at least 
annually, to assess their performance in 
meeting individual and strategic 
objectives; 

 

• the committee treats any departing 
executive directors fairly, and is careful 
to consider the interests of members 
and ensure that there are no rewards 
for failure; and 

 

• executive directors are entitled to be 
paid their basic salary and contractual 
benefits (including pension 
contributions) during their notice 
period. The Society has the discretion to 
pay these as a lump sum payment in lieu 
of notice.  

 
The Chief Executive is the Society’s highest 
paid employee, and no employee earns 
more than any executive director.  
 

Basic salary  
The executive directors receive a basic 
salary, in line with the policy detailed 
above, which recognises individual 
development and progression. 
 

Performance related bonus 
The executive directors are eligible for a 
non-pensionable performance bonus, in 
line with the policy detailed above. As a 
mutual organisation, the Society has no 
share option scheme. 
 

Pension  

Executive directors were eligible to 
participate in the Society’s defined 
contribution pension plan, which is offered 
to all employees. The Society makes 
contributions to the scheme of 14.25% of 
pensionable salary, with the cost 
equivalent to 4% of pensionable salary 

recovered through a salary sacrifice 
scheme.  
 

• Colin Fyfe, Chief Executive, opted to 
receive cash alternatives in lieu of 
pension contributions equivalent to 
9% of basic salary. 

 

• John Mulvey, Chief Financial Officer, 
opted to receive cash alternatives in 
lieu of pension contributions 
equivalent to 9% of basic salary. 

 
The rate of pension contribution from the 
Society differs between the executive 
directors and the other employees, in that 
executive directors on appointment 
receive the level of contributions for an 
employee with 10 years’ service, which is 
not in line with the most recent corporate 
governance guidelines. The contributions 
paid are benchmarked against other 
organisations and the committee is 
satisfied that the total reward is set at a 
level which allows the Society to attract a 
high quality of employees at all levels. 
 

Other benefits 
Each executive director is provided with 
private medical insurance, group life cover 
of four x basic annual salary and a 
healthcare cash plan scheme. 
 

Service contracts 
The general policy for appointments at 
executive director level includes a 
contractual notice period of six months. 
The Chief Executive was required to give a 
notice period of 12 months, however this 
is now aligned to the other executive 
directors at six months. 
 

Member consultation 
The committee takes into account any 
feedback given by members. Members are 
invited to vote on the annual Directors’ 
Remuneration report. 
 
On behalf of the Remuneration committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Barbara Taeed 
Chair of the Committee 
9 February 2024
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Colin Franklin 
Chair 
Colin joined the Society in July 2015 as a non-executive member of the Board and was appointed 
Chair in March 2016. Having worked at building societies for 42 years, he has a wealth of expertise 
and experience in the sector. 
 
Colin lives in the Rugby area and his most recent role was as interim Chief Executive at Coventry 
Building Society, where he had been a Board member since 2008. 
 
During his 35-year career at the Coventry, Colin had many roles including sales and marketing 
director and managing director of its subsidiary lender, Godiva Mortgages. 

Anthony Alexander 
Non-Executive Director 
Tony joined the Society as a non-executive director in December 2023. He qualified as a Chartered 

Accountant at Grant Thornton, Coventry. He spent 30 years of his career at Nationwide Building 

Society in a variety of senior Finance, Risk, Audit and Business roles. 

Tony is also a trustee for the charity Homeless Oxfordshire that provides accommodation and 
support for homeless people. 

   Meet the Board of Directors 

Barry Carter 
Chief Executive Officer 
Barry joined the Society in July 2022 as Chief Operating Officer and was appointed Chief Executive 
Officer, subject to regulatory approval, in January 2024. He has 20 years of experience in private and 
retail banking and previously held a position as Chief Operating Officer at HSBC Private Bank. Barry 
is a Chartered Certified Accountant, Chartered Banker and is a Member of the Chartered Institute 
for Securities and Investments.   
 
 

Lynda Blackwell 
Non-Executive Director 
Lynda joined the Society as a non-executive director in March 2023. 
 
After qualifying as a solicitor, Lynda began a career in the mortgage sector that has spanned more 
than 35 years. She started in private practice advising retail banks, then moved into the building 
society sector, before spending 16 years at the financial services regulator, the FCA, in a variety of 
legal and policy-related roles.  
 
For the last six and a half years, Lynda has been a consultant and non-executive director for fintech 
businesses, using her extensive regulatory experience and knowledge of the financial services 
industry to support good innovation and best practice, staying closely involved in the continuing 
evolution of the market. 
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John Mulvey 
Chief Financial Officer 
John joined the Society in March 2020 as Chief Financial Officer. He has over 20 years of experience 
in the financial services sector, having previously worked for Melton Mowbray Building Society, 
where he was the Deputy Chief Executive and Finance Director for 10 years. He is a chartered 
accountant, having trained and qualified at KPMG, working within their financial services team 
auditing banks and building societies. 
 
His role at Hinckley & Rugby involves leading the finance and treasury functions, with responsibility 
for financial and regulatory reporting, and managing the Society’s liquidity, funding and capital 
positions. He chairs the Assets and Liabilities Committee. 

Rebecca Griffin 
Chief Risk Officer  
Rebecca joined the Society in 2013, having qualified and worked as a Chartered accountant with 
KPMG, Grant Thornton and NFU Mutual. During her time at Hinckley & Rugby Building Society, she 
has led the creation and embedding of the independent second line within the Society, becoming 
Chief Risk Officer in July 2020 and joining the Board in July 2022.  She is responsible for risk 
management and compliance at the Society and chairs the Conduct & Operational Risk Committee. 
 
She was part of the first cohort of the BSA/Loughborough University Masters in Leadership and 
Management and, since qualifying, now sits on the Advisory Panel for the course. Rebecca is also a 
Trustee for a local charity, Hinckley Ladies Circle, a Girlguiding Leader and has lived in Hinckley for 
over 10 years. 

John Lowe 
Non-Executive Director 
John joined the Society in December 2022 as a non-executive director. He is a member of the Audit 
and Compliance Committee and the Risk Committee.  
 
Along with over 25 years’ experience of working in financial services, John also brings a wealth of 
experience as a Board director. After qualifying as a Chartered Accountant with Deloitte, John 
worked for retail banks, specialist lenders and within the building society sector. He spent 10 years 
at Coventry Building Society in roles including Head of Credit Risk, Head of Product Development 
and seven years as the Group Finance Director.  
 
He is currently a non-executive director at Redwood Bank and Chair at Primis, the mortgage and 
protection insurance intermediary network. 

Manuela Pifani  
Non-Executive Director  
Manuela joins the Society as a non-executive director in March 2024. 
 
After graduating in Italy, Manuela moved to the UK and began a career focused on customer 
experience and transformation that has spanned more than 25 years. She started in the financial 
services sector, leading Customer Experience functions in Barclays, RBS/Natwest and Direct Line 
Group, before moving into the retail sector with Kingfisher and ASDA.  
  
For six years, Manuela has been a consultant and thought-leader, using her extensive experience 
and knowledge of the continuously evolving consumer market to help organisations across sectors 
to improve their customer experience to drive loyalty and increase profitability. She also volunteers 
as a member of the Board of directors for the not-for-profit Customer Institute. 
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Barbara Taeed 
Non-Executive Director 
Barbara joined the Society as a non-executive director in March 2017. She is currently the Chair of 
the Remuneration Committee and is the Society’s Senior Independent Director. 
 
She is a qualified Risk Manager and in addition to her role at HRBS leads an academic Think Tank 
which specialises in the measurement and transaction of non-financial values and the use of new 
technology to enhance this, including artificial intelligence, web3 and digital currencies. 
 
Prior to joining HRBS, Barbara worked at the heart of the UK’s banking infrastructure at the not-for-
profit UK Payments as Director of Payments Integrity and Security. 

Gary Wilkinson 
Non-Executive Director  
Gary joined the Society as a non-executive director in December 2014 and is currently Chair of the 
Risk Committee. He is a qualified chartered accountant and has extensive experience within 
financial services, in both the building society and banking sectors. 
 
He was a divisional director at both Alliance & Leicester plc and Nationwide Building Society, where 
as Managing Director of Regional Brands he had responsibility and accountability for the newly 
merged Derbyshire, Cheshire and subsequently Dunfermline building societies. 
 
He then became an executive board director at Newcastle Building Society, in the capacity of 
Finance Director, before joining the Leicester based Pensions Bank as Chief Executive Officer. The 
undertaking and assets of Pensions Bank were transferred to Cambridge & Counties Bank, a newly 
formed challenger bank also headquartered in Leicester, where Gary also served as Chief Executive 
Officer until October 2014. 
 
Since April 2017 he has been the Chief Executive Officer, and is the Co-Founder of Redwood Bank 
Limited, a specialist bank focused on small and medium-sized enterprises in the UK. 

Nemone Wynn-Evans 
Non-Executive Director 
Nemone joined the Society as a non-executive director in March 2017. She currently chairs the 
Nominations & Governance Committee and is the Society’s Vice Chair. 
 
Her background is in the equity capital markets sector of the City of London, including as a former 
Finance Director on the main board of a stock exchange, having begun her career in corporate 
finance and broking. 
 
She also holds other non-executive positions as Chair of a mutual friendly society in the savings & 
insurance sector, at a renewable energy company (where she chairs the Audit & Risk Committee) 
and at a Venture Capital Trust investing in small, growing companies. 
 
Nemone lives in Warwickshire, is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Securities and Investment 
and holds an MBA from Cranfield School of Management. 

   Meet the Board of Directors continued 
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The directors are pleased to present 
their Annual Report and Accounts 
for the year ended 30 November 
2023. 
 
Business objectives 
The principal purpose of the Society is that 
of making loans which are secured on 
residential property and are funded 
substantially by its members. The primary 
business objectives are to continue to 
promote savings and home ownership 
through competitive rates of interest and 
high quality service. 
 

Business review 
A full review of business performance, 
including key performance indicators, can 
be found within the Chief Executive’s 
report on page 5 and the Chief Financial 
Officer’s report on page 8. The Chief 
Financial Officer’s report includes details 
of gross capital, free capital and mortgage 
arrears levels.  
 

Financial risk management 
objectives and policies 
The Board has implemented a risk 
management framework to mitigate the 
financial and operational risks to which it is 
exposed. 

The framework comprises a risk focused 
governance structure, risk appetite 
statements, risk management policies, and 
procedures for the identification, 
measurement and reporting of risks within 
defined risk limits. 
 
The Board has established sub-committees 
to assist in the implementation and 
monitoring of the risk management 
framework, including the Audit and 
Compliance Committee, Risk Committee, 
Nominations and Governance Committee 
and Remuneration Committee. In addition, 
the Society operates executive 
committees with risk management 
responsibilities, including the Executive 
Committee, which reports directly to the 
Board, and the Assets and Liabilities 
Committee (ALCO), Conduct and 
Operational Risk Committee (CORC) and 
Credit Committee, which report to the Risk 
Committee. Details of each Board 
committee are set out in the Corporate 
Governance report and the responsibilities 
of the executive committees are noted 
below within the Principal Risks and 
Uncertainties section. 

Principal risks and uncertainties 
The Society seeks to understand and 
manage the various risks that arise from its 
operations. The current adverse economic 
conditions are impacting individuals and 
businesses, including the Society, and have 
increased the Society’s risk profile. High 
levels of inflation and interest rates result 
in increased credit, operational and 
financial risks, and these are being closely 
monitored and managed by the Board. The 
most material impact on the Society 
relates to credit risk and details of this are 
disclosed in the Chief Financial Officer’s 
report on pages 8 to 11 and in note 28 
(c)(ii) of the accounts. 
 
The principal risks facing the Society and 
the procedures put in place to manage 
them are described below. 

   

Principal Risk Mitigants  

Retail credit risk 
This is the risk of loss arising from 
borrowing members failing to 
meet the contractual obligations 
of their loan. 

Retail credit risk is controlled by a Board approved risk appetite statement and a Lending Policy that is regularly reviewed 
by the Credit Committee and the Risk Committee, with changes approved by the Board. The policy is translated into 
lending criteria and procedures, which seek to ensure that members only assume a debt that they can afford to repay and 
the value of the security property is sufficient to support each loan, thereby safeguarding both themselves and the Society. 
 
All mortgages are manually underwritten in accordance with the Lending Policy and lending criteria to assess the credit 
quality of the customer, their ongoing ability to afford their mortgage repayments and the value of the Society’s security. 
 
Should members find themselves in financial difficulty, the Society has established procedures to support our members 
and provide them with a personalised plan designed to help get their mortgage back on track. 
 
Possession is always a last resort and will only be pursued if agreement with a borrower to return them to an affordable 
and sustainable position or an alternative mortgage exit strategy, such as voluntary sale, cannot be reached. 
 
Whether the Society incurs a loss from possession is dependent on the value realised from the security property. The 
Society monitors the impact of house price movements by carrying out stress testing of its mortgage book to take account 
of actual and projected movements in house price indices on the expected value of any properties taken into possession. 
 
Further details of the Society’s approach to retail credit risk are given in note 28 (c)(ii) of the accounts. Details of the 
Society’s members who are one month or more in arrears are given in the Chief Financial Officer’s report on pages 8 to 
11. An analysis of the Society’s impairment provision against loans and advances to customers is reported in note 16 of 
the accounts. 
 

Treasury counterparty 
credit risk 
This is the risk of loss arising from 
a treasury counterparty being 
unable to meet their financial 
obligations to the Society.  

 

 
 

A Board approved risk appetite statement and the Financial Risk Management Policy set out the types of financial 
instrument the Society can hold and the counterparties the Society can invest with, along with applicable asset class, 
sector, and counterparty limits. The policy is regularly reviewed by ALCO and the Risk Committee, with changes approved 
by the Board. 
 
Treasury counterparty exposures and related limits are monitored by ALCO each month. The Society’s liquid assets are 
held on deposit with the Bank of England and UK banks and building societies, reducing the level of counterparty risk to 
which the Society is exposed. 
 
The Society has no provisions for impairment against any treasury counterparties. Further details of the Society’s approach 
to treasury counterparty risk are given in note 28 (c)(i) of the accounts. 

 

   Directors’ report 
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Principal Risk Mitigants  

Strategic risk 
This is the risk of loss and the 
impact on capital arising from the 
Society’s agreed strategy or failure 
to achieve planned objectives. It 
can be caused by competitive 
pressures, deteriorations in the 
economy, or changes to 
legislation. The risk has the 
potential to impact the underlying 
profitability and capital adequacy 
of the Society required to keep the 
business viable. 

 

The Board mitigates this risk by preparing a business plan that it believes to be robust and achievable, and by stress 
testing this plan to assess the impact of various adverse market conditions and other scenarios. In all stressed 
conditions, the Society aims to ensure that its capital and funding positions remain strong and that its performance 
remains within the boundaries specified within its stated risk appetite. 
 
This risk is also mitigated through the Society’s ongoing strategy to ensure that it operates in sectors of the market 
where it has the expertise and the customer franchise to be able to price its products appropriately. Pricing 
decisions on all mortgage and savings products are individually assessed to ensure they are consistent with the 
Society’s overall profitability objectives, promoting the sustainability of the Society for the benefit of its members. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Liquidity risk and Funding 
risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the 
Society does not have sufficient 
financial resources to meet its 
liabilities as they fall due or can 
secure them only at an excessive 
cost. 
 
Funding risk is the risk that the 
Society is unable to obtain stable 
funding to achieve its business 
objectives or can secure them only 
at an excessive cost. 

A Board approved risk appetite statement and the Financial Risk Management Policy set out liquidity risk limits, 
and these are regularly reviewed by ALCO and the Risk Committee, with changes approved by the Board. The policy 
sets out the permissible financial instruments in which the Society can invest, and the minimum liquidity 
requirements as determined by the Society’s Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (ILAAP). The policy 
aims to maintain liquid assets at all times that are adequate, both as to quantity and quality, to ensure that there 
is no significant risk that its liabilities cannot be met as they fall due both in normal and stressed scenarios, to 
smooth out the effect of maturity mismatches between assets and liabilities, and to maintain the highest level of 
public confidence in the Society. 
 
The Society holds liquid assets on deposit with the Bank of England and large UK clearing banks that are realisable 
at very short notice. These holdings are monitored daily. 
 
The Society forecasts its cash flows under normal conditions, taking account of expected inflows and outflows of 
funds from mortgage advances and repayments, and retail and wholesale funding sources. The Society also 
undertakes regular stress testing that models cash outflows under stressed conditions. The results of the forecasts 
and stress tests are monitored by ALCO each month and are used to determine the minimum liquidity requirement. 
Details of how the Society manages liquidity risk are given in note 28 (d) of the accounts. 
 
The Financial Risk Management Policy details the risk limits used by the Society to maintain a prudent funding mix, 
maturity profile, and encumbrance level. The Society’s funding profile and position against limits are monitored by 
ALCO each month. 
 
 
 

Interest rate risk 
This is the risk of reductions in net 
interest margin arising from 
unfavourable movements in 
interest rates due to:  
 

• Mismatches between the 
dates on which interest 
receivable on assets and 
interest payable on liabilities 
are reset to market rates (re-
pricing risk); and  

 

• The re-pricing of assets and 
liabilities according to 
different interest bases (basis 
risk). 

 

A Board approved risk appetite statement and the Financial Risk Management Policy set out liquidity risk limits, 
and these are regularly reviewed by ALCO and the Risk Committee, with changes approved by the Board. 
 
The Society’s policy is to manage its exposure to interest rate risk within approved limits set within the Financial 
Risk Management Policy. 
 
Interest rate re-pricing risk and basis risk are mitigated through a combination of matching assets and liabilities 
with offsetting interest rate characteristics and using derivative financial instruments, including interest rate swaps. 
 
ALCO monitors interest rate risk positions each month. Further details of how the Society manages interest rate 
risk, including risk management objectives and policies, the Society’s use of derivatives for hedging purposes and 
interest rate sensitivity analysis, are given in note 28 (e) of the accounts. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Conduct risk 
This is the risk of detrimental 
outcomes to customers arising 
throughout the lifecycle of the 
Society’s products due to 
inadequate processes. 
 
 

 

 

A Board approved risk appetite statement and Conduct Risk Policy document the Society’s commitment and 
approach to ensuring that customers are treated fairly and that regulatory requirements and best practice 
guidance from the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) are met. This includes building the needs of vulnerable 
customers into processes and the Society’s culture. The Society has implemented the FCA’s Consumer Duty 
regulations required to date and, in line with the regulatory timetable, will complete this work during 2024.  
 
Management information measuring conduct risk and consumer outcomes are reviewed monthly by CORC, which 
reports to the Board, ensuring visibility of any customer detriment and that adequate controls are implemented. 
 
 
 

Directors’ report continued 
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Principal Risk Mitigants  

Operational risk and 
Operational resilience 
This is the risk of loss arising from 
inadequate or failed internal 
processes, people and systems, or 
external events. It includes risks 
arising from cyber, change 
management, data loss, use of 
models, third parties, products, 
laws and regulations and financial 
crime. 
 
Operational resilience is the 
Society’s ability to maintain 
important business services in the 
event of adverse internal or 
external events. 

These risks are managed within a Board approved risk appetite statement as an integral part of the Society’s operations. 
The Society’s management has responsibility for assessing operational risks within each business area and implementing 
appropriate policies, procedures and mitigating controls. The effectiveness of the controls is considered by CORC, with 
oversight by the Risk Committee. 
 
An Information Security Policy, approved by the Risk Committee, sets out the framework for mitigating cyber security 
risks. The Society recognises the increased threat of cyber-attacks being faced across the financial sector in general and 
continues to ensure that it has an appropriate capability to detect and respond to cyber security issues effectively, 
safeguarding the organisation, and members’ data and savings. 
 
A Change Management Policy, approved by the Risk Committee, is in place to reduce the risks arising from change across 
the Society. The Executive Committee provides oversight over the change agenda and ensures that approved projects 
contribute to the agreed business objectives, sufficient resources are available to complete each project, project risks are 
raised and appropriately addressed, and post-implementation reviews are undertaken so that the Society benefits from 
any lessons learned. 
 
A Third-Party and Outsourcing Policy, approved by the Risk Committee, sets out the framework through which third parties 
are managed. The policy requires evaluations for all new suppliers against set criteria and regular on-going assessments 
to ensure standards are adhered to. Regular management information is monitored on the performance of key suppliers. 
 
An Anti-Money Laundering Policy, approved by the Board, along with procedures and monitoring systems, provide the 
Society’s framework for mitigating financial crime. Staff training is undertaken to prevent, deter and detect financial crime, 
and promote a culture that supports its prevention and detection. The Society’s Money Laundering Reporting Officer 
(MLRO) is responsible for promoting adherence to the policies and procedures, and ensuring all staff understand and 
comply with the applicable regulations and their individual responsibilities. 
 
Compliance with other laws and regulations is monitored by CORC, with oversight from the Audit and Compliance 
Committee. Policy statements are in place and reviewed annually for key regulations, including data protection and health 
and safety. 
 
To ensure the Society is operationally resilient, business impact assessments have been undertaken to identify and map 
important business services and set specific impact tolerances that are consistent with the Board’s risk appetite for 
operational risk. Management ensures that adequate procedures, resources and contingency plans are in place to adhere 
to the set impact tolerances, and these are assessed using different scenario tests. 
 
Management information relating to operational risk and resilience, the occurrence of risk events and near misses, as well 
as actions taken in response to such events, is monitored by CORC each month, with a summary provided to the Board. 
 

Climate change risk 
This is the risk of loss arising from 
the impact of climate change on 
the Society’s assets, and the risk to 
the environment directly from the 
Society’s own emissions. 

 

Climate change presents a combination of risks to the Society that require management and mitigation. The Society has 
identified potential exposures to both physical risks and transition risks in respect of climate change. 
 
Physical risks relate to the potential impacts of the increased frequency of weather events, such as floods, storms and 
wildfires, and longer-term changes in the climate, such as rising sea levels. The physical risks that are particularly relevant 
to the Society have been identified as: 

• Increased severity and frequency of flooding; and 

• Rising sea levels impacting coastal communities. 
 
Both these risks have the potential to cause reductions in security property values and increased insurance premiums, 
impacting borrower affordability, for borrowers in areas prone to flooding. 
 
Transition risks reflect the potential impact from the process of moving to a carbon neutral economy and include changes 
in government policy, technological advances, and consumer behaviour. The transition risks that are particularly relevant 
to the Society have been identified as: 

• Changes required to security properties, particularly relating to those low energy efficiency standards that may 
require substantial investment to meet future standards. 

• Borrowers employed in non-climate friendly occupations or industries may experience a reduction in income 
as the economy adjusts to a carbon neutral future. 

 
The transition risks identified have the potential to cause reductions in security property values and reductions in 
borrower affordability. 
 
The Society has a climate change strategy to respond to the financial risks arising from climate change and this has been 
approved by the Board, with responsibility for climate change risk allocated to the Chief Executive. Assessments 
undertaken of security property values with a potential high risk of flooding or low energy efficiency indicate minimal risk 
exposure at present. Further assessments of other risks and enhancements to data held are being undertaken to improve 
the Society’s risk assessment. 
 
The Society continued to track its own scope 1 and 2 emissions during the year, relating to those arising from owned 
vehicles and electricity and gas usage. These are used to track the Society’s own carbon footprint and to monitor the 
impact of actions taken to reduce emissions. 
 
The Society continues to monitor the regulatory landscape in relation to climate change to assess the impacts of any 
changes. 
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Creditor payment policy 
For all trade creditors it is the Society’s 
policy to agree the terms of payment at the 
start of trading with that supplier and to 
pay in accordance with its contractual and 
other legal obligations. 
 
The creditor days were 8 days at 30 
November 2023 (2022: 6 days). 
 

Land and buildings 
At the year-end, the Society's fixed assets 
included land and buildings with a net 
book value of £3.20m. The directors 
estimate that these assets have a market 
value of £2.25m. The directors are satisfied 
that the value in use of these assets 
exceeds their net book value. 
 

Donations and sponsorship 
During the year the Society provided 
£29,594 of charitable donations and 
sponsorship (2022: £48,655), mainly to 
local organisations. There were no 
donations for political purposes. 
 

Directors 
The following members served as directors 
of the Society during the year: 
 

 
 
Colin Fyfe resigned as a director with effect 
from 26 January 2024. Colin Franklin and 
Gary Wilkinson have given notice of their 
intention to retire as directors with effect 
from 26 March 2024. All other directors 
will retire and being eligible will offer 
themselves for re-election in accordance 
with the rules, at the Annual General 
Meeting in 2024. 
 

Antony Alexander was appointed as a non-
executive director of the Society on 1 
December 2023. Manuela Pifani has been 
appointed as a non-executive director of 
the Society with effect from 27 March 
2024. Both Anthony and Manuela will 
stand for election at the Annual General 
Meeting in 2024. 
 
At the end of the financial year, none of the 
directors held an interest in the shares or 
debentures of any connected undertaking. 

Going concern 
The directors have prepared forecasts for 
a period of at least twelve months from the 
date of approval of the accounts, of the 
Society’s profitability, capital, funding and 
liquidity positions, that take account of the 
Society’s current position and principal 
risks as set out in this Directors’ report. 
 
Forecasts have also been prepared to 
assess the impact on the Society’s business 
and its profitability, capital, funding and 
liquidity positions of operating under 
plausible downside stressed conditions. 
The stressed conditions include a 
prolonged severe economic downturn, 
involving a slowdown in the housing 
market, reducing mortgage market 
volumes and reducing house prices, a rise 
in unemployment increasing arrears and 
possession levels, and both rises and falls 
in interest rates. The detailed assumptions 
adopted in this scenario combine those 
used by the Bank of England, to test the 
capital adequacy of firms within the UK 
banking system, with additional firm-
specific and market-wide stresses 
impacting the Society’s income and 
expenditure. 
 
Based on these forecasts the directors are 
satisfied that the Society has adequate 
resources to continue in business for a 
period of at least twelve months from the 
date of approval of the accounts. 
Accordingly, the accounts continue to be 
prepared on a going concern basis. 
 

Independent auditor 

The independent auditor, Mazars LLP, has 
expressed a willingness to continue in 
office and a motion for their 
reappointment will be proposed at the 
Annual General Meeting. 
 
The directors who held office at the date of 
approval of this Directors’ report confirm 
that, so far as they are each aware, there is 
no relevant audit information of which the 
Society’s auditor is unaware; and each 
director has taken all the steps that they 
ought to have taken as a director to make 
themselves aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the 
Society’s auditor is aware of that 
information. 
 
On behalf of the Board 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Colin Franklin 
Chair 
9 February 2024 
 

Colin Franklin Chair

Colin Fyfe Chief Executive

Geneane Bell (retired 28 March 2023)

Lynda Blackwell 
(appointed 29 March 

2023)

Barry Carter Chief Operating Officer 

Rebecca Griffin Chief Risk Officer

John Lowe (appointed 1 Dec 2022)

John Mulvey Chief Financial Officer

Barbara Taeed

Senior Independent 

Director from 29 March 

2023

Gary Wilkinson

David Woodward 

Senior Independent 

Director until 28 March 

2023 (retired 28 March 

2023)

Nemone Wynn-

Evans
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Statement of directors’ 
responsibilities in respect of the 
Annual Report, the Strategic 
report, the Directors’ report and 
the annual accounts. 
 
The directors are responsible for preparing 
the Annual Report, the Annual Business 
Statement, the Directors’ report and the 
annual accounts, in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations. 
 
The Building Societies Act 1986 (“the Act”) 
requires the directors to prepare annual 
accounts for each financial year. Under 
that law they have elected to prepare the 
annual accounts in accordance with UK 
accounting standards and applicable law, 
including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland”. 
 
Under relevant law the directors must not 
approve the financial statements unless 
they are satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Society and of its profit or loss for that 
period. In preparing the annual accounts, 
the directors are required to: 
 

• select suitable accounting policies 
and then apply them consistently; 

 

• make judgements and estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent; 

 

• state whether applicable UK 
accounting standards, comprising FRS 
102, have been followed, subject to 
any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the annual accounts; 

 

• assess the Society’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going 
concern; and 

 

• use the going concern basis of 
accounting unless they either intend 
to liquidate the Society or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

The directors are responsible for keeping 
adequate accounting records that are 
sufficient to show and explain the Society’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the Society and enable them to ensure 
that its annual accounts comply with the 
Act. They are responsible for such internal 
control as they determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of annual accounts 
that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and have 
general responsibility for taking such steps 
as are reasonably open to them to 
safeguard the assets of the Society and to 
prevent and detect fraud and other 
irregularities.  
 
Under applicable law and regulations, the 
directors are also responsible for preparing 
a Strategic report and a Directors’ report 
that complies with that law and those 
regulations. 
 
The directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the 
corporate and financial information 
included on the Society’s website. 
Legislation in the UK governing the 
preparation and dissemination of annual 
accounts may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions. 
 
On behalf of the Board 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Colin Franklin 
Chair 
9 February 2024

   Responsibilities of the Directors 



 

Hinckley & Rugby Building Society Annual Report and Accounts 2023 

34 Governance  

 
  



 

Hinckley & Rugby Building Society Annual Report and Accounts 2023 

35 Financial Statements 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Opinion 
We have audited the annual accounts of Hinckley and Rugby Building Society (the ‘Society’) for the year ended 30 November 2023 which comprise the 
Income Statement, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Members’ Interests and 
the Cash Flow Statement and notes to the annual accounts, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  
 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 
102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 
 
In our opinion, the annual accounts: 
 
• give a true and fair view of the state of the Society’s affairs as at 30 November 2023 and of the Society’s income and expenditure for the year 

then ended; 
 
• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and 
 
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Building Societies Act 1986. 

 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the annual accounts” section of our report. We are independent of the 
Society in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the annual accounts in the UK, including the Financial Reporting 
Council’s (“FRC”) Ethical Standard as applied to public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Conclusions relating to going concern 
In auditing the annual accounts, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the annual 
accounts is appropriate.  
 
Our audit procedures to evaluate the directors’ assessment of the Society’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included 
but were not limited to: 
 
• Undertaking an initial assessment at the planning stage of the audit to identify events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 

Society’s ability to continue as a going concern; 
 
• Making enquiries of the directors to understand the period of assessment considered by them, the assumptions they considered and the 

implication of those when assessing the Society’s future financial performance; 
 
• Challenging the appropriateness of the directors’ key assumptions used in the forecasts such as net business growth, net interest margins, 

profitability, reviewing supporting and contradictory evidence in relation to these key assumptions, and assessing the directors’ consideration 
of severe but plausible scenarios. This included inspecting the Society’s most recent Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (‘ICAAP’) 
and Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (‘ILAAP’) and its reverse stress testing; 

 
• Assessing the historical accuracy and the arithmetical accuracy of forecasts prepared by the directors; 
 
• Performing sensitivity analysis by incorporating various stress scenarios to assess the impact on the capital and liquidity positions of the Society; 
 
• Considering the consistency of the directors’ forecasts with other areas of the annual accounts and our audit; and 
 
• Evaluating the appropriateness of the directors’ disclosures in the annual accounts on going concern. 
 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, 
may cast significant doubt on the Society’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the annual accounts 
are authorised for issue. 
 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report. 

 

Independent 
Auditor’s report 
To the members of Hinckley and Rugby Building Society 
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Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the annual accounts of the current 
period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had 
the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit, and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the annual accounts as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. 
 
We summarise below the key audit matters in forming our audit opinion above, together with an overview of the principal audit procedures performed 
to address each matter and our key observations arising from those procedures.  
 
These matters, together with our findings, were communicated to those charged with governance through our Audit Completion Report. 

 

Key Audit Matter How our scope addressed this matter 

Credit risk - Impairment of loans and advances to customers  
2023 - £620,000 (2022: £400,000) 
 
Refer to note 1 (principal accounting policies), note 2 (critical 
accounting estimates and judgements) and note 16 of the annual 
accounts.  
 
Credit risk is an inherently judgemental area due to the use of 
subjective assumptions and a high degree of estimation in 
arriving at the year-end provisions. The total impairment 
provision of the Society consists of individual provisions on loans 
with default indicators and a collective provision on the 
performing portfolio. 
 
Management judgement is applied in assumptions within the loss 
given default (LGD) estimate due to the Society having limited 
actual loss experience. Judgement is also applied when 
estimating the Probability of Default (PD). 
 
The impairment assessment is most sensitive to property 
collateral value adjustments within the estimation of the LGD. 
The significant assumptions relate to forced sale discounts (FSD) 
and estimate of future house price movement.  
 
The model is also sensitive to the PD assumptions. 

Our audit procedures included, but were not limited to: 
 
• Assessing the design and implementation, and testing the operating 

effectiveness, of the key controls in relation to credit processes (loan 
origination and approval, loan redemptions and arrears monitoring, 
forbearance and curing); 

 

• Assessing the Society’s impairment methodology against the applicable 
standards; 

 

• Assessing the reasonableness and relevance of external data used in the 
provisioning model based on our understanding of the Society’s 
portfolio; 

 

• Comparing the Society’s key assumptions with similar lenders and 
considering whether they are consistent with industry practice; 

 

• Challenging the reasonableness of the future house price movement 
overlay applied in determining the present value of the future cash flows 
from defaulted loans; 

 

• Developing an auditor’s range estimate of the collective provision using 
reasonable alternative assumptions relevant to the Society’s portfolio; 

 

• Performing credit file reviews on a sample of exposures within the 
collective and individual provisions; and 

 

• Assessing the adequacy of the Society’s disclosures in relation to the 
degree of estimation uncertainty involved in arriving at the provision for 
impairment losses on loans and advances to customers. 

 
Our observations 
Based on the audit procedures performed, we found the resulting estimate of the 
loan impairment provision to be reasonable and in compliance with IAS 39. 
 

Valuation of the defined benefit pension scheme obligation 
2023 - £18,305,000 (2022: £20,522,000) 
 
Refer to note 1 (principal accounting policies), note 2 (critical 
accounting estimates and judgements) and note 30 of the annual 
accounts. 
 
The Society operates a retirement benefit scheme which closed 
to new members and future accruals in 2010. Actuarial 
assumptions used in the determination of the defined benefit 
obligation are inherently subjective and require expertise and 
judgement in their estimation.   
 
There is a significant degree of estimation uncertainty in respect 
of some of these assumptions and small changes in the 
assumptions used to value the defined benefit obligation (before 
deducting the value of the scheme assets) could have a significant 
effect on the Society’s net pension surplus. 
 
The most significant assumptions used in the valuation are: 
• Discount rate; 
• Inflationary increases (RPI / CPI); and  
• Life expectancy. 
 
The range of reasonable outcomes could be wider than 
materiality. 

Our audit procedures included, but were not limited to: 
 
• Assessing the design and implementation, and testing the operating 

effectiveness, of the key controls over review and approval of 
assumptions used in valuing the pension scheme obligations; 

 

• Assessing the accuracy of data used by management’s expert to 
calculate the defined benefit obligations; 

 

• Evaluating the competence, independence and objectivity of the 
Society’s actuary (management expert); and 

 

• Assessing and challenging, using our own actuarial specialists, the 
methodology used by management’s expert and the reasonableness of 
the key assumptions applied, being discount rate, inflation rate and life 
expectancy. 

 
Our observations 
Based on the audit procedures performed, we found the valuation of the defined 
benefit pension scheme obligation to be reasonable. 
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Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit 
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These, together with 
qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual 
annual account line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and on the annual accounts as a whole. Based 
on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the annual accounts as a whole as follows: 

 
Overall materiality £465,000 (2022: £462,000) 

 

How we determined it 1% of net assets (2022: 1% of net assets) 
 

Rationale for benchmark applied We consider that net assets is the most appropriate benchmark to use for 
the Society, whose strategy is to provide mortgages, savings products and 
other financial services for the mutual benefit of members and customers 
and not one of profit maximisation. 
 
Further, net assets as a benchmark is supported by the fact that 
regulatory capital is a key benchmark for management and regulators, 
where net assets is an approximation of regulatory capital resources. 
 

Performance materiality Performance materiality is set to reduce to an appropriately low level the 
probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected 
misstatements in the annual accounts exceeds materiality for the annual 
accounts as a whole. 
 
Performance materiality of £279,000 (2022: £231,000) was applied in the 
audit based on 60% (2022: 50%) of overall materiality. A higher 
percentage in our range has been used to reflect that this is our second 
year as statutory auditors. 
 
We considered several factors in determining performance materiality 
including, the level and nature of uncorrected and corrected 
misstatements in the prior year and the robustness of the control 
environment and concluded that an amount towards the higher end of 
our normal range was appropriate. 
 

Reporting threshold We agreed with the directors that we would report to them 
misstatements identified during our audit above £13,900 as well as 
misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting 
for qualitative reasons. 
 

 
As part of designing our audit, we assessed the risk of material misstatement in the annual accounts, whether due to fraud or error, and then designed 
and performed audit procedures responsive to those risks. In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements such as making 
assumptions on significant accounting estimates. 
 
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed sufficient work to be able to give an opinion on the annual accounts as a whole. We 
used the outputs of a risk assessment, our understanding of the Society, its environment, controls and critical business processes, to consider qualitative 
factors in order to ensure that we obtained sufficient coverage across all annual accounts line items. 

 

Other information 
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report and accounts, other than the annual accounts and our auditor’s report 
thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the annual accounts does not cover the other information and, except 
to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the annual accounts, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the annual accounts or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement 
in the annual accounts or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Opinions on the Annual Business Statement and the Directors’ Report 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 
 
• the Annual Business Statement and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with the Building Societies Act 1986; 
 
• the information in the Directors’ Report for the financial year is consistent with the accounting records and the annual accounts; and 
 
• the information given in the Annual Business Statement (other than the information on which we are not required to report) gives a true 

representation of the matters in respect of which it is given. 
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In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Society and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material 
misstatements in the Directors’ Report. 

 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Building Societies Act 1986 requires us to report to you if, in our 
opinion: 
 
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Society; or 
 
• the Society’s annual accounts are not in agreement with the accounting records; or 
 
• we have not received all the information and explanations and access to documents we require for our audit. 

 

Responsibilities of directors 
As explained more fully in the statement of directors’ responsibilities set out on page 33, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the annual 
accounts and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of annual accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the annual accounts, the directors are responsible for assessing the Society’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Society or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the annual accounts  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual accounts as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these annual accounts. 
 
The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below. 
 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined 
above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. 
 
Based on our understanding of the Society and its industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations related to 
regulatory and supervisory requirements of the Prudential Regulatory Authority (‘PRA’) and the Financial Conduct Authority (‘FCA’) and anti-money 
laundering regulations, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance with these laws and regulations might have a material effect on the 
annual accounts. 
 
To help us identify instances of non-compliance with these laws and regulations, and in identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement in 
respect to non-compliance with laws and regulations, our procedures included but were not limited to: 
 
• Gaining an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the Society, the industry in which it operates, and considering 

the risk of acts by the Society which were contrary to the applicable laws and regulations including fraud; 
 
• Inquiring of the directors, management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance, as to whether the Society is in compliance 

with laws and regulations, and discussing their policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations; 
 
• Inspecting correspondence with relevant licensing or regulatory authorities, including the PRA and FCA; 
 
• Reviewing minutes of directors’ meetings in the year;  
 
• Discussing amongst the engagement team the identified laws and regulations, and remaining alert to any indications of non-compliance; and 
 
• Focusing on areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the annual accounts from our general 

commercial and sector experience and through discussions with the directors and review of minutes of the Board of Directors and Audit and 
Compliance Committee during the period. 

 
We also considered those other laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the preparation of annual accounts, such as the Building Societies Act 
1986 and UK tax legislation. 
 
In addition, we evaluated the directors’ and management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the annual accounts, including 
the risk of management override of controls, and determined that the principal risks related to posting manual journal entries to manipulate financial 
performance, management bias through judgements and assumptions in significant accounting estimates, and significant one-off or unusual transactions.  
 
Our procedures in relation to fraud included but were not limited to: 
 
• Making enquiries of the directors and management on whether they had knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud; 
 
• Gaining an understanding of the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud; 
 
• Discussing amongst the engagement team the risks of fraud;  
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• Addressing the risks of fraud through management override of controls by performing journal entry testing; and  
 
• Being sceptical to the potential of management bias through judgements and assumptions in significant accounting estimates, in particular in 

relation to impairment of loans and advances to customers, valuation of the defined benefit pension scheme obligation and revenue 
recognition-effective interest rate, and performing the procedures described in the “Key audit matters” section of our report. 

 
The primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of irregularities including fraud rests with both those charged with governance and 
management. As with any audit, there remained a risk of non-detection of irregularities, as these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations or the override of internal controls. 
 
The risks of material misstatement that had the greatest effect on our audit, including fraud, are discussed under “Key audit matters” within this report.  
 
A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

 

Other matters which we are required to address 
Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were initially appointed by the directors on 30 November 2022 to audit the annual accounts 
for the year ended 30 November 2022 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is two years, covering the year 
ended 30 November 2023. 
 
The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided to the Society and we remain independent of the Society in conducting 
our audit. 
 
Our audit opinion is consistent with our additional report to the audit committee. 

 

Use of the audit report 
This report is made solely to the Society’s members as a body in accordance with section 78 of the Building Societies Act 1986. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the Society’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Society and the Society’s members 
as a body for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 
 
 
 
Martin Orme (Senior Statutory Auditor)  
for and on behalf of Mazars LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor 
30 Old Bailey 
London 
 
9 February 2024 
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The notes on pages 45 to 74 form part of these accounts. 
The above results are all derived from continuing operations. 
  

Income Statement 
For the year ended 30 November 2023 
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2023 2022

Notes £'000 £'000

Profit for the financial year 1,238 1,070

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to the Income Statement

- Actuarial losses recognised in the pension scheme 30 (1,386) (2,775)

- Movements in deferred tax relating to the pension scheme 10 (b) 347 694

Items that may be reclassified to the Income Statement

- Valuation gains/(losses) on available for sale assets 13 77 (77)

- Movements in deferred tax relating to available for sale assets 10 (b) (18) 18

Other comprehensive income (980) (2,140)

Total comprehensive income 258 (1,070)

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 30 November 2023 
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The notes on pages 45 to 74 form part of these accounts. 
 
Approved by the Board of Directors on 9 February 2024. 
 
 
 

Colin Franklin 
Chair 
 
 
 

Barry Carter 
Chief Executive 
(subject to regulatory approval) 
 
 
 
 
 

John Mulvey 
Chief Financial Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

2023 2022

Notes £'000 £'000

Assets

Liquid assets

- Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England 11 119,994 121,320

- Loans and advances to credit institutions 12 6,071 7,970

- Debt securities 13 - 14,059

Derivative financial instruments 14 10,260 12,149

Loans and advances to customers 15

- Loans fully secured on residential property 679,221 648,234

- Loans fully secured on land 187 -

Tangible fixed assets 18 4,868 5,118

Intangible fixed assets 20 1,274 464

Investment properties 19 147 160

Other assets 21 808 1,070

Pension asset 30 550 1,869

Total assets 823,380 812,413

Liabilities

Shares 23 698,807 655,540

Amounts owed to credit institutions 24 46,440 77,338

Amounts owed to other customers 25 19,330 19,955

Derivative financial instruments 14 615 736

Other liabilities 26 11,118 11,947

Deferred tax liability 22 571 656

Total liabilities 776,881 766,172

Reserves

General reserve 46,499 46,300

Available for Sale Reserve - (59)

Total reserves 46,499 46,241

Total reserves and liabilities 823,380 812,413

Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 November 2023 
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General 

reserve

Available for 

Sale Reserve

Total 

reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 1 December 2022 46,300 (59) 46,241

Profit for the financial year 1,238 - 1,238

Other Comprehensive Income for the period (net of tax)

- Net gain from changes in fair value of available for sale assets - 59 59

- Re-measurement of defined benefit obligations (1,039) - (1,039)

Total comprehensive income for the financial year 199 59 258

Balance at 30 November 2023 46,499 - 46,499

General 

reserve

Available for 

Sale Reserve

Total 

reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 1 December 2021 47,311 - 47,311

Profit for the financial year 1,070 - 1,070

Other Comprehensive Income for the period (net of tax)

- Net loss from changes in fair value of available for sale assets - (59) (59)

- Re-measurement of defined benefit obligations (2,081) - (2,081)

Total comprehensive income for the financial year (1,011) (59) (1,070)

Balance at 30 November 2022 46,300 (59) 46,241

Statement of Changes in Members’ Interests 
For the year ended 30 November 2023 
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For the purpose of the cash flow statements, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following balances with less than 90 days to maturity: 
 
 

 

2023 2022

Notes £'000 £'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 1,619 1,322

Depreciation and amortisation 18, 20 519 558

Decrease in fair value of derivative financial instruments and hedged items 14, 15, 23 (334) (380)

Gain on sale of investment properties 19 - (60)

Pension credits 30 (67) (72)

Movement in accrued interest on debt securities 13 135 (135)

Increase/(decrease) in allowance for impairment losses on loans and advances 16 220 (153)

Gain on sale of tangible fixed assets 18 (4) -

Loss on revaluation of investment properties 19 13 -

Net cash generated by trading activities 2,101 1,080

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Decrease/(Increase) in other assets 12, 13, 21 529 (293)

Decrease in collateral pledged against derivative liabilities 12 - 300

Net increase in loans and advances to customers 15 (29,522) (40,408)

Net increase/(decrease) in shares 23 43,496 (19,133)

Net (decrease)/increase in amounts owed to credit institutions 24 (30,898) 17,313

Net (decrease)/increase in amounts owed to other customers 25 (625) 1,498

Net (decrease)/increase in other liabilities 10, 22, 26 (965) 10,637

Net cash used in operating activities (15,884) (29,006)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of debt securities 13 - (20,001)

Disposal and maturity of debt securities 13 14,001 6,000

Purchase of tangible and intangible fixed assets 18, 20 (1,080) (240)

Proceeds from disposal of tangible fixed assets 18 5 -

Disposal of investment properties 19 - 312

Net cash generated by/(used in) investing activities 12,926 (13,929)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,958) (42,935)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 December 129,022 171,957

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 November 126,064 129,022

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England 11 119,994 121,320

Loans and advances to credit institutions repayable on demand 12 6,070 7,702

126,064 129,022

Cash Flow Statement 
For the year ended 30 November 2023 
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1. Principal accounting policies 
Basis of preparation 
The Society is a building society incorporated in the UK under the Building Societies Act 1986 and the Building Societies Act 1997. The address of its 
registered office is Upper Bond Street, Hinckley, Leicestershire LE10 1NZ. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Building Societies Act 1986, the Building Societies (Accounts and Related Provisions) 
Regulations 1998 and under FRS Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (“FRS 
102”) in conjunction with IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” (via the option in FRS 102 para 11.2(b)). Amendments are made 
to FRS 102 from time to time, which are assessed and applied by the Society, as appropriate. 
 
The Society has taken advantage of the exemption included in paragraph 9.9A of FRS 102 and section 4 of the Building Societies (Accounts and Related 
Provisions) Regulations 1998, to exclude a subsidiary from consolidated financial statements when its inclusion is not material. The subsidiary shown in 
note 17 did not trade during the current and prior years and its net assets were £2 at the current and prior year-end. Accordingly, entity only and 
consolidated financial statements are the same. 

 

Basis of accounting 
The accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost convention, as modified by the following: 
 

• Land and buildings which the Society lets to third parties on commercial terms are classified as investment properties and are stated at current 
value. 

 

• Derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value. Underlying hedged items are held at amortised cost, adjusted for the fair value attributable 
to the hedged risk. 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management 
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Society’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or 
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 2. 

 

Functional and presentational currency 
The Society’s functional and presentational currency is pounds sterling and, unless otherwise indicated, figures have been rounded to the nearest 
thousand. The Society trades solely in the United Kingdom and has no material foreign currency transactions. There is one class of business as reported 
in the Income Statement. 

 

Going concern  
The directors have prepared detailed forecasts of the Society’s profitability, capital, funding and liquidity positions that take account of the Society’s 
current position and principal risks as set out in the Directors’ report on page 29. Forecasts have also been prepared to assess the impact on the Society’s 
business and its profitability, capital, funding and liquidity positions of operating under stressed but plausible conditions. The stressed conditions include 
a prolonged severe economic downturn, involving a slowdown in the housing market, reducing mortgage market volumes and reducing house prices, a 
rise in unemployment increasing arrears and possession levels, and both rises and falls in interest rates. The detailed assumptions adopted in this scenario 
combine those used by the Bank of England, to test the capital adequacy of systemic firms within the UK banking system, with additional firm-specific 
and market-wide stresses impacting the Society’s income and expenditure. 
 
Based on these forecasts the directors are satisfied that the Society has adequate resources to continue in business for a period of at least twelve months 
from the date of approval of the accounts. Accordingly, the accounts continue to be prepared on a going concern basis. 

 

Interest income and expense 
Interest income and expense are recognised in the Income Statement using the effective interest method. The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that 
exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability (or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Society 
estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not future credit losses. 
 
Transaction costs and fees, and charges paid or received, including mortgage early redemption charges, that are an integral part of the effective interest 
rate of a financial instrument, are recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate and are recorded within interest income and expense. 
Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability. 

 

Fees and commissions 
Fees and commissions receivable and payable, other than those included within mortgage interest that are recognised using the effective interest method 
outlined above, are recognised when the relevant service is provided. 

 

Other operating income 
Other operating income includes rental income from investment properties and other sundry income. Rental income from investment properties is 
recognised in the Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the leases. 

 

Financial instruments 
The Society has chosen to adopt the recognition and measurement provisions of IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and the 
disclosure requirements of section 11 and 12 of FRS 102 in respect of financial instruments. 
 
The Society classifies its financial assets into one of the following categories. No assets are classified as held to maturity. 

Notes to the Accounts 
For the year ended 30 November 2023 
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a) Loans and advances 
Loans and advances are predominantly mortgage loans to customers and advances to credit institutions held for liquidity and for derivative margin 
management purposes. Loans and advances are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently recorded at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses, other than where an adjustment is made as part of a fair value hedging 
arrangement. 
 

b) Available-for-sale 
Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative assets that are intended to be held for an indefinite period. Reasons for the sale of such assets may 
include changes in liquidity requirements or interest rates. Available-for-sale investments comprise debt securities which are measured at fair value after 
initial recognition. Subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in Other Comprehensive Income, except for impairment losses which are recognised 
in the Income Statement, until the financial asset is derecognised. At that time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income shall be reclassified to the Income Statement. Further information regarding how fair values are determined can be found in note 28 (b). Interest 
income is recognised in the Income Statement using the effective interest method. 

 
c) Financial instruments at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 
Derivative financial instruments in the form of interest rate swaps, referred to as fair value hedges below, are used for interest rate risk management 
purposes only. The Society does not use derivatives for trading purposes. 
 
Where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, the Society designates derivatives as hedging instruments in qualifying hedging relationships. On initial 
designation of the hedge, the Society formally documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and hedged items, including the risk 
management objective and strategy in undertaking the hedge, together with the method that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging 
relationship. The Society makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship and on an ongoing basis, of whether the hedging 
instruments are expected to be highly effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value of the respective hedged items during the period for which the 
hedge is designated, and retrospectively whether the actual results of regression analysis over the life of the portfolio demonstrate effectiveness within 
a range of 80–125%. 

 

Fair value hedges 
Portfolio fair value hedges are used to hedge the variability in the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities, such as fixed rate mortgages and savings 
products. All changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognised immediately in the Income Statement. Fair values of derivative financial instruments 
are calculated by discounted cash flow models using yield curves that are based on observable market data. All derivatives are carried as assets when 
their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative. 
 
The carrying value of the hedged item is adjusted by the change in fair value that is attributable to the risk being hedged (even if it is normally carried at 
cost or amortised cost) and any gains or losses on re-measurement are recognised immediately in the Income Statement (even if those gains would 
normally be recognised directly in reserves). 
 
If the fair value of the derivative has changed prior to entering into the hedge relationship the movement will be amortised in the Income Statement 
over the remaining life of the derivative. If hedge accounting is discontinued and the hedged financial asset or liability has not been derecognised, any 
adjustments to the carrying amount of the hedged item are amortised to the Income Statement using the effective interest method over the remaining 
life of the hedged item. 
 
A summary of the effects of hedging and the associated fair value adjustments can be found in notes 5 and 14. 

 

Financial liabilities 
The Society’s financial liabilities are predominantly customer deposits and amounts owed to credit institutions and other customers. They are recorded 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 

Offsetting 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amounts presented in the financial statements when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Interest flows on 
the Society’s derivative contracts are settled on this basis. 

 

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 
Financial assets are derecognised when (a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are settled, or (b) substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the ownership of the asset are transferred to another party or (c) control of the asset has been transferred to another party who has the 
practical ability unilaterally to sell the asset to an unrelated third party without imposing additional restrictions. Financial liabilities are derecognised 
when contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. 

 

Impairment of loans and advances to customers  
Individual assessments are made of all loans and advances where there is objective evidence of impairment, such as loans that are in arrears, in possession 
or subject to forbearance, or where there is other evidence that all cash flows will not be received. If there is objective evidence of impairment, an 
individual impairment provision is recognised, and measured as the difference between an asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Estimated future cash flows will take into account the probability that a loss 
will be incurred, the sales proceeds of the property, including any discount required to achieve a sale, expected costs of sale, and amounts recoverable 
under mortgage indemnity guarantee policies if applicable. 
 
Where no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed asset, it is included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk 
characteristics and collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment, and for which an impairment loss is 
recognised, are not included in a collective assessment of impairment. 

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2023 
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A collective impairment provision is made against a group of assets where there is evidence that credit losses have been incurred but not identified at 
the reporting date. The collective impairment calculation takes into account a number of factors, including external data on borrower arrears, the 
Society’s historic experience of default and loss emergence periods (the period from a credit loss being incurred to it being identified).  
 
In addition, individual or collective provisions may be increased where the standard provision calculations do not reduce the carrying amount of the asset 
to the expected recoverable amount. 
 
The amount of any impairment loss is recognised immediately through the Income Statement, with a corresponding reduction in the value of the asset. 

 

Forbearance strategy 
A range of forbearance options are available to support members who are in financial difficulty, if it can be demonstrated that this difficulty can be 
successfully overcome. The Society considers that if one or more of the options identified below can be agreed, this would always be preferable to taking 
possession of the customer’s home. The main options offered are: 
 

• Reduced monthly payment including interest only concession; 

• Payment holiday; 

• Extension of mortgage term; and/or 

• Transfer to a new product that reduces monthly payments. 
 
Customers requesting a forbearance option will need to provide information to support the request which the Society will use to assess whether it is 
likely that the preferred arrangement will resolve the customer’s financial difficulties. 
 
Accounts on which forbearance has been provided are monitored and borrowers are expected to resume normal payments, including any increase to 
repay the mortgage at the end of the agreed term, once they are able. Loans that receive forbearance may only be classified as up-to-date once a 
specified number and/or value of qualifying payments have been received. These qualifying payments are set at a level appropriate to the nature of the 
loan and the customer’s ability to make the repayment. 

 

Impairment losses on debt securities 
At each Statement of Financial Position date the Society assesses whether or not there is objective evidence that individual debt instruments are 
impaired. Debt instruments held can include UK government gilts or treasury bills or exposures to UK banks or building societies and therefore the 
likelihood of loss is remote. In reaching this conclusion the Society considers the financial status of the counterparty and the levels of activity in the 
market. 

 

Employee benefits 
The Society provides a range of benefits to employees, including annual bonus arrangements, paid holiday arrangements and a defined contribution 
pension scheme. A defined benefit pension scheme is also in place but was closed to further accrual in 2010. 
 
(i) Short-term benefits – Short-term benefits, including holiday pay and other similar non-monetary benefits, are recognised as an expense in the period 
in which the service is received. 
 
(ii) Defined contribution pension scheme – The Society operates a defined contribution scheme for its employees. A defined contribution scheme is one 
into which the Society and the employee pay fixed contributions into a separate entity. Payments into the defined contribution scheme are charged to 
the Income Statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the scheme. Once the contributions have been paid the Society has no 
further payment obligations. Amounts owed but not paid are shown in accruals in the Statement of Financial Position. The assets of the scheme are held 
separately from the Society in independently administered funds. 
 
(iii) Defined benefit pension scheme – The Society operates a defined benefit scheme for certain employees. A defined benefit scheme is one that defines 
the benefit the employee will receive on retirement, depending on such factors as age and length of service. The Society’s  contributions to the scheme 
are liable to increase or decrease in order to ensure liabilities to pensioners can continue to be met as they fall due. On 1st January 2010 the defined 
benefit scheme was closed to further accrual. 
 
Society contributions payable to the defined benefit scheme are determined by a qualified actuary on the basis of a triennial valuation using the projected 
unit method, and are charged to the Income Statement as incurred. The charge to the Income Statement over the financial year in relation to the defined 
benefit scheme is shown in note 30. 
 
The asset/liability recognised in the Statement of Financial Position in respect of the defined benefit scheme is the fair value of the scheme assets less 
the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date. The defined benefit scheme was in surplus at the year end and this has been 
recognised as an asset in the Statement of Financial Position. The judgements in relation to this are disclosed in note 2. 
 
The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined 
benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using a rate determined from the yields of high quality sterling bonds 
of comparable term to the related pension liability (the ‘discount rate’). 
 
The fair value of scheme assets includes the use of appropriate valuation techniques in accordance with FRS 102. These include publicly quoted indices 
for assets traded on the open market and investment managers’ own, unaudited valuation models for assets that are not publicly traded.  
 
Net interest income, comprising expected interest income on scheme assets less interest costs on scheme liabilities, is calculated by applying the discount 
rate to the net balance of the fair value of scheme assets less the defined benefit obligation. This result is recognised in the Income Statement as Other 
finance income. 
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The cost of the defined benefit scheme, recognised in the Income Statement as employee costs, except where included in the cost of an asset, comprises 
any cost of plan benefit changes, curtailments, settlements, and administrative costs. 
 
Actuarial gains and losses arising from scheme assets and from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions on the obligation are 
charged or credited each year to Other Comprehensive Income. 
 

Taxation 
Taxation expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax recognised in the reporting period. Tax is recognised in the Income Statement, except 
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in Other Comprehensive Income or directly in equity. In this case tax is also recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income or directly in equity respectively. 
 
Current or deferred taxation assets and liabilities are not discounted. 
 
Current tax is the amount of income tax payable in respect of the taxable profit for the year or prior years. Tax is calculated on the basis of tax rates and 
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the period end. 
 
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. 
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 
 
Deferred tax arises from timing differences that are differences between taxable profits and total comprehensive income as stated in the financial 
statements. These timing differences arise from the inclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in periods different from those in which they 
are recognised in financial statements. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised on all timing differences at the reporting date, including property revaluations, but is not provided on differences that are 
expected to be permanent. Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are only recognised when it is probable that they will be recovered against 
the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits. 
 
Deferred tax is measured using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the period end, depending on the date at which 
the timing differences are expected to reverse. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents  
For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with original maturities of less than 90 days, including cash 
in hand, deposits with the Bank of England and loans and advances to credit institutions. 

 

Loans and advances to credit institutions 
Derivatives are only executed with organisations that have an approved credit limit. The majority of the Society’s derivative agreements include 
arrangements requiring that any movement in the value of the derivative be offset by the placing of cash collateral to reduce the resulting credit exposure 
of either party on a regular basis. Cash deposited with the counterparty on this basis is held within Loans and advances to credit institutions at cost. 

 

Investment properties 
Freehold investment properties are included in the Statement of Financial Position at fair value, which is taken as being open market value. Movements 
in valuation are posted through the Income Statement. Open market value is reassessed annually by the directors, with periodic reassessment by 
appropriately qualified third party valuers. 
 
Details of the value of the properties are provided in note 19 to the financial statements. 
 

Intangible fixed assets and amortisation 
Intangible fixed assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated amortisation. Amounts capitalised represent the costs of acquiring, developing and 
installing computer software, and may include amounts payable to third party suppliers and values associated with time spent by the Society’s own staff. 
Amortisation is provided at 20% per annum on a straight-line basis, as an approximation of useful economic life. 
 
Software licences granted by a third party as part of a ‘software as a service’ arrangement are assessed against the recognit ion criteria of an intangible 
asset set out in FRS 102. Where the recognition criteria are achieved, an intangible asset is recognised based on contractual or estimated licence costs, 
and amortised over the period from implementation to the end of the contract. Where the recognition criteria are not achieved, the licence costs incurred 
are expensed as the service is received. 
 
Where factors, such as technological advancement or changes in market price, indicate that residual value or useful life have changed, the residual value, 
useful life or amortisation rate are amended prospectively to reflect the new circumstances. The assets are reviewed for impairment if the above factors 
indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired. 
 

Tangible fixed assets and depreciation 
Tangible fixed assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation, with the exception of certain freehold properties (or portions thereof) 
which are commercially let and are therefore classified as investment properties and held at open market value.  
 
Cost includes the original purchase price of the asset and the costs attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use. 
 
 
 
 
 

Notes to the Accounts continued 
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Depreciation is provided at rates designed to write down the cost or valuation of fixed assets to their residual values over their expected useful lives. The 
following are approximations of the useful lives: 
 

• Freehold buildings and leasehold land and buildings with more than 50 years unexpired (including building improvements): 2% to 10% per annum 
on a straight-line basis. 

 

• Leasehold land and buildings with less than 50 years unexpired: Equal annual instalments to expiry of the lease. 
 

• Fixtures and fittings: 5% to 15% per annum on a straight-line basis. 
 

• Computer equipment: 20% to 33% per annum on a straight-line basis. 
 

• Motor vehicles: 25% per annum on a reducing balance basis. 
 

• Office equipment: 25% per annum on a straight-line basis. 
 

• Freehold land is not depreciated. 
 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The effect of any change is 
accounted for prospectively. 
 
Repairs, maintenance and minor inspection costs are expensed to the Income Statement as incurred. 

 

Impairment of non-financial assets 
The carrying amount of the Society’s assets is reviewed at each Statement of Financial Position date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indicators exist, the asset’s recoverable amount is reviewed. An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of an 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of market value or the value in use of the respective asset. Impairment 
losses are recognised in the Income Statement. 
 
Where the reason for impairment cease to apply, a reversal of the impairment loss is recognised as it arises provided the increased carrying value does 
not exceed that which it would have been had no impairment loss been recognised. 
 

Provisions for liabilities and charges 
A provision is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position if the Society has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits, which can be reliably estimated, will be required to settle the obligation. 
 

Contingent liabilities 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. Contingent liabilities arise as a result of past events when (i) it is not 
probable that there will be an outflow of resources or that the amount cannot be reliably measured at the reporting date or (ii) when the existence will 
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future events not wholly within the Society’s control. Contingent liabilities are disclosed 
in the financial statements unless the probability of an outflow of resources is remote. 
 

Operating leases 
The Society assesses agreements at their inception that transfer the right to use assets. The assessment considers whether the arrangement is, or 
contains, a lease based on the substance of the arrangement. Leases that do not transfer all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating 
leases. All the Society’s leases are operating leases. Payments under operating leases are charged to the Income Statement on a straight-line basis over 
the period of the lease. 
 

2. Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
The directors make estimates and judgements that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities reported in the accounts. Estimates and 
assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. These are described below. 
 

a) Post employment benefits and recognition of pension surplus 
The Society operates a defined benefit pension scheme that has an obligation to pay pension benefits to certain current and former employees. 
Judgement is exercised in estimating the value of the liabilities of the scheme, and hence its net surplus or deficit. The directors have estimated the 
assumptions, set out in note 30, after taking advice from qualified independent actuaries. Sensitivities relating to the key assumptions are set out below: 
 

• The discount rate used to value the liabilities at the year-end was 5.29% (2022: 4.48%). A decrease in the discount rate of 0.25% would increase 

scheme liabilities by approximately £0.6m (2022: £0.7m). 
 

• The inflation rates used to value the liabilities at the year-end were 2.55% (2022: 2.43%) for CPI and 3.20% (2022: 3.01%) for RPI. An increase in the 

inflation assumptions of 0.25% would increase the scheme liabilities by approximately £0.3m (2022: £0.3m). 
 

• The life expectancy assumptions for pensioners currently aged 65 used to value the liabilities at the year-end were 22 years for males (2022: 22 

years) and 24 years for females (2022: 24 years). An increase in the life expectancy of scheme members by one year would increase scheme liabilities 

by approximately £0.7m (2022: £0.9m). 

Mortality assumptions are based on publicly available mortality tables for the UK. 
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FRS 102 permits an entity to recognise an asset if a scheme is in surplus to the extent that it is able to recover the surplus either through reduced 
contributions in the future or through refunds from the scheme. 
 
The directors’ view is that, under the scheme rules, the Society has an unconditional right to any surplus, assuming the gradual settlement of liabilities 
over time until all members have left the scheme. Furthermore, in the ordinary course of business the scheme Trustee has no rights to unilaterally wind 
up, or otherwise augment the benefits due to members of the scheme. Therefore, the Society is neither required to reflect any additional liabilities in 
relation to deficit funding commitments, nor restrict any scheme surplus that arises. 
 

b) Impairment of loans and advances to customers 
The Society’s accounting policy for impairment of loans and advances to customers is set out in note 1 and consists of: 
 

• Individual assessments of impairment of all mortgage loans that are in arrears or where other objective evidence exists that all cash flows will not 
be received; and 

 

• Collective assessments of impairment of portfolios of mortgage loans that are not subject to individual impairment provisions, where there is 
objective evidence that credit losses have been incurred but not identified at the reporting date. 

 
The Society regularly performs collective assessments of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment may include observable data indicating that 
there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a portfolio, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults 
on assets in the portfolio. 
 
Estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics to those in the portfolio and external data are used to 
assess impairment. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to 
reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. 
 
During the year, the Bank of England continued to raise interest rates, from 3.0% at 30 November 2022 to 5.25% at 30 November 2023, to tackle the 
high level of inflation. The increased cost-of-living and higher mortgage payments have increased the likelihood that borrowers will fall into arrears and 
default on their mortgage. Concerns over the economy and lower borrower affordability have reduced housing market activity, causing house prices to 
fall during the year. 
 
As a result of these economic conditions, and the small number of arrears cases observed in the Society’s mortgage portfolio at the year-end, the directors 
included the following overlays to the individual and collective assessments of impairment to ensure that adequate provisions are held against loans in 
arrears and against losses that may have been incurred but not identified at the year-end: 
 

• The probability of default for mortgage accounts not currently in arrears, estimated from historic actual default experience, was uplifted to reflect 

the increased probability that losses on loans were incurred but not identified at the year-end. The level of the uplift was derived from external 

credit reference agency data for UK owner occupied and buy to let mortgage portfolios. The uplifted probability of default resulted in an increased 

collective impairment provision; 

 

• Probabilities of default for mortgage accounts with a high LTV (over 80%), excluding those that were not in arrears at the year-end, were uplifted 

to reflect the estimated increased default rate associated with lower levels of borrower equity in a property. The estimates were used while the 

Society collates additional default experience for high LTV cases, which is currently limited. The higher default rates increased the individual 

impairment provisions; and 

 

• A house price reduction of 5% (2022: 5%) has been assumed during the period from the impairment event to sale of the security property, reflecting 

future house price forecasts due to the slowdown in the housing market. This overlay reduces the estimated sale proceeds received following 

possession, increasing both individual and collective impairment provisions. 

Details of provisions for impairment losses are shown in note 16 and arrears and forbearance details associated with loans and advances to customers 
are set out in note 28 (c)(ii). The directors have exercised judgements in arriving at the key estimates used in the impairment provision assessments. 
Sensitivities relating to the key assumptions are set out below: 
 

• A reduction in the assumed level of house prices of 5% would result in increased impairment provisions of £0.2m (2022: £0.2m) 
 

• An increase in the assumed default rates of 20% would result in increased impairment provisions of £0.1m (2022: £0.1m). 
 

c) Effective interest rate 
As noted within note 1, all cash flows directly associated with financial instruments are recognised in the Income Statement through the interest margin 
using the effective interest method. Mortgage related cash flows take account of fees and charges, including estimated early redemption charges 
receivable. The method also requires estimates to be made of the expected lives of mortgages. In determining the expected lives of mortgages and early 
redemption charges used within the cash flows, the Society uses historical and forecast redemption data, as well as management judgement. 
 
A one-month reduction in the estimated life of a mortgage across the full mortgage portfolio would reduce interest income recognised by approximately 
£6,000 (2022: £15,000). A one-month increase in the estimated life of a mortgage across the full mortgage portfolio would increase interest income 
recognised by approximately £35,000 (2022: £62,000). 
 
 
 
 

 

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2023 

 



 

Hinckley & Rugby Building Society Annual Report and Accounts 2023 

51 Financial Statements 

 

3. Interest receivable and similar income 

 
 
All interest receivable and similar income arises in the UK. 
 
Interest on loans fully secured on residential property and other loans includes interest accrued on impaired residential mortgage assets of 
£277,000 (2022: £57,000). 
 

4. Interest payable and similar charges 

 
 

5. Net (losses)/gains from derivative financial instruments 

 
 

6. Other operating income 

 
 
 
 

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

On loans fully secured on residential property and other loans 24,475 16,608

On liquid assets 5,987 1,749

Net interest income/(expense) on derivative financial instruments 5,067 (62)

35,529 18,295

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

On shares held by individuals and other shares 19,223 5,648

On deposits and other borrowings 2,667 933

Net interest expense on derivative financial instruments 149 -

Other interest payable 2 -

22,041 6,581

2023 2022

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss £'000 £'000

Instruments used to hedge loans and advances

- (Losses)/gains on derivatives in designated fair value hedge relationships (1,927) 11,092

- Gains/(losses) on hedged items attributable to the hedged risk 1,908 (11,168)

- Amortisation of hedged items following swap termination (35) (123)

Net hedge ineffectiveness (54) (199)

Instruments used to hedge savings

- Losses on derivatives in designated fair value hedge relationships (246) -

- Gains on hedged items attributable to the hedged risk 195 3

- Amortisation of hedged items following swap termination 34 134

Net hedge ineffectiveness (17) 137

Derivatives not in a designated hedge relationship

- (Losses)/gains on derivatives not in a designated hedge relationship (70) 74

Net (losses)/gains from derivative financial instruments (141) 12

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Rent receivable on investment properties 46 51

Insurance recovery for costs incurred during Covid pandemic - 31

46 82
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7. Administrative expenses 

 
 

8. Employees 

 

 

9. Directors’ and key management emoluments 
Emoluments of the Society’s directors and key management are detailed below: 
 

a) To independent non-executive directors for services as directors  

 
 
No pension contributions were made in respect of these directors. 
  

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Employee costs

- Wages and salaries 6,107 5,603

- Social security costs 616 593

- Other pension costs 469 394

7,192 6,590

Other administrative expenses 3,968 3,696

11,160 10,286

Other administrative expenses include:

Auditor's remuneration (excluding VAT)

- Statutory audit of the Annual Report and Accounts 278 223

Operating lease charges

- Land and buildings 74 79

- Fixtures and fittings 4 8

78 87

The average number of persons employed (including executive directors) during the financial year was: 2023 2022

Full time

Principal office 104 99

Branch offices 23 23

127 122

Part time

Principal office 26 26

Branch offices 7 8

33 34

Fees Fees

2023 2022

Aggregate emoluments £'000 £'000

Colin Franklin 53 53

David Woodward (resigned 28 March 2023) 13 38

Geneane Bell (resigned 28 March 2023) 10 32

Barbara Taeed 36 31

Gary Wilkinson 38 38

Lynda Blackwell (appointed 29 March 2023) 28 -

John Lowe (appointed 1 December 2022) 35 -

Nemone Wynn-Evans 33 32

246 224

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2023 
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b) To executive directors for services in connection with the management of the Society 
 

 
 

 
 
Salary costs, including any pension allowances, and pension contributions shown are before any adjustments for the payment of employee 
pension contributions by salary sacrifice. 
 

c) Directors’ loans and transactions 
During the financial year there were no (2022: no) new mortgage advances to directors and connected persons and no (2022: no) further advance 
on an existing mortgage to directors and connected persons. At the 30 November 2023, there were no (2022: one) outstanding mortgage loans 
to directors and connected persons that had been granted in the ordinary course of business (2022: £223,486). 
 
All directors of the Society are required to maintain a savings balance of at least £1,000 each in the Society. At 30 November 2023 the aggregate 
balances held by 12 (2022: 12) of the Society’s directors and connected persons in savings accounts was £123,983 (2022: £326,783). 
 
In accordance with Section 68 of the Building Societies Act 1986, the Society maintains a register in respect of loans, transactions and 
arrangements, if any, between the Society and its directors, and persons connected with them. 
 
Requisite particulars will be available for inspection by members, at the Society’s Principal Office in Hinckley, for 15 days before the day of the 
Annual General Meeting, and also at that meeting. 
 
Directors’ loans and transactions represent all the related party transactions that are required to be disclosed in these accounts. 
 

d) Key management compensation 
The directors of the Society are considered to be the only key management personnel, as defined by FRS 102. The total compensation for key 
management personnel, including benefits and pension contributions, is shown above.  

Salary Bonus

Contribution to 

defined 

contribution 

pension 

scheme Total 

2023 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Colin Fyfe 259 - - 259

Barry Carter 179 10 18 207

Rebecca Griffin 137 8 14 159

John Mulvey 178 15 - 193

753 33 32 818

Salary Bonus

Contribution to 

defined 

contribution 

pension 

scheme Total 

2022 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Colin Fyfe 258 9 - 267

Barry Carter (appointed 1 July 2022) 73 3 6 82

Rebecca Griffin (appointed 1 July 2022) 52 7 5 64

John Mulvey 170 8 3 181

Dean Waddingham 150 - - 150

703 27 14 744

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Total directors' emoluments including benefits and pension contributions 1,064 968
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10. Tax on profit on ordinary activities 
a) Tax expense included in the Income Statement 

 
 
 

b) Tax credit included in Other comprehensive income 
 

 
 
 

c) Reconciliation of tax charge 
 

 
 
 

d) Tax rate changes 
On 3 March 2021, the UK government announced that the UK Corporation tax rate from 1 April 2023 would increase to 25%, and this was 
substantively enacted on 24 May 2021. The deferred tax liability at 30 November 2023 has been calculated based on the rate substantively 
enacted at the Statement of Financial Position date of 25% (2022: 25%). 
 
 

11. Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Current tax:

UK corporation tax on profits for the financial year 134 126

Adjustment in respect of previous periods 3 -

Total current tax charge 137 126

Deferred tax:

Origination and reversal of timing differences 241 117

Effect of changes in tax rates 21 5

Adjustment in respect of previous periods (18) 4

Total deferred tax 244 126

Total tax charge included in the Income Statement 381 252

Current tax - -

Deferred tax (329) (712)

Total tax credit included in Other Comprehensive Income (329) (712)

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the Income Statement as follows:

Profit for the period - continuing operations 1,619 1,322

Tax on profit at standard UK corporation tax rate of 23% (2022: 19%) 373 251

Effects of:

Expenses not deductible 9 4

Accelerated capital allowances (7) -

Disposal of investment property - (12)

Change in tax rate 21 5

Adjustment in respect of previous periods (15) 4

Total tax charge for the financial year 381 252

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Cash in hand 376 265

Balances at Bank of England 119,126 121,055

Accrued interest 492 -

119,994 121,320

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2023 
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12. Loans and advances to credit institutions 
Loans and advances to credit institutions have remaining maturities as follows: 

 
 
 

13. Debt Securities 

 
 
 

14. Derivative financial instruments 

 
 
All derivative financial instruments are ‘over-the-counter’ interest rate swaps held for risk management purposes and are bilaterally agreed with 
the counterparty. 
 
Derivatives not in a designated hedge relationship relate to interest rate swaps which have not been matched against loans and advances to 
customers and savings for hedge accounting purposes at the relevant Statement of Financial Position date. 
 
At 30 November 2023, the fixed interest rates on SONIA swaps vary from -0.06% to 5.51% (2022: -0.06% to 5.51%). 
 

  

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Repayable on demand 6,070 7,702

Accrued interest 1 268

6,071 7,970

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

UK bank and building society certificates of deposit - 14,059

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

At 1 December 14,059 -

Additions - 20,001

Disposals and maturities (14,001) (6,000)

Changes in fair value recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 77 (77)

Movements in accrued interest (135) 135

At 30 November - 14,059

Contract 

notional 

amount

Fair value 

- assets

Fair value 

- liabilities

£'000 £'000 £'000

At 30 November 2023

Derivatives not in a designated hedge relationship – interest rate swaps 23,500 95 (46)

Derivatives designated as fair value hedges - interest rate swaps 243,000 10,165 (569)

Total recognised derivative assets/(liabilities) 266,500 10,260 (615)

Contract 

notional 

amount

Fair value 

- assets

Fair value 

- liabilities

£'000 £'000 £'000

At 30 November 2022

Derivatives not in a designated hedge relationship – interest rate swaps 18,000 74 -

Derivatives designated as fair value hedges - interest rate swaps 253,000 12,075 (736)

Total recognised derivative assets/(liabilities) 271,000 12,149 (736)
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15. Loans and advances to customers 
Loans and advances to customers are held at amortised cost, with interest and associated costs being recognised in the interest receivable and 
similar income line of the Income Statement on an effective interest rate basis. 
 
Fair value adjustments have been made to hedged fixed rate mortgages that are in effective fair value hedging relationships. 
 

 
 
 
The remaining contractual maturity of loans and advances to customers from the Statement of Financial Position date is as follows: 
 

 
 
The maturity analysis above is based on contractual maturity, rather than behavioural or expected maturity, and may not reflect actual 
experience of repayments since many mortgage loans are repaid early. 
 
The Society has encumbered £136.4m (2022: £167.7m) of mortgage assets through the Bank of England’s Term Funding Scheme with additional 
incentives for SMEs (TFSME). These facilities are accessed via the placement of eligible collateral in the form of approved mortgage portfolios. 
TFSME does not involve the transfer of risk on the collateral and hence fail the derecognition criteria under IAS 39. Therefore, for accounting 
purposes, the underlying collateral is retained on the Statement of Financial Position. 
 
 

16. Provision for impairment losses on loans and advances 
 

 
 
The provisions as at 30 November 2023 and 30 November 2022 have been deducted from loans fully secured on residential property in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 
 
No provision for impairment losses was held against mortgages fully secured on land at the end of the current and previous years. 
 

 

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Loans fully secured on residential property 688,240 659,076

Loans fully secured on land 187 -

Effective interest rate adjustment 884 713

Fair value adjustment for hedged risk (9,282) (11,155)

680,029 648,634

Provision for impairment losses (621) (400)

Loans and advances to customers 679,408 648,234

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Repayable on demand 438 654

In not more than 3 months 4,449 4,175

In more than 3 months but not more than 1 year 14,629 15,006

In more than 1 year but not more than 5 years 96,924 100,171

In more than 5 years 563,589 528,628

680,029 648,634

Provision for impairment losses (621) (400)

Loans and advances to customers 679,408 648,234

Individual 

provision

Collective 

provision Total

Individual 

provision

Collective 

provision Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 December 79 321 400 165 388 553

Loan impairment recognised/(released) during the year 79 141 220 (86) (67) (153)

At 30 November 158 462 620 79 321 400

Loans fully secured on residential property

2022

Loans fully secured on residential property

2023

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2023 
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17. Investments 
The Society has the following subsidiary undertaking, in which it directly holds all the issued shares. 
 

 
 
The company is registered at the same address as the Society (see inside front cover) and has been dormant since 1 December 2004. As stated 
in note 1, the Society has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS102 and the Building Societies (Accounts and Related Provisions) Regulations 
1998 to exclude a subsidiary from consolidated financial statements where its inclusion is not material.  
 
All shares are £1 ordinary shares. No director had a beneficial interest in any shares or debentures of the subsidiary undertaking. The registered 
number of the company is 03262800. 
 
 

18. Tangible fixed assets 
 

 
 
 
The net book amount of land which is not subject to depreciation included in the freehold land and buildings at 30 November 2023 is £790,000 
(2022: £790,000). 
 
No tangible fixed assets were held under finance leases at 30 November 2023 (2022: none). 
 

Principal 

activity

Place of 

incorporation

Class of 

shares held

Shares in 

subsidiary 

undertakings

Society 

interest

£ %

Hinckley & Rugby Financial Services Limited Non-trading England Ordinary 2 100

Office and 

computer 

equipment

Fixtures, fittings 

and vehicles

Tangible 

fixed 

assets

Freehold Long leasehold Short leasehold

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost or valuation at 1 December 2022 3,188 427 49 879 2,655 7,198

Additions - - - 26 3 29

Disposals - - - (66) (12) (78)

Cost at 30 November 2023 3,188 427 49 839 2,646 7,149

Accumulated depreciation at 1 December 2022 266 89 49 683 993 2,080

Charge for the financial year 56 8 - 83 131 278

On disposals - - - (66) (11) (77)

322 97 49 700 1,113 2,281

Net book value at 30 November 2023 2,866 330 - 139 1,533 4,868

Net book value at 30 November 2022 2,922 338 - 196 1,662 5,118

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Net book value of land and buildings occupied by the Society for its own activities 3,040 3,100

Accumulated depreciation at 30 November 2023

Land and buildings
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19. Investment properties 
 

 
 
At 30 November 2023 the Society’s investment property portfolio consisted of two commercial properties within the East Midlands (2022: two 
commercial properties). There are formal rental agreements in place for each property to third parties on commercial terms. 
 
The investment properties are held at valuation and were last professionally valued at 30 November 2021 on the basis of open market value by 
Tim Ford BSc (Hons) MRICS IRRV and Nicholas Wint BSc (Hons) FRICS (RICS registered valuer) of Johnson Fellows LLP, who have the required 
knowledge, skills and understanding to undertake the valuations competently. The valuations reflected the rental income of each property, the 
remaining period of each lease, the yield required by investors for similar properties and tenants, and market conditions. The directors have 
adjusted the November 2021 valuations by use of a commercial property index applicable to the property types to arrive at valuations at 30 
November 2023. Based upon market conditions, and the consistent rental income of these properties, the directors are of the opinion that the 
revised valuations are an accurate estimate of open market value. 
 
If the investment properties had not been revalued, at 30 November 2023 they would have been recognised at a cost of £61,000 (2022: £61,000). 
 
 

20. Intangible fixed assets 
 

 
 
Intangible fixed assets represent the Society’s computer software, relating largely to banking, accounting and regulatory systems, which were 
created externally. The software assets have remaining amortisation periods of between one and five years (2022: between one and five years). 
There are no other individually material intangible assets. 
 
Additions in the year ended 30 November 2023 include £139,000 (2022: £nil) of capitalised staff costs. 
 
 

21. Other assets 
 

 

Investment

 properties

£'000

Valuation at 1 December 2022 160

Disposal of investment properties -

Loss on revaluation of investment properties (13)

Valuation at 30 November 2023 147

Computer 

software

£'000

Cost or valuation at 1 December 2022 2,046

Additions 1,051

Disposals -

Cost or valuation at 30 November 2023 3,097

Accumulated amortisation at 1 December 2022 1,582

Charge for the financial year 241

Disposals -

Accumulated amortisation at 30 November 2023 1,823

Net book value at 30 November 2023 1,274

Net book value at 30 November 2022 464

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Prepayments 577 829

Other debtors 231 241

808 1,070

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2023 
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22. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
 

 
 
The net deferred tax liability is attributable to the following items: 
 

 
 
There are no unrecognised tax losses or unused tax credits. 
 
On 3 March 2021, the UK government announced that the UK Corporation tax rate from 1 April 2023 would increase to 25%, and this was 
substantively enacted on 24 May 2021. The deferred tax liability at 30 November 2023 has been calculated based on the rate substantively 
enacted at the Statement of Financial Position date of 25% (2022: 25%).  
 
 

23. Shares 
Fair value hedging adjustments have been made to certain fixed rate shares that are in effective fair value hedging relationships. 
 

 
 
Other shares are those held by institutions such as corporate customers, clubs and charities. 
 
Shares are repayable from the Statement of Financial Position date in the ordinary course of business as follows: 
 

 

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Net deferred tax liability

At 1 December (656) (1,242)

Adjustment in respect of prior years within the Income Statement 18 (4)

Income Statement charge for the financial year (262) (122)

Other comprehensive income credit for the financial year 329 712

At 30 November (571) (656)

Deferred tax liability

Fixed asset timing differences (464) (257)

Pension scheme (138) (467)

Investment properties (12) (16)

(614) (740)

Deferred tax asset

Short term timing differences - trading 43 84

43 84

Net deferred tax liability (571) (656)

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Held by individuals 698,157 654,871

Other shares 845 635

699,002 655,506

Fair value adjustment for hedged risk (195) 34

698,807 655,540

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Repayable on demand 364,594 368,208

In not more than 3 months 134,933 135,696

In more than 3 months but not more than 1 year 96,023 66,995

In more than 1 year, but not more than 5 years 88,809 80,637

684,359 651,536

Accrued interest 14,448 4,004

698,807 655,540



 

Hinckley & Rugby Building Society Annual Report and Accounts 2023 

60 Financial Statements 

 

24. Amounts owed to credit institutions 
Amounts owed to credit institutions are repayable from the Statement of Financial Position date as follows: 
 

 
 
The amounts owed to credit institutions represent borrowings from the Bank of England, under the Term Funding Scheme with additional 
incentives for SMEs (TFSME) (2022: TFSME and Indexed Long Term Repo facility). 
 

25. Amounts owed to other customers 
Amounts owed to other customers are repayable from the Statement of Financial Position date as follows: 
 

 
 
The amounts owed to other customers represent deposits from customers that do not meet the Society’s share-holding member criteria. 
 

26. Other liabilities 
 

 
 
Collateral received against derivative transactions represents cash received from counterparties where the derivatives have a net positive fair 
value.  
 
 

27. Provisions for liabilities, guarantees and other financial commitments 
Capital commitments 
 
There were capital commitments of £215,000 at the year-end (2022: £720,000) in respect of tangible and intangible fixed assets, relating to the 
Society’s investment in new digital technology and services.  

 

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

In not more than 3 months - 7,000

In more than 3 months but not more than 1 year - 10,000

In more than 1 year but not more than 5 years 46,000 60,000

46,000 77,000

Accrued interest 440 338

46,440 77,338

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Repayable on demand 7,604 18,668

In not more than 3 months 11,199 1,000

In more than 3 months but not more than 1 year 285 279

19,088 19,947

Accrued interest 242 8

19,330 19,955

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Corporation tax 134 127

Other taxation and social security 339 148

Trade creditors 13 27

Other creditors 229 22

Accruals 1,082 945

Collateral received against derivative transactions 9,321 10,678

11,118 11,947

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2023 
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28. Financial instruments 
A financial instrument is a contract which gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability of another entity. The Society is a 
retailer of financial instruments in the form of mortgage and savings products and also uses wholesale financial instruments to invest liquid asset 
balances, raise wholesale funding and manage the risks arising from its operations. As a result of these activities, the Society is exposed to a 
variety of risks, the most significant being credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. These risks are described later in this note. 
 

 
 
 

Financial Instrument Terms and Conditions Accounting Policy

Cash in hand and balances with the Interest paid at Bank of England base rate

Bank of England Repayable on demand

Loans and advances to credit Fixed or variable interest rates

institutions Repayable on demand

Debt securities                                  Fixed or variable interest rates

Repayable on maturity

Loans and advances to customer Fixed or variable interest rate

Secured on residential property or land

Standard contractual term of up to 35 years

Shares Fixed or variable interest rates

Variable term

Amounts owed to credit institutions Fixed or variable interest rates

Fixed term

Amounts owed to other customers Fixed or variable interest rates

Fixed or variable term

Derivative financial instruments Fixed interest cash flows converted to

variable interest cash flows

Based on notional value of derivative

The following table sets out a summary of terms and conditions and accounting policies of financial instruments.

Accounted for at settlement date

Amortised cost

Accounted for at settlement date

Loans and receivables at amortised cost

Accounted for at settlement date

Comprehensive Income

Loans and receivables at amortised cost using 

the effective interest method, other than where 

adjustment is made as part of a fair value 

hedging arrangement.

Accounted for at trade date

Amortised cost using the effective interest 

method, other than where adjustment is made 

as part of a fair value hedging arrangement.

Accounted for at settlement date

Amortised cost

Accounted for at settlement date

Fair value through profit and loss

Amortised cost

Accounted for at settlement date

Fair value through Other 

Accounted for at settlement date
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a) Classification of financial assets and liabilities 
Financial assets and liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis either at fair value or amortised cost. Note 1 describes how the classes of 
financial instruments are measured, and how income and expenses, including fair values and gains and losses, are recognised. The tables below 
analyse the Society’s assets and liabilities by financial classification. 
 
Carrying values as at 30 November 2023 
 

 
 
The amounts owed to credit institutions include £46m of borrowings from the Bank of England under the Term Funding Scheme (TFSME).  
 
Carrying values as at 30 November 2022 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Held at fair value

Loans and 

receivables

Financial 

assets and 

liabilities at 

amortised cost 

Available for 

sale

Derivatives 

designated as 

fair value 

hedges

Derivatives not 

in a 

designated 

hedge 

relationship at 

fair value Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets

Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England - 119,994 - - - 119,994

Loans and advances to credit institutions 6,071 - - - - 6,071

Derivative financial instruments - - - 10,165 95 10,260

Loans and advances to customers 679,408 - - - - 679,408

Total financial assets 685,479 119,994 - 10,165 95 815,733

Total non-financial assets 7,647

Total assets 823,380

Financial liabilities

Shares - 698,807 - - - 698,807

Amounts owed to credit institutions - 46,440 - - - 46,440

Amounts owed to other customers - 19,330 - - - 19,330

Derivative financial instruments - - - 569 46 615

Total financial liabilities - 764,577 - 569 46 765,192

Total non-financial liabilities 11,689

Reserves 46,499

Total reserves and liabilities 823,380

Held at amortised cost

Held at fair value

Loans and 

receivables

Financial 

assets and 

liabilities at 

amortised cost 

Available for 

sale

Derivatives 

designated as 

fair value 

hedges

Derivatives not 

in a 

designated 

hedge 

relationship at 

fair value Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets

Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England - 121,320 - - - 121,320

Loans and advances to credit institutions 7,970 - - - - 7,970

Debt securities - - 14,059 - - 14,059

Derivative financial instruments - - - 12,075 74 12,149

Loans and advances to customers 648,234 - - - - 648,234

Total financial assets 656,204 121,320 14,059 12,075 74 803,732

Total non-financial assets 8,681

Total assets 812,413

Financial liabilities

Shares - 655,540 - - - 655,540

Amounts owed to credit institutions - 77,338 - - - 77,338

Amounts owed to other customers - 19,955 - - - 19,955

Derivative financial instruments - - - 736 - 736

Total financial liabilities - 752,833 - 736 - 753,569

Total non-financial liabilities 12,603

Reserves 46,241

Total reserves and liabilities 812,413

Held at amortised cost

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2023 
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b) Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value 
The Society holds certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value. Fair value is the value for which an asset or liability could be sold or settled 
in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable willing parties. The Society determines fair values using the following fair value hierarchy 
that reflects the significance of the inputs in measuring fair value: 
 
Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 
Level 2 – Valuation techniques where inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, are taken from observable market data for the 
                asset or liability either directly or indirectly. 
 
Level 3 – Valuation techniques where inputs for the asset or liability are not based on observable market data. 
 

 
 
The main valuation techniques employed by the Society to determine fair value of the financial instruments disclosed above are set out below: 
 
Level 2 – Debt securities - Debt securities for which there is no readily available traded price are valued based on the ‘present value’ method. 
This requires expected future principal and interest cash flows to be discounted using prevailing yield curves. The yield curves are generally 
observable market data which is derived from quoted interest rates in similar time bandings, which match the timings of the cash flows and 
maturities of the instruments. 
 
Level 2 – Interest rate swaps – the valuation of interest rate swaps is based on the net present value method. The expected interest cash flows 
are discounted using prevailing interest rate yield curves. The yield curves are based on generally observable market data derived from quoted 
interest rates in similar time bandings which match the timings of the interest cash flows and maturities of the instruments. 
 

c) Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of loss if a customer or counterparty fails to perform its obligations. The risk arises primarily from the Society’s loans and 
advances to customers, and the investment of liquid assets and entering into derivative financial instruments with treasury counterparties. The 
Society’s exposure to credit risk can be influenced by changes in the wider economy, including unemployment levels, property values, household 
finances impacting the affordability of mortgages and the credit quality of treasury counterparties. The Society’s Board of Directors has defined 
the Society’s risk appetite for credit risk which clearly sets out the level of credit risk the Society is prepared to accept. 
 
The Society’s maximum credit risk exposure is detailed in the table below. 
 

 
 
(1) All values are stated at balance sheet amounts. 
(2) This reflects mortgage applications that have been formally offered but have not yet completed.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

As at 30 November 2023

Financial assets

Debt securities - - - -

Derivative financial instruments - 10,260 - 10,260

- 10,260 - 10,260

Financial liabilities

Derivative financial instruments - 615 - 615

As at 30 November 2022

Financial assets

Debt securities - 14,059 - 14,059

Derivative financial instruments - 12,149 - 12,149

- 26,208 - 26,208

Financial liabilities

Derivative financial instruments - 736 - 736

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England 119,994 121,320

Loans and advances to credit institutions 6,071 7,970

Debt securities - 14,059

Derivative financial instruments 10,260 12,149

Loans and advances to customers 679,408 648,234

Other assets 808 1,070

Total statement of financial exposure (1) 816,541 804,802

Off balance sheet exposure - mortgage commitment (2) 48,935 54,560

Total 865,476 859,362
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i) Loans and advances to credit institutions, debt securities and derivative financial instruments 
The Society holds treasury financial investments in order to meet liquidity requirements and for general business purposes. The Board of 
directors has defined the Society’s risk appetite for credit risk exposure to treasury counterparties by defining within the Financial Risk 
Management Policy the permissible instruments that can be used, the minimum counterparty credit ratings required and maximum counterparty 
and sector exposure limits. Any changes in policy are submitted to the Risk Committee for consideration before recommendation to the Board 
for approval. 
 
Permissible counterparties include supranational bodies, the UK government, UK banks and building societies. The limits for all rated 
counterparty exposures are linked to Fitch credit ratings in addition to management’s own assessment. Unrated building societies are assessed 
by the Assets & Liabilities Committee (ALCO). 
 
ALCO is responsible for monitoring adherence to the relevant Financial Risk Management Policy limits, with oversight provided by the Risk 
Committee, which is responsible for the oversight and challenge of risk management across the Society. It receives an independent view of each 
risk category from the Chief Risk Officer and has access to all ALCO papers. 
 
An analysis of the Society’s treasury asset concentration is shown in the table below. 
 

 
 
An analysis of the Society’s treasury assets and derivative financial instruments by credit rating of the counterparty is analysed in the table below. 
 

 
 
All of the Society’s treasury assets and derivative financial instruments are held with counterparties that are UK-based or UK branches of overseas 
institutions. 
 
None of the Society’s treasury assets were past due or impaired at 30 November 2023 or 30 November 2022 and no impairment charges were 
required during the current or prior years. 
 

ii) Loans and advances to customers 
The Board of directors has defined the Society’s risk appetite for credit risk exposure to mortgage borrowers by defining within the Lending 
Policy the framework against which all mortgage applications are assessed in order to promote the origination of a balanced portfolio of 
mortgage assets that matches the expertise and experience of underwriters. Any changes in policy are submitted to the Risk Committee for 
consideration before recommendation to the Board for approval. The framework includes: 
 
- The setting and regular monitoring of applicable lending limits, including product, borrower and loan related limits, to avoid concentrations 

of exposures in higher risk lending categories. 
 

- The setting of full underwriting criteria for each product category, designed to ensure the affordability of mortgage repayments using an 
affordability model, the adequacy of loan security and the creditworthiness of borrowers through the use of external credit checks.  

 

- The assessment of all new mortgage applications by experienced staff who are accredited through a formal training and competence 
scheme. Mortgage applications are approved by staff with specific underwriting mandates.  

 

- The use of qualified external property surveyors, solicitors and accountants as necessary to assist the assessment of mortgage applications. 
 

- The prevention of mortgage fraud through thorough mortgage application assessment and use of external fraud prevention systems. 
 

- The pricing of all new mortgage products using a model that incorporates an expected probability of default and loss given default to ensure 
that the return received appropriately reflects the risks involved. 

 

- The use of mortgage indemnity policies to insure the Society against the risk of lending at higher Loan to Value (LTV) ratios and to provide 
specialist cover for self-build lending.

2023 2023 2022 2022

£'000 % £'000 %

Industry Sector

Banks/Building Societies 6,071 5% 21,761 15%

Central banks 119,618 95% 121,323 85%

Total 125,689 100% 143,084 100%

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4

As at 30 November 2023 Total AAA to AA- A+ to A- BBB+ to BBB- BB+ to BB-

Credit quality step £'000 % % % %

Treasury assets 125,689 99% 1% - -

Derivative financial instruments 10,260 - 100% - -

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4

As at 30 November 2022 Total AAA to AA- A+ to A- BBB+ to BBB- BB+ to BB-

Credit quality step £'000 % % % %

Treasury assets 143,084 89% 11% - -

Derivative financial instruments 12,149 - 100% - -

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2023 
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The Society has a separate Arrears Policy detailing the systems and controls relating to the processes for dealing with arrears and forbearance. 
 
Comprehensive credit risk management information is reviewed at the Credit Committee on a monthly basis and includes mortgage portfolio 
analysis, details of mortgage arrears, mortgage portfolio stress testing and lending limit monitoring. Oversight is provided by the Risk Committee, 
which is responsible for the oversight and challenge of risk management across the Society. It receives credit-related management information 
and an independent view of each risk category from the Chief Risk Officer at each meeting. 
 
Loans and advances to customers are all secured on property in England and Wales. The portfolio is made up of retail loans, split between 
residential and buy to let loans. In addition, the Society has one loan secured on commercial property. 
 
The Society’s loans and advances to customers are spread throughout the geographic regions. An analysis of the Society’s geographical 
concentration, gross of provisions, is shown in the table below. 
 

 
 
The table below shows the indexed loan to value distribution of the loan portfolio at the year-end date. 
 

 
 
The above values were calculated on a weighted average loan to value basis.  
 

Arrears analysis 
The quality of the Society’s retail mortgage book is reflected in the number and value of accounts in arrears. 
 
At the year-end, there were 28 borrowers (2022: 16 borrowers) in arrears of one month or more, representing 1.12% of balances (2022: 0.54%). 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 2023 2022 2022

£'000  % £'000  %

Geographic region

London 175,511 25.8% 151,454 23.3%

South East 154,164 22.7% 140,878 21.7%

West Midlands 68,356 10.0% 69,183 10.7%

South West 67,935 10.0% 68,555 10.6%

East Midlands 54,095 8.0% 53,677 8.3%

North West 50,356 7.4% 52,773 8.1%

Yorkshire 45,986 6.8% 48,211 7.4%

East Anglia 28,088 4.1% 27,812 4.3%

Wales 21,366 3.1% 20,891 3.2%

North 14,172 2.1% 15,200 2.3%

Total 680,029 100.0% 648,634 100.0%

2023 2022

 % %

Loan To Value analysis – residential loans

0% to less than 50% 41.4% 46.9%

50% to less than 60% 18.0% 21.4%

60% to less than 70% 16.6% 16.6%

70% to less than 80% 13.4% 9.7%

80% to less than 90% 6.4% 3.9%

90% to less than 95% 3.3% 1.0%

95% and above 0.9% 0.5%

Average loan to value of mortgage loans 53.8% 49.5%

Average loan to value of new business in the year 61.1% 60.8%
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The following table analyses the Society’s loans and advances to customers by length of time in arrears and whether or not the balances are 
impaired, with impairment defined as when a loan requires an individual impairment provision. 
 

 
 
 
Value of collateral held: 

 
 
The collateral consists of residential property, with the exception of one (2022: none) commercial property with a value of £410,000 (2022: £nil) 
which provides collateral for one (2022: none) commercial loan. Collateral values are adjusted according to the Nationwide Building Society 
house price index to derive the indexed valuation at 30 November. The price index is produced on a regional basis and is used to update the 
property values for residential mortgages on a quarterly basis. 
 
All residential mortgage advances above 80% LTV at origination are covered using mortgage indemnity insurance, such that the Society would 
be reimbursed in the event of taking possession of a property by an amount that would restore the Society to the position it would have been 
in had the advance been limited to 80% LTV. A deductible amount applies to cases originated during 2016 to 2020. 
 

Forbearance 
The Society’s forbearance strategy is set out in note 1.  
 
Customers requesting one of these forbearance options need to provide information to support the request which the Society will use to assess 
whether it is likely that the preferred arrangement will resolve the customer’s financial difficulties. 
 
Where forbearance measures are not possible or are considered not to be in the customer’s best interests, or where such measures have been 
tried and the customer has not adhered to the agreed forbearance terms, the Society will consider realising its security and taking possession of 
the property in order to sell it and clear the outstanding debt. 
 
The table below details the number of accounts subject to forbearance at the year-end. 
 

 
 
In total, 20 (2022: none) of the loans were subject to forbearance at the year-end date. An individual impairment provision of £19,000 (2022: 
none) was held against these loans.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Not impaired

Neither past due or impaired 670,439 643,284

Past due up to 3 months but not impaired 4,991 3,158

Past due 3 to 6 months but not impaired 916 -

Past due 6 to 12 months but not impaired 159 498

Past due over 12 months but not impaired - -

Possessions - -

Impaired

Not past due - -

Past due up to 3 months 1,897 1,307

Past due 3 to 6 months 394 -

Past due 6 to 12 months 340 137

Past due over 12 months 272 250

Possessions - -

Total 679,408 648,634

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Not impaired 1,797,752 1,892,253

Impaired 3,762 2,523

Total 1,801,514 1,894,776

2023 2022

Number Number

Type of forbearance

Reduced payment including interest only concessions 18 -

Term extensions 2 -

Total 20 -

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2023 
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d) Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Society does not have sufficient financial resources to meet its liabilities as they fall due or can secure them only 
at an excessive cost. The Society’s policy is to hold sufficient assets in the form of readily realisable assets in order to: 
 
- maintain liquidity resources which are adequate, both as to amount and quality, to ensure that there is no significant risk that its liabilities 

cannot be met as they fall due; 
 

- smooth out the effect of maturity mismatches between assets and liabilities; and 
 

- maintain the highest level of public confidence in the Society. 
 
The Board of directors has defined the Society’s risk appetite, policy, systems and controls relating to the management of liquidity risk in the 
Financial Risk Management Policy, detailed in the Director’s report on page 30. Any changes in policy are submitted to the Risk Committee for 
consideration before recommendation to the Board for approval. The key aspects of the control framework to mitigate liquidity risk are as 
follows: 
 
- The setting and regular monitoring of applicable liquidity limits, including those covering the amount, instrument type and maturity of 

liquidity held; 
 

- The monitoring of both short-term and long-term liquidity ratios, including the Liquidity Coverage Ratio and Net Stable Funding Ratio, to 
ensure that these are maintained above minimum levels; 

 

- The holding of a high quality Liquid Assets Buffer, including deposits with the Bank of England; 
 

- Monthly liquidity stress testing, to ensure that the level of the Liquid Assets Buffer and total liquidity held are sufficient to meet liabilities 
under severe but plausible stressed conditions; and 

 

- A documented Recovery Plan that sets out the governance processes and the options available to the Society if it experienced a liquidity 
stress event. The Plan includes a menu of possible actions depending on the severity of the liquidity event. 

 
The minimum level of the Liquid Assets Buffer is set in accordance with an Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (ILAAP) that is 
reviewed by the Risk Committee and approved by the Board on an annual basis. The ILAAP incorporates severe but plausible stress testing linked 
to the Board’s formal assessment of the liquidity risks to which the Society is exposed. 
 
The Assets & Liabilities Committee (ALCO) monitors liquidity risk on a monthly basis, including management information on liquidity and funding 
limits, Liquid Asset Buffer levels and composition, liquidity stress testing results, and liquid asset and wholesale borrowing maturity analysis. 
ALCO reports into the Risk Committee. Oversight is provided by the Risk Committee, which is responsible for the oversight and challenge of risk 
management across the Society. It receives an independent view of each risk category from the Chief Risk Officer and has access to all ALCO 
papers. 
 
The table below analyses the Society’s assets and liabilities into relevant maturity periods that reflect the residual maturity from the year-end 
date to the contractual maturity date. The actual repayment profile of loans and advances to customers is likely to be significantly shorter from 
that shown in the analysis. Conversely, retail savings deposits repayable on demand generally remain with the Society for a much longer period.  
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Balance sheet residual maturity analysis 
 

 
 

On demand

Not more 

than three 

months

More than 

three months 

but less than 

one year

More than 

one year but 

not more than 

five years

More than 

five years

No specific 

maturity Total

30 November 2023 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Assets

Liquid assets

      Cash in hand and balances with 

      the Bank of England
119,994 - - - - - 119,994

      Loans and advances to credit 

      institutions
6,071 - - - - - 6,071

Total liquid assets 126,065 - - - - - 126,065

Derivative financial instruments - 145 850 9,265 - - 10,260

Loans and advances to customers 438 4,449 14,629 96,924 563,589 (621) 679,408

Other non-financial assets - - - - - 7,647 7,647

Total assets 126,503 4,594 15,479 106,189 563,589 7,026 823,380

Liabilities

Shares 379,042 134,933 96,023 88,809 - - 698,807

Amounts owed to credit institutions - 440 - 46,000 - - 46,440

Amounts owed to other customers 7,846 11,199 285 - - - 19,330

Derivative financial instruments - - 39 576 - - 615

Other liabilities - - - - - 11,689 11,689

Reserves - - - - - 46,499 46,499

Total liabilities and reserves 386,888 146,572 96,347 135,385 - 58,188 823,380

Net liquidity gap (260,385) (141,978) (80,868) (29,196) 563,589 (51,162) -

On demand

Not more 

than three 

months

More than 

three months 

but less than 

one year

More than 

one year but 

not more than 

five years

More than 

five years

No specific 

maturity Total

30 November 2022 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Assets

Liquid assets

      Cash in hand and balances with

      the Bank of England
121,320 - - - - - 121,320

      Loans and advances to credit 

      institutions
7,970 - - - - - 7,970

      Debt securities - 6,042 8,017 - - - 14,059

Total liquid assets 129,290 6,042 8,017 - - - 143,349

Derivative financial instruments - 66 770 11,250 63 - 12,149

Loans and advances to customers 654 4,175 15,006 100,171 528,628 (400) 648,234

Other non-financial assets - - - - - 8,681 8,681

Total assets 129,944 10,283 23,793 111,421 528,691 8,281 812,413

Liabilities

Shares 372,212 135,696 66,995 80,637 - - 655,540

Amounts owed to credit institutions - 7,338 10,000 60,000 - - 77,338

Amounts owed to other customers 18,676 1,000 279 - - - 19,955

Derivative financial instruments - - - 540 196 - 736

Other liabilities - - - - - 12,603 12,603

Reserves - - - - - 46,241 46,241

Total liabilities and reserves 390,888 144,034 77,274 141,177 196 58,844 812,413

Net liquidity gap (260,944) (133,751) (53,481) (29,756) 528,495 (50,563) -

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2023 
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Analysis of gross contractual cash flows payable under financial liabilities prepared on an undiscounted basis 
 

 
 
The analysis of gross contractual cash flows differs from the analysis of residual maturity, due to the inclusion of interest accrued at current rates 
for the average period of maturity on the amounts outstanding at the Statement of Financial Position date. The contractual cash flows do not 
make allowance for any accounts that have been placed on notice of withdrawal by the customer. The impact of such notice is not material to 
the analysis. 
 

e) Market risk 
The Society’s exposure to market risk primarily arises from interest rate risk, including interest rate repricing risk and basis risk. 
 
Interest rate repricing risk is the risk of a reduction in net interest income due to mismatches between the dates on which interest receivable on 
assets and interest payable on liabilities are reset to market rates. The main cause of interest rate repricing risk is the imperfect matching of 
fixed rate mortgages and savings products. While the Society aims to match fixed rate assets with liabilities, it is not always possible to achieve 
exact matches due to the need to estimate initial customer demand for mortgage and savings products and the early repayment of mortgages. 
Interest rate derivatives are utilised to reduce mismatches where economic to do so, but remain susceptible to the early repayment of fixed rate 
products by customers. 
 
Basis risk is the risk of a reduction in net interest income due to assets and liabilities repricing according to different interest rate bases. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

On demand

Not more 

than three 

months

More than 

three months 

but less than 

one year

More than 

one year but 

not more than 

five years

More than 

five years Total

30 November 2023 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Shares 262,734 150,198 177,897 122,628 - 713,457

Amounts owed to credit institutions - - - 56,118 - 56,118

Amounts owed to other customers 7,635 11,404 295 - - 19,334

Non-derivative financial instruments 270,369 161,602 178,192 178,746 - 788,909

Derivative financial instruments - 104 303 651 - 1,058

Total financial liabilities 270,369 161,706 178,495 179,397 - 789,967

On demand

Not more 

than three 

months

More than 

three months 

but less than 

one year

More than 

one year but 

not more than 

five years

More than 

five years Total

30 November 2022 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Shares 373,344 45,306 131,760 110,342 - 660,752

Amounts owed to credit institutions - 7,101 10,139 67,799 - 85,039

Amounts owed to other customers 9,134 6,504 285 - - 15,923

Non-derivative financial instruments 382,478 58,911 142,184 178,141 - 761,714

Derivative financial instruments - 76 309 1,480 9 1,874

Total financial liabilities 382,478 58,987 142,493 179,621 9 763,588
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i) Interest rate derivatives 
The Society uses derivative financial instruments (‘derivatives’), which are contracts or agreements whose current value is related to an 
underlying price, rate or index inherent in the contract or agreement, such as interest rates. Derivatives are only used by the Society in 
accordance with the Building Societies Act 1986 (as amended by the Building Societies Acts 1997 and 2005), to reduce the risk of loss arising 
from changes in interest rates or other factors specified in the legislation. The Society does not trade in derivatives or use them for speculative 
purposes. 
 
The principal derivatives used by the Society are interest rate swaps which are used to hedge exposures arising from fixed rate mortgage and 
savings products. An interest rate swap is a contract with a counterparty based on a notional principal amount to exchange one set of interest 
rate cash flows for another for a specific duration, usually between one and five years. 
 
The following table describes the significant activities undertaken by the Society, the related risks associated with such activities and the types 
of derivatives which are typically used in managing such risks. The Society applies fair value hedging techniques to these. The fair value of these 
hedges at the year-end is shown in note 14. 
 

 
 
 

ii) Interest rate risk management 
The Board of directors has defined the Society’s risk appetite for interest rate repricing risk by including within the Financial Risk Management 
Policy a maximum limit for the impact of a 2% shift in interest rates on the economic value of the Society. In addition to the risk appetite, the 
Board has set individual and cumulative gap limits for each time period analysed. Any changes in policy are submitted to the Risk Committee for 
consideration before recommendation to the Board for approval. 
 
In order to manage interest rate repricing risk, an interest rate gap report is prepared showing how assets and liabilities reprice or mature over 
time. ALCO monitors historic and projected gap analyses and the results of stress tests assessing the impact of a shift in interest rates as a 
percentage of capital on a monthly basis in order that timely hedging actions can be taken. The stress tests include various parallel and non-
parallel interest rate shifts to ensure that a range of scenarios are modelled and considered. 
 
Exposures to different interest rate bases are monitored against Board-approved limits, and stress tests assessing the impact of a range of 
asymmetric changes in different interest rate bases are monitored. Oversight is provided by the Risk Committee, which is responsible for the 
oversight and challenge of risk management across the Society. It receives an independent view of each risk category from the Chief Risk Officer 
and has access to all ALCO papers. 
 

Market risk sensitivities 
The Society uses derivative financial instruments and exposure limits to mitigate the effect of adverse interest rate movements on net interest 
income. At 30 November 2023 the impact of a 2% parallel increase in interest rates (measured using calculated interest rate gap positions) was 
£356,000 favourable across the gap report horizon (2022: £1,023,000 adverse). At 30 November 2023 the impact of a 2% parallel decrease in 
interest rates (measured using calculated interest rate gap positions) was £356,000 adverse across the gap report horizon (2022: £1,127,000 
favourable). 
 

 

Fixed rate mortgage products Increases in interest rates Pay fixed interest rate swaps

Fixed rate savings products Decreases in interest rates Receive fixed interest rate swaps

Activity Risk Type of hedge

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2023 
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Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 
The Society has financial assets and liabilities for which there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and which may be 
settled net. However the netting arrangements do not result in an offset of balance sheet assets and liabilities for accounting purposes, as the 
right to set off is not unconditional in all circumstances. The amounts relate to derivative financial instruments and associated financial collateral, 
which consists of cash that is settled, typically daily or weekly, to mitigate movements in fair value exposures. The agreements under which the 
collateral is settled typically allow either counterparty to offset the relevant amounts if the other counterparty defaults on the terms of the 
derivative contract. 
 
The amounts for which offsetting arrangements were in place are as follows: 
 

 
 
 

29. Capital adequacy 
The objective of the Board is to maintain a strong capital base to provide protection for members, promote market confidence and support 
future growth. The Society is required to manage its capital to meet the requirements of the Capital Requirements Directive (CRD IV) and related 
requirements set by the Prudential Regulation Authority. 
 
The Society operates a formal Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) to determine and demonstrate how these requirements 
are met. As part of the ICAAP the Board has established an internal minimum capital requirement that is sufficient to support present and future 
capital requirements, withstand a severe but plausible stress and ensure the minimum regulatory requirement (Total Capital Requirement) is 
adhered to. Compliance with capital requirements is monitored monthly, the results of which are reported to the Assets & Liabilities Committee 
and the Risk Committee. The Society complied with and maintained capital above the regulatory minimums during the reporting period. 
 
Under CRD IV Pillar 3, the Society is required to publish further information regarding its capital position and exposures. The Society’s Pillar 3 
Disclosures are available on the Society’s website. 
 

Summary capital position 
 

 
 
  

2023 2022

£000 £000

Fair value of derivative financial instrument assets 10,260 12,149

Fair value of derivative financial instrument liabilities (615) (736)

Associated collateral received (9,321) (10,678)

Net financial asset amount after offsetting 324 735

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Common Equity Tier 1

Total reserves 46,499 46,241

Adjustments to regulatory capital (1,696) (1,890)

Common Equity Tier 1 44,803 44,351

Tier 2 capital

Collective provision 462 321

Total regulatory capital 45,265 44,672

Risk Weighted Assets (unaudited) 283,315 273,391

Capital ratios (unaudited)

Common Equity Tier 1 ratio 15.8% 16.2%

Total capital ratio 16.0% 16.3%

Leverage ratio 5.7% 5.9%
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30. Pension asset 
Defined benefit pension scheme 
The Society’s defined benefit pension scheme was closed to future accrual on 1 January 2010. The assets of the scheme are held separately from 
those of the Society under a Master Trust arrangement operated by TPT. 
 
Members of the scheme receive benefits based on their final salary for service to 31 May 2008 and on career average earnings while a member 
of the scheme after this date, until the closure of the scheme to future accrual on 1 January 2010. The plan also provides benefits to spouses/ 
dependants in the event of a member’s death before or after retirement. 
 
Scheme expenses will be paid by the scheme and subsequently reimbursed by the Society upon request of the Trustee. The Society expects to 
contribute approximately £94,000 to the defined benefit scheme in respect of such expenses in the next financial year. 
 
The valuation used was based on the most recent full actuarial valuation at 30 September 2022 and updated to 30 November 2023 by a qualified 
independent actuary to take account of the actuarial method and assumptions required by Section 28 of FRS 102. 
 

 
 
The directors’ judgement is that the Society has the right to a surplus on winding up the scheme at the end of its life. As a result, the surplus at 
the current and prior year-ends has been recognised on the Society’s Statement of Financial Position. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Present value of funded obligations (18,305) (20,522)

Fair value of plan assets 18,855 22,391

550 1,869

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are:

Total surplus recognised

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Expected return on plan assets 982 556

Interest cost (899) (482)

Expenses (94) (81)

(11) (7)

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Actuarial losses on plan assets (3,596) (12,021)

Actuarial gains on obligations 2,210 9,246

Total loss recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (1,386) (2,775)

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

20,522 30,209

Interest cost 899 482

Actuarial gains on obligation (2,210) (9,247)

Benefits paid (906) (922)

18,305 20,522Closing defined benefit obligation at 30 November

Opening defined benefit obligation at 1 December

Total expense recognised in the Income Statement

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2023 
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At the current and prior year-ends, the impact of GMP equalisation was included in the calculation of the defined benefit pension obligation. 
 

 
 
The Society updated its approach to setting RPI and CPI inflation assumptions in the prior year, in light of the RPI reform proposals published on 
4 September 2019 by the UK Chancellor and UK Statistics Authority. 
 
The Society continued to set RPI inflation in line with the market break-even expectations less an inflation risk premium. The inflation risk 
premium has been set at 0.3% at the year-end (2022: 0.3%). For CPI, the assumed difference between the RPI and CPI was 0.65% (2022: 0.58%). 
 

Defined contribution pension scheme 
From 1 January 2010, employees have had the opportunity to participate in a stakeholder scheme to which the Society contributes a defined 
percentage of salary. The employer pension cost for the current year, excluding employee contributions paid by salary sacrifice, was £337,000 
(2022: £271,000) and were no outstanding or prepaid contributions at 30 November 2023 (2022: £nil).

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

22,391 34,781

Expected return on plan assets 982 556

Actuarial losses on assets (3,596) (12,021)

Scheme expenses (94) (81)

Contributions to expenses paid by the employer 78 78

Benefits paid (906) (922)

18,855 22,391

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Equity 27 -

Bonds 4,343 3,412

Property 2,290 3,092

Cash 636 49

Other 2,479 5,487

Liability-driven investments 9,080 10,351

18,855 22,391

2023 2022

£’000 £’000

Expected return on plan assets 982 556

Actuarial losses on assets (3,596) (12,021)

(2,614) (11,465)Total return on plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at 30 November

Total fair value of plan assets at 30 November

Fair value of plan assets at 1 December

2023 2022
£’000 £’000

Discount rate 5.29% 4.48%

Rate of future inflation - RPI (% pa) 3.20% 3.01%

Rate of future inflation - CPI (% pa) 2.55% 2.43%

Rate of increase (% pa) in future pensions in payment, split:

- Inflation linked (RPI), with a maximum of 5.0% pa and a minimum of 3.0% pa 3.67% 3.60%

- Inflation linked (RPI), with a maximum of 2.5% pa 2.10% 2.04%

The mortality assumptions used were as follows: 

- Actuarial tables used S3PXA S3PXA

- Loading on base tables 100% 99%

- Improvement rate for Males / Females CMI 2022 1.5% / 1.25% CMI 2021 1.25% / 1.00%

Life expectancy from age 65 of:

- Male / Female pensioner currently aged 65 at year-end date 21.8 / 24.1 22.2 / 24.3

- Male / Female non-pensioner currently aged 45 at year-end date 23.4 / 25.5 23.5 / 25.5

75% 75%

Principal actuarial assumptions as at the Statement of Financial Position date:

Allowance for members to commute pension for tax-free cash
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31. Leases 
The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for each of the following periods were: 
 

 
 
The Society has no other off balance sheet arrangements. 
 

32. Country-by-country reporting 
The regulations under Article 89 of the CRD IV require the Society to disclose the following information about the source of the Society’s income 
and the location of its operations: 
 
- Name, nature of activities and geographical location: The Society has one dormant subsidiary and operates only in the United Kingdom. The 

principal activities of the Society are noted in the Directors’ report on pages 29 to 32. 
 

- Average number of employees: as disclosed in note 8 to the accounts. 
 

- Annual turnover: equivalent to total income and along with profit before tax is as disclosed in the Income Statement on page 40. 
 

- Corporation tax paid: £130,000 was paid in the current year in respect of the year ended 30 November 2022. No tax was paid in the prior 
year in respect of the year ended 30 November 2021.  

 

- Public subsidies: there were none received in the year. 

 
 
 

  

2023 2023 2022 2022

Land and 

buildings

Fixtures and 

fittings

Land and 

buildings

Fixtures and 

fittings

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Payment due

(i) less than 1 year 65 4 65 4

(ii) within 2 - 5 years 144 1 178 1

(iii) after 5 years 1,076 - 1,104 -

1,285 5 1,347 5

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2023 
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1. Statutory percentages 
 

 
 
The above percentages have been calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Building Societies Act 1986 as amended by the Building 
Societies Act 1997. 
 
The Lending limit measures the proportion of business assets not in the form of loans fully secured on residential property. 
 
Business assets comprise the total assets of the Society plus impairment provisions less liquid assets and tangible and intangible fixed assets as 
shown in the Society’s accounts. 
 
The Funding limit measures the proportion of shares and borrowings not in the form of shares held by individuals. 
 
The statutory limits are as laid down under the Building Societies Act 1986 as amended by the Building Societies Act 1997 and ensure that the 
principal purpose of a building society is that of making loans which are secured on residential property and are funded substantially by 
its members. 
 

2. Other percentages 
 

 
 
The above percentages have been prepared from the Society’s accounts and in particular: 
 

• ‘Shares and borrowings’ represent the total of shares, amounts owed to credit institutions and amounts owed to other customers. 
 

• ‘Gross capital’ represents the general reserve and the available for sale reserve. 
 

• ‘Free capital’ represents the aggregate of gross capital and collective impairment provisions less tangible and intangible fixed assets. 
 

• ‘Liquid assets’ represent the total of cash in hand, loans and advances to credit institutions, debt securities and other liquid assets. 
 

• ‘Mean total assets’ represent the amount produced by halving the aggregate of total assets at the beginning and end of the financial year. 
 

• ’Management expenses’ represent the aggregate of administrative expenses (including pension costs), depreciation and amortisation.  

2023 2022

Statutory 

Limit

% % %

Lending limit 1.8 2.3 25.0

Funding limit 8.6 12.9 50.0

2023 2022

% %

As percentage of shares and borrowings:

Gross capital 6.1 6.1

Free capital 5.3 5.4

Liquid assets 16.5 19.0

Profit for the financial year as a percentage of mean total assets 0.15 0.13

1.43 1.34Management expenses as a percentage of mean total assets

Annual Business Statement 
For the year ended 30 November 2023 
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3. Information relating to directors and other officers at the year-end 
 

 
 
Documents may be served on any of the directors marked ‘Private and Confidential’ and c/o Mazars, 30 Old Bailey, London EC4M 7AU. 
 
Colin Fyfe, Barry Carter, Rebecca Griffin and John Mulvey are employed on open-ended service contracts which were entered into on 11 
September 2018 (effective from 1 November 2018), 24 March 2023 (effective 1 July 2022), 1 July 2022 (effective 1 July 2022) and 17 April 2020 
(effective from 30 March 2020) respectively. In each case the director is entitled to twelve months’ notice of termination from the Society. Barry 
Carter, Rebecca Griffin and John Mulvey are required to give six months’ notice of an intention to resign, and Colin Fyfe is required to give twelve 
months’ notice of an intention to resign. 
 

 
  

Name Year of birth

Date of 

appointment Occupation Other directorships/positions

Colin Franklin (Chair) 1955 24.06.15

Barry Carter 1979 01.07.22

Lynda Blackwell 1960 29.03.23

Colin Fyfe 1967 01.11.18

Rebecca Griffin 1983 01.07.22

John Lowe 1972 01.12.22

John Mulvey 1975 01.04.20

Barbara Taeed 1966 22.03.17

Gary Wilkinson 1961 22.12.14

Nemone Wynn-Evans 1974 22.03.17

Good Energy Group PLC

The Income & Growth VCT PLC

Ahead Partnership (Holdings) Limited

Rural Community Council (Leicestershire and Rutland)

Acorn (Leicester) Limited

Clockwise Credit Union

Company Director

Company Director

SORBUS Partners LLP

Building Society Executive Hinckley Ladies Circle

Building Society Executive

Company Director

Retired Bank Executive

Street (UK) Homes Limited

ThistleDhu Consulting Limited

Uinsure Ltd

Redwood Bank Limited

Street (UK) Services Limited

Centre for Citizenship Enterprise and Governance Limited

Rothbadi Holdings Limited

Milton Keynes Women's Aid

Street (UK) C.I.C. Limited

Molo Tech Limited

Shepherds Friendly Society

Building Society Executive

First Complete Limited

Hinckley Town Centre Partnership Limited

Hinckley and Rugby Financial Services Limited 

Company Director

Hinckley and Rugby Financial Services Limited 

Ahead Partnership Limited

Hinckley and Rugby Financial Services Limited 

Directors

Retired Building Society Executive

Personal Touch Financial Services Limited

Advance Mortgage Funding Limited

Redwood Bank Limited

17 The Esplanade Management Company Limited 

Building Society Executive

Name Occupation Other directorships/positions

Niki Barker Chief People Officer None

Andrea Belle Director of Branches, Agencies and Savings None

Sarah Johnson Director of Lending

Cheryl Pidler Director of Operations George Business Solutions Ltd

Michael Sharpe Director of Information Services None

Grace Tavener Company Secretary

Carolyn Thornley-Yates Director of Mortgage Proposition and Distribution

Secretary, Hinckley And Rugby Financial Services Limited

Intermediary Mortgage Lender's Association

Other Officers

Director, Emmaus Leicestershire and Rutland
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